
 

1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872452 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

7 January 2022 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the CABINET will be held at these offices 
(Council Chamber) on Monday 17 January 2022 at 11.00 am when the following business 
will be transacted.   
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-
Smith, Democratic Services Officer on (01304) 872303 or by e-mail at 
democraticservices@dover.gov.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive  
 

Cabinet Membership: 
 
T J Bartlett Leader of the Council 
M Bates Portfolio Holder for Transport, Licensing and Regulatory 

Services 
N S Kenton Portfolio Holder for Planning and Environment 
D P Murphy Portfolio Holder for Social Housing and Port Health 
O C de R Richardson Deputy Leader of the Council & Portfolio Holder for 

Community and Corporate Property 
C A Vinson Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance, Digital and 

Climate Change 

 
AGENDA 
 

1    APOLOGIES   
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Page 4) 
 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda.  

Public Document Pack



 

2 

 

3    RECORD OF DECISIONS (Pages 5-14) 
 

 The decisions of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 December 2021, numbered 
CAB 57 to CAB 68 (inclusive), are attached. 
 

 ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY OR OTHER 
COMMITTEES   
 

 To consider any issues arising from Overview and Scrutiny or other Committees not 
specifically detailed elsewhere on the agenda. 
 

 

EXECUTIVE - KEY DECISIONS  

4    FEES AND CHARGES 2022/2023 (Pages 15-81) 
 

 To consider the attached report of the Strategic Director (Corporate Resources). 
 
Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance, Digital and Climate 
Change 
 

5    HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 2022-2027 
(Pages 82-198) 
 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Regulatory Services. 
 
Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services 
 

6    EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC (Page 199) 
 

 The recommendation is attached. 
 
MATTERS WHICH THE MANAGEMENT TEAM SUGGESTS SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE AS THE REPORT CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION AS DEFINED WITHIN PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS INDICATED AND IN RESPECT OF WHICH 
THE PROPER OFFICER CONSIDERS THAT THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
MAINTAINING THE EXEMPTION OUTWEIGHS THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
DISCLOSING THE INFORMATION 
 

 

EXECUTIVE - KEY DECISIONS  

7    AWARD OF 3-YEAR CONTRACT FOR CLEANING OF DOVER DISTRICT 
COUNCIL'S OFFICES, WHITFIELD (Pages 200-203) 
 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Assets and Building Control. 
 
Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Community and Corporate Property 
 

8    AWARD OF 3-YEAR CONTRACT FOR CLEANING AND ROUTINE 
MAINTENANCE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCES AND LOCKING/UNLOCKING OF 
OTHER COUNCIL ASSETS (Pages 204-208) 
 



 

3 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Assets and Building Control. 
 
Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Community and Corporate Property 
 

 

Access to Meetings and Information 
 

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information. 

 

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is step free access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and an accessible toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber. 

 

 In order to facilitate the broadcast of meetings there have been cameras set up in the 
Council Chamber that communicate with Microsoft Teams Live. This enables 
meetings held in the Council Chamber to be broadcast for public viewing through the 
Council’s website. These meetings are only available for viewing live and the Council 
does not retain copies of the broadcast.  
 
The meetings in which these cameras will be used include meetings of: (a) Council; 
(b) Cabinet; (c) General Purposes Committee; (d) Governance Committee; (e) 
Planning Committee; and (f) Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes will be published on our website as soon as 
practicably possible after each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are 
available for public inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.   

 

 Members of the Council may receive confidential information relating to personal 
data as part of an item of an exempt or confidential business on the agenda. It is 
each Member’s responsibility to ensure that this information is handled securely and 
confidentially as required under data protection legislation. This information must only 
be retained for as long as necessary and when no longer required disposed of via a 
shredder or the Council’s secure disposal arrangements.  
 
For further information about how this information should be processed, please view 
the Council’s Data Protection Policy and Appropriate Policy Document at 
www.dover.gov.uk/Corporate-Information/PDF/Data-Protection-Policy.pdf  

 

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Kate Batty-Smith, 
Democratic Services Officer, democraticservices@dover.gov.uk, telephone: (01304) 
872303 or email: democraticservices@dover.gov.uk for details. 

 

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request. 

http://www.dover.gov.uk/Corporate-Information/PDF/Data-Protection-Policy.pdf


Declarations of Interest 

 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting. 

Other Significant Interest (OSI) 

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules. 

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI) 

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration. 

Note to the Code:  

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI. 

4

Agenda Item No 2



 Record of the decisions of the meeting of the CABINET held at the Council Offices, 
Whitfield on Monday, 6 December 2021 at 11.00 am. 

 
Present: 
 
Chairman: Councillor T J Bartlett 

 
Councillors:  
 

M Bates 
N S Kenton 
O C de R Richardson 
C A Vinson 
 

Also Present: Councillor E A Biggs 
Councillor D R Friend 
Councillor K Mills 
Councillor C D Zosseder  
 

Officers: Chief Executive 
Strategic Director (Corporate Resources) 
Strategic Director (Operations and Commercial) 
Head of Commercial Services 
Head of Governance and HR 
Head of Investment, Growth and Tourism 
Strategic Delivery Manager (Infrastructure) 
Project Manager 
PR and Marketing Officer 
Democratic Services Officer 
 

 
 
 The formal decisions of the executive are detailed in the following schedule. 
 

Public Document Pack

5

Agenda Item No 3



 

 

Record of Decisions: Executive Functions 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 57  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

APOLOGIES 
 
There were no apologies for absence.  
 
 
 

None. To note any 
apologies for 
absence. 
 

 

 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 58  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 

None. To note any 
declarations of 
interest.  
 

 

 

6



 

 

14 December 
2021 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 59  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 
It was agreed that the decisions of the meeting held on 1 November 
2021, as detailed in decision numbers CAB 48 to CAB 56, be approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 

None. Cabinet is required 
to approve the 
Record of 
Decisions of the 
Cabinet meeting 
held on 1 
November 2021. 
 

 

 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 60  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
Yes 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 

ECONOMIC GROWTH STRATEGY 
 
It was agreed: 
 

(a) That the Economic Growth Strategy be adopted. 
 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Strategic Director (Operations 
and Commercial), in consultation with the Head of Investment, 
Growth and Tourism and the Leader of the Council, to further 
amend, edit and adapt the Economic Growth Strategy in the 
future in response to subsequent review, opportunity and 
consultation, as required.  

None. Economic growth, 
investment and 
tourism are of 
strategic 
importance to 
Dover district.  The 
new strategy will 
inform and support 
the Council’s 
corporate 
objectives, policies 
and ambitions and 

 

 

7



 

 

14 December 
2021 
 

 
 
 

provide an 
evidence base for 
the emerging Local 
Plan. 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 61  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
Yes 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

CABLE CAR PROJECT UPDATE 
 
It was agreed: 
 

(a) That the Cable Car Project should not be proceeded with. 
 

(b) That the residual funds earmarked for the project be included in 
the Council’s 2022/23 budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan 
as funding for projects associated with the wider regeneration of 
Dover. 

 
 
 

None.  Following the 
withdrawal of 
support from 
English Heritage, it 
is recommended 
that proposals for a 
cable car linking 
Dover Castle to 
Dover town centre 
should not be 
progressed. 

 

 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 62  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
Yes 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT WITH TAYLOR WIMPEY UK LTD IN 
RELATION TO THE BACKDOOR TRAINING AREA, SHORNCLIFFE 
 
It was agreed that the Council should enter into a 10-year management 
agreement with Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd in respect of the Backdoor 
Training Area, Shorncliffe. 
 
 
 

None. Following an 
approach from 
Taylor Wimpey UK 
Ltd, Cabinet is 
requested to agree 
to enter into a ten-
year agreement to 
manage the 
Backdoor Training 

 

 

8



 

 

 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

Area, a 34-hectare 
area of semi-
natural habitat in 
the Seabrook 
Valley, Folkestone. 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 63  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT - QUARTER TWO REPORT 2021/22 
 
It was agreed that the report be received.  
 
 
 

None.  In order to comply 
with CIPFA’s 
(Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance 
and Accountancy) 
Code of Practice 
for Treasury 
Management, 
Cabinet is updated 
on the Council’s 
treasury 
management 
activities (i.e. in-
house and 
externally managed 
investments) at 
least twice yearly. 
The report provides 
Cabinet with details 
of activities for the 
quarter ending 30 
September 2021. 
 

 

 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 
Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 

9



 

 

consultees (if any) 

CAB 64  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

PERFORMANCE REPORT - SECOND QUARTER 2021/22 
 
It was agreed that the Council’s Performance Report and Actions for the 
Second Quarter 2021/22 be noted. 
 
 
 

None.  Monitoring the 
Council’s 
performance 
against key 
objectives is 
essential to the 
achievement of 
those aims and 
objectives. The 
Performance 
Report provides a 
summary of the 
Council’s 
performance for the 
three months to 30 
September 2021.  
 

 

 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 65  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

APPOINTMENT OF SANDWICH PORT AND HAVEN 
COMMISSIONERS 
 
It was agreed: 
 

(a) That a Selection Panel be established, comprising the Portfolio 
Holder for Community and Corporate Property, a member of the 
Corporate Management Team and the Chairman of the Sandwich 
Port and Haven Commission, to interview applicants for the 
independent member positions, and make recommendations for 
appointment. 

 
(b) That Mr James Blackmore be re-appointed to serve on the 

Sandwich Port and Haven Commission (as a DDC-appointed 

(a) To appoint 
two District 
Councillors as 
commissioners. 
 
(b) Not to 
reappoint Mr 
James Blackmore 
as a DDC-
appointed 
commissioner or 
to defer the 
appointment of 
the second DDC-

Using powers 
derived from the 
Sandwich Port and 
Haven Dover 
District Council is 
responsible for 
appointing eight 
commissioners to 
the Sandwich Port 
and Haven 
Commission.  Six 
of the eight 
commissioner 
positions are due to 

 

 

10



 

 

commissioner) for a term of three years with effect from 21 
February 2022. 
 

(c) That the second DDC-appointed commissioner position be 
deferred until the open recruitment process for the independent 
commissioner positions has been completed in case a suitable 
candidate is identified through that exercise, and the Leader of 
the Council be requested to make the appointment. 
 

(d) That the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Community and Corporate Property, be authorised to make 
the final appointments for the independent member positions on 
the Sandwich Port and Haven Commission, having given 
consideration to the recommendations of the Selection Panel.   
 

 
 
 

appointed 
commissioner 
until the open 
recruitment 
process has been 
completed.    

expire in February 
2022 and Cabinet 
is therefore 
requested to 
approve the 
recruitment 
process for the four 
independent 
commissioners, 
and to decide who 
to appoint to fill the 
two DDC-appointed 
commissioner 
positions.   
 
Mr James 
Blackmore has 
been re-appointed 
for a fifth term due 
to his extensive 
experience and 
knowledge of the 
Sandwich Port and 
Haven. 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 66  
6.12.21 
Open 
 
Key Decisions 
No  
 

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
That, in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2000, the press and the public be excluded during consideration of the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 

None.   
 

 

 

11



 

 

Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
Immediate 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 67  
6.12.21 
Exempt 
 
Key Decisions 
Yes 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

DOVER FASTRACK PROJECT UPDATE 
 
It was agreed: 
 

(a) That the project update be noted, and that the project be 
proceeded with, subject to the agreement of each of the following 
matters. 

 
(b) That powers be delegated to the Strategic Director (Operations 

and Commercial), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services, to enter into a 
deed of variation to the funding agreement with Homes England, 
such that the Council becomes responsible for ensuring that a 
bus route can operate from Archers Court Road in Whitfield 
through to Dover Road, south of Guston, in exchange for 
increased grant funding of up to £22.9 million.  
 

(c) That the second tranche of funding should begin to be drawn 
down, noting that, should the project fail, the Council will be 
required to reimburse Homes England for any expenditure from 
the second tranche and that the Council will be responsible for 
meeting any overspend beyond the budget agreed with Homes 
England. 
 

(d) That the acceptance of £3 million towards the project from the 
Department for Transport via Kent County Council be approved. 

None.  Cabinet is 
requested to agree 
that the Dover 
Fastrack project be 
progressed, 
including funding 
arrangements and 
the appointment of 
a contractor.  The 
project will see the 
development of a 
rapid bus 
connection 
between Whitfield, 
Dover town centre 
and Dover Priory 
railway station to 
support housing 
developments at 
Whitfield and the 
former Connaught 
Barracks.    
 

 

 

12



 

 

 
(e) That powers be delegated to the Strategic Director (Operations 

and Commercial), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services, to enter into an 
infrastructure delivery agreement with Kent County Council. 
 

(f) That powers be delegated to the Strategic Director (Operations 
and Commercial), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services, to instruct Kent 
County Council to appoint the preferred contractor.  
 

(g) That the ownership of necessary land transferred from the 
Department for Transport at a cost of £1 plus Stamp Duty Land 
Tax (funded by the project budget) be accepted.  
 

(h) That the Council’s option at the ‘Triangle’ be exercised, at a cost 
of £853,556 excluding the deposit already paid and including 
Stamp Duty Land Tax (funded by the project budget). 
 

(i) That powers be delegated to the Strategic Director (Operations 
and Commercial), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services, to instruct Kent 
County Council to continue preparing for the possible compulsory 
purchase of necessary land at Whitfield Phase 1 in parallel with 
seeking voluntary acquisition.   

 
 
 

Decision Status Record of Decision 
Alternative options 

considered and 
rejected (if any) 

Reasons for Decision 

Conflicts of interest 
(if any) declared by 

decision maker(s) or 
consultees (if any) 

CAB 68  
6.12.21 
Exempt 
 

AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR SANDWICH GUILDHALL SQUARE 
WORKS 
 
It was agreed that the Strategic Director (Operations and Commercial) be 

None. Cabinet is 
requested to agree 
that the main works 
to the Guildhall 

 

 

13



 

 

Key Decisions 
Yes 
 
Call-in to apply 
Yes 
 
Implementation 
Date 
14 December 
2021 

authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Community and 
Corporate Property, to award the contract for the main works element of 
the project following the final assessment of the tenders.   
 
 
 

Forecourt in 
Sandwich be 
progressed by 
authorising the 
award of the 
contract.   The 
£1.05 million 
project will deliver 
improvements to 
surfacing, 
accessibility, layout 
and street furniture.  
 

 
The meeting ended at 11.42 am. 

14



  
 
 

Subject: FEES AND CHARGES 2022/23 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 17 January 2022 

Report of: Mike Davis, Strategic Director (Corporate Resources) 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Chris Vinson, Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Governance, Digital and Climate Change 

Decision Type: Key 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Purpose of the report: This report has been prepared in order to obtain formal approval for 
the levels of fees and charges (F&Cs) for the financial year 2022/23.  
These F&Cs have been included in the preparatory work on the draft 
budget for 2022/23 and require approval. 

Recommendations: It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves the Fees and Charges (F&Cs) for 2022/23 as set out 
in Appendices 2.1 to 2.14, and 5.1 (with the exception of the S106 
Monitoring Fee which has been approved by the Planning 
Committee) and 5.3.1 

 
2. Approves the general principle that fees are set at an appropriate 

inclusive level, irrespective of VAT status, and that the VAT 
element within the overall fee level is then determined. 

 
3. Agrees that any F&Cs will be adjusted by Strategic Directors, in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holders, to comply with any 
subsequently received government guidelines (when they are 
received) and any other minor changes made without being the 
subject of a further report unless they are materially different from 
current charges or have a material impact on the level of income. 

 
4. Notes the F&Cs approved separately by the Licensing and 

Regulatory Committees, as set out in Appendices 3 and 4. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 The Council's Constitution specifies that F&Cs shall be reviewed annually.  In order to 
meet this requirement the Strategic Directors have been asked to review the F&Cs 
within their areas of responsibility (see checklist of issues to consider – Appendix 1) 
and to produce recommended levels for 2022/23.  The fees and charges are tabulated 
in the further Appendices for consideration and/or approval by Members. 

2. Introduction and Background 

2.1 The level of Member approval required is dependent upon the types of F&Cs raised.  
In order to obtain appropriate approval the following reports have been prepared: 

                                                
1 Appendices 5.1 & 5.2 have been reviewed & noted by the Planning Committee which also approved 
the s.106 Monitoring Fee.   

15

Agenda Item No 4



 
 
 

 Licensing Committee  

Report to the meeting on 20 October 2021 of all F&Cs to be set by the Licensing 
Committee. 

 Regulatory Committee  

Report to the meeting on 7 December 2021 of all F&Cs to be set by the 
Regulatory Committee. 

 Planning Committee  

Report (for information) to the meeting on 9 December 2021 of all F&Cs 
relevant to the Planning Committee. 

 Cabinet  

Report to the meeting on 17 January 2022 of all F&Cs, but seeking specific 
approval of those F&Cs set by Cabinet. 

2.2 Members are reminded that a framework of broad guidelines to be considered in 
formulating proposals for F&Cs is in place. This includes a checklist which has been 
circulated to all Service Directors and to all officers considering F&Cs so that a rigorous 
and consistent approach is taken. A copy is attached at Appendix 1. 

2.3 As in previous years, in order to assist Members, the data on F&Cs has been tabulated 
into a standard format that has been used for Appendices 2 to 5. 

2.4 The main points to note are set out below. 

Detail and Narrative 
 
These give a brief summary of the type of service being provided. 
 
Set by Government 
 
This indicates whether a charge is statutory or not. If a charge is statutory then it is 
effectively set by Government and although formal Member approval is still sought, 
there is little or no scope to make changes. 
 
2021/22 Charge Inc VAT 
 
The charge has been provided inclusive of VAT for two reasons. First, it shows what 
the customer will actually pay and is therefore more meaningful. 
 
Second, charges for some services, car parking for example, which are not simply a 
direct recovery of costs, are set at a level, inclusive of VAT, having regard to relevant 
considerations including market level, where appropriate. The VAT is therefore a 
deduction from the amount of charge retained by DDC and is not a key factor in 
determining the appropriate charge. Members are asked to approve this approach. 

 
2022/23 Proposed Charge Inc VAT  
 
This is the recommended charge for 2022/23 and the estimated income will, subject to 
Members’ approval, be included in the 2022/23 budget. 
 
2022/23 Total Expected Income ex VAT 
 

This gives a broad indication as to how much income DDC is expected to receive and 
has been included to provide Members with a sense of the relative importance of 
individual charges or group of similar charges. The more significant income streams 
(generating over £3k) have been highlighted in bold type. 

16



 
 
 

In some cases, the level of use is very low, or infrequent, or the service has only 
recently been introduced and so no level of income has been included. 

Comments 
 
This provides Members with a brief explanation for the change.  In some instances 
guidance is still awaited from Government as to the basis upon which F&Cs should be 
set. In these cases it has not always been possible to confirm a fee level, Members’ 
approval is sought to enable officers to adopt such fees at or close to government 
directed levels without a further report. 

3. New and Amended Fees and Charges  

3.1 While most of the fees and charges remain consistent to prior years, the following new 
charges and significant changes have been introduced. The following key has been 
used in the appendices; 

- Green  – This is a new fee and/or charge to be approved 
- Yellow – This identifies a fee change greater than 5%  
- Red     – This identifies the proposal to remove a fee and/or charge 

Port Health 

3.2 Dover District Council is the Port Health Authority (DPHA) responsible for imported 
food controls on food that arrives in the UK via the Port of Dover.  The Port Health & 
Public Protection Department are responsible for imported food controls which are 
referred to as Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) checks.   

3.3 As a consequence of the UK voting to leave the EU in 2016, UK Port Health Authorities 
will be responsible from 1st July, for conducting imported food controls on numerous 
food stuffs arriving via the EU and Rest of World (RoW). This will see a significant 
increase in Port Health activities across the UK, but for Dover, the increase in SPS 
checks required, will see it become the biggest Port Health Authority in the UK, with 
Defra estimating a minimum of 266,567 consignments requiring documentary checks 
each year.  

3.4 In light of this, the Government, via Defra, have funded start-up costs for the expanded 
service, which once fully operational, will be able to charge fees for each check it 
conducts. This will then enable the service to be self-financing. 

3.5 However, until the service is fully operational and the trade has settled, it is very difficult 
to accurately assess the number of checks that will be required and total income that 
can be expected. With this in mind, we have worked on the following assumptions for 
the 2022/2023 Fees & Charges: 

a) The service will (currently) commence in phases from the 1st July 2022, 
increasing to full inspection capacity on 1st November 2022.  
 

b) The target check is 266,567 or monthly checks of 22,214 giving the estimated 
total volume of 155,497 checks to be conducted for the 9-month period.  
 

c) Staff are in posts and will be conducting 100% checks from 1st November up to 
March 2023. 
 

d) The fee of £56 for each Product of Animal Origin (POAO) - CHED P 
(Documentary Check, ID, Physical Exam, Sampling Visit) for up to 6 tonnes per 
consignment. 
 

e) We are not expecting consignments greater than 6 tonnes. 

3.6 Based on the above assumptions, we are projecting an income of £8.7m from POAO 
– CHED-P at £56 each for 155,497 checks from July 2022 to March 2023.  Additional 
estimated fees/charges £33,350 for possible 100 instances of Late-Notification/Non-
Compliance Fee/Supervising Destruction/Re-export fee. 

17



 
 
 

Green Waste  

3.7 Appendix 2.7, lines 205-206 include the standard green waste collection service fee 
for new customers and also recognises the impact on the green waste collection 
service in 2021, providing a reduction in the annual subscription for returning 
customers for 2022/23.   

Kearsney Café  

3.8 New fees proposed under appendix 2.6, lines 165-167, for rental of the billiards room 
at Kearsney Café. 

Self-Build Register  

3.9 New fees proposed under appendix 2.13, lines 267-268.  

3.10 Cost recovery charges for verification of applications to the self-build register, checking 
of annual renewals and the provision of a web portal.   

Private Sector Housing (PSH) 

3.11 New fees proposed under appendix 2.14, lines 286-29.   

3.12 To cover the cost of non-statutory work, at the request of owners of property who 
require advice and an inspection regarding the requirements of HMO licencing. The 
information is freely available on-line, but a charge will be made where an 
owner/manager requires an inspection or advice before an application is made.   

3.13 Details of financial penalties relating to Private Sector lettings in line with the PSH 
enforcement policy and other statutory requirements (smoke alarms, carbon monoxide 
monitors, EPCs, etc.). 

Land Charges  

3.14 Amended fees proposed under appendix 2.11, lines 227-56.   

3.15 The land charges were due for a review which occur each three years. They have been 

amended to reflect the cost of the service and as a result reflects similar fees and 

charges set by other authorities. 

Foreshores 

3.16 Historically DDC have managed requests to film on land it owns and have charged a 
flat fee for doing so, which is reviewed annually. Virtually all requests are received via 
KCC’s Kent Film Unit, who promote Kent to the film and television industries. The Kent 
Film Unit, who already manage requests for a number of Kent districts including 
Canterbury and Thanet, approached DDC with a similar offer. They would manage the 
requests in exchange for a 10% management fee. The Kent Film unit have expertise 
in negotiating favourable deals for large productions, thus increasing overall income to 
DDC, whilst also providing discounts or waiving fees where appropriate. This 
arrangement would simplify the customer experience, making it more likely that Dover 
is chosen as a location. The new arrangements will commence on 1st April 2022.  

4. Other Fees and Charges 

The following F&Cs are not included in this report. 

4.1 Housing Rents and Service Charges 

Housing rents are approved by the Strategic Director (Corporate Resources) under 
delegated authority.  They are largely prescribed by government and the Council has 
no real scope to determine rent levels. 

Service charges (for both tenants and long term lease holders) are determined through 
statutorily prescribed consultation processes and the recovery of all allowable costs.  
As a result the Council has no real scope to determine service charges. 

4.2 Car Parking 

18



 
 
 

Car parking fees are the subject of specific reports from the Strategic Director 
(Operations and Commercial) 

5. Identification of Options 

5.1 The recommended figures for consideration by Members are included in the 
Appendices.  Members may approve these proposed figures. 

5.2 Members may propose and approve alternative figures with reasons recorded for their 
decisions. 

5.3 Those fees already approved by Licensing and Regulatory Committees are for 
information only. 

6. Evaluation of Options 

6.1 The recommended fees and charges take into account the need to maximise income 
at a time of challenging budget positions, whilst also considering comparable charges 
at neighbouring authorities and what the market can bear. 

6.2 Members should also take into account the checklist of issues to consider (at 
Appendix 1) when reviewing the fees and charges included in the subsequent 
Appendices 

7. Resource Implications 

7.1       See Appendices. 

8. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

8.1 Fees and Charges do not have any direct climate change and environmental 
implications.  

9. Corporate Implications 

9.1 Comment from the Strategic Director (Corporate Resources), linked to the MTFP: 
Finance have been involved in the production of this report and have nothing further 
to add. (AT) 

9.2 Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Solicitor to the Council has been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and has no further comments to make. 

9.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer: This report does not specifically highlight any 
equality implications, however in discharging their duties members are required to 
comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149    

10. Appendices 

Appendix 1    – F&C checklist 

Appendices 2.1 – 2.14 – F&C for which Cabinet approval is sought 

Appendix 3   – F&C to be approved by Licensing Committee 

Appendices 4.1 -4.2  – F&C to be approved by Regulatory Committee 

Appendices 5.1 – 5.3  – Planning application fees 

 
 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Helen Lamb, Head of Finance and Investment, ext.42063 

19

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15%2Fsection%2F149&data=04%7C01%7CAiden.Tanton%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7C8f4518bd956941ccf4ee08d9bee77483%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637750723574479693%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=V8Dy0u4laz4gKFiNBsVgrie%2FGRvGaAhR9jx3z%2Bkg318%3D&reserved=0


APPENDIX 1

Fees and Charges Checklist

Corporate and Service Objectives
Are links made between charges and our corporate and service objectives and are we able to use
charges to help deliver these objectives?

Users of the Service
Is there sufficient understanding of our service users and their needs and wishes?

Have we considered different pricing to specific target groups and has the potential impact of charges
or the changes to existing charges been assessed?

Ensure that you consider the potential diversity and equality issues and where necessary consider and
document any issues and mitigation.

Ensure that you consider the potential climate change and environmental issues and where necessary
consider and document any issues and mitigation.

Comparison with other providers
Is there a complete picture of competition and providers of similar services – including other Local
Authorities?

Consultation
Has the relevant Portfolio holder been consulted and do charges meet with their aspirations and
requirements?

Is wider community consultation appropriate for any of your charges? Has it been undertaken?

Performance Management
Are the principles for charges clearly defined and are clear targets set and monitored. Do we have a
clear picture of what is a success?

Financial Considerations
Is the charge at a level to fully recover all costs or if is subsidised - why?

Have we considered all services for which we can / should charge a fee?

Are there any fees that we charge, that have not been included in the schedule?

Are we being radical in our approach to charging and are our charges cost effective?

Corporate Income Policy
Please ensure you adhere to the main principals of the Corporate Income Policy when setting your
fees and charges.

Legal Considerations and Other Guidance
Does the Council have the power to levy the charges. Is there any ministerial or other guidance that
should be taken into account?

Customer Access Review
Consider whether the CAR for your service includes any issues for specific fees.

20



APPENDIX 2.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units / comments Vatable?     Y/N Total Expected 

Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information

1 General Building Regulations general enquires N £73.40 Reflects current Building Control 
(BRFE) charge out rates Y £81.56 11%

2 General Solicitors enquiries & other specialist 
advice N £36.70 Reflects current Building Control 

(BRFE) charge out rates N £40.78 11%

3 General

Fees for Building Regulations Fee 
Earning Work as defined by Building 

(Local Authority Charges) Regulations 
2010. Copy of charges scheme available  
in Building Control - fees sheets available 

on internet

N
Detailed schedule of building 

regulation fees published on the 
internet

 Y
except for 

reversions and 
regularisations

£240,000
Detailed schedule of building 

regulation fees published on the 
internet

£250,000 n/a

4 General Administration/professional charges for 
dealing with dangerous structures N £73.40 Reflects current Building Control 

(BRFE) charge out rates N £295 £81.56

This rate is only charged if works 
exceed 2 hours. If this is the case, 
the proposed figure is charged per 
hour passed th exceeded amount

£408 11%

5 Garages
Standard garages to Council tenants per 
week  where the garage location is very 
closely connected to the house location.

N £12.65 N £201,510 £13.00 £207,140 2.8%

6 Garages Standard garages to Non-Council tenants 
per week N £13.50 Y £268,760 £13.90 £276,820 3.0%

7 Garages Garage Plots (per annum) N £161.50 Y £20,755 £166.00 £21,250 2.8%

8 Garages let at full 
market rent The Gateway, Dover N £21.90 Y £2,140 £22.50 £2,180 2.7%

9 Garages let at full 
market rent

Dover Town Area (Harold St, Godwyne 
Close, Pencester) N £19.30 Y £9,480 £19.90 £9,770 3.1%

Building Control - R. Walton - M. Leggatt - Cllr Kenton

Garages - R. Walton - M. Leggatt - Cllr Richardson

£0

These services are rarely used 
due to increased electronical 

information outlets and therefore 
we do not anticipate any income 

from these services

21



APPENDIX 2.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

10 Deal Pier Fishing Day Ticket (Summer)
08:00 to 21:00 hrs April-November,  adult N £6.40 Y £6.60 3%

11 Deal Pier Fishing

Day Ticket (Summer)                          
08:00 to 21:00 hrs April-November, 
concessions (unemployed, senior 

citizens, disabled and students
(including under 16's))

N £3.20 Y £3.20 0%

12 Deal Pier Fishing
Day ticket (Winter)

08:00 to 16:00 hrs  December to March, 
adult

N £5.00 Y £5.15 3%

13 Deal Pier Fishing

Day Ticket (Winter)
08:00 to 16:00 hrs December-March, 

concessions (unemployed, senior 
citizens, disabled and students (including 

under 16's))

N £2.50 Y £2.50 0%

14 Deal Pier Fishing
Night Time (summer designated 

evenings)
(21:00 to 08:00 hrs) - adult

N £9.20 Y £9.50 3%

15 Deal Pier Fishing

Night Time (summer designated 
evenings)

(21:00 to 08:00 hrs) - concessions 
(unemployed, senior citizens, disabled 

and students (including under 16's))

N £5.20 Y £5.30 2%

16 Beach Plot Charges Walmer Plot N £359.00 Y £370.00 3%
17 Beach Plot Charges Deal/Walmer commercial plot N £165.00 Y £165.00 0%

18 Beach Huts St Margaret's Bay - Annual N
fixed rent for 5 years (less administration). Fee 
future proofs against inflation at 3%  includes 

parking permit  but not NNDR same as walmer
Y £30,300

fixed rent for 5 years (less 
administration). Fee future proofs 
against inflation at 3%  includes 
parking permit  but not NNDR 

same as walmer

£30,300 0%

19 Beach Huts The Endeavour Centre - Daily N £37.00 Y £620 £38.00 £640 3%

20 Sandwich Quay Short Stay Moorings per day 
(maximum 28 days) N £11.10 Y £4,000 £11.40 £4,120 3%

21 Filming on DDC land Fee - per day N £910.00 Y n/a

22 Filming on DDC land Fee - per hour N £158.00 Y n/a

Deal Pier - R. Walton - M. Leggatt - Cllr Richardson

Simplification of charging structure. £32,000 £33,000

Foreshore - R. Walton - M. Leggatt - Cllr Richardson

The hire of DDC assets for filming, whilst 
welcome as it showcases the district, results in 
disruption and the temporary denial of assets to 
residents. The charges reflect a financial benefit 

to the district which mitigates against the 
detrimental effects to residents of the filming as 

well as the covering administration costs and 
realizing the income potential of the assets

The proposal to take these fees out of the 2022/23 fee 
& charges is explained in point 3.16 in the covering 

report.

22



APPENDIX 2.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

23 Boat Plot Charges St Margaret's Plot N £278.00 Y £556 £286.00 £572 3%

This item was omitted from the 21/22 published fees 
and charges on the basis that the charge would cease 
as soon as imminent alternative proposed use for the 
asset came forward. The  proposal did not materialise 

and the item has therefore been reintroduced.

24 Beach Plot Charges Kingsdown Plot N £221.00 Y £2,210 £228.00 £2,280 3%

This item was omitted from the 21/22 published fees 
and charges on the basis that the charge would cease 
as soon as imminent alternative proposed use for the 
asset came forward. The  proposal did not materialise 

and the item has therefore been reintroduced.

25  Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering Registering  a New Property Address N £150.00 Y £155.00 3%

26  Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering

New Street or Building Comprising
 2-10 units N £310.00 Y £320.00 3%

27  Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering

New Street or Building Comprising
 11-20 units N £495.00 Y £510.00 3%

28  Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering

New Street or Building Comprising
 21 + units N £495.00

For developments in excess of  20 units  fee will 
be £495 plus £11.10 fee for each unit in excess of 

20 units . No maximum fee
Y £510.00

For developments in excess of  20 
units  fee will be £495 plus £11.45 
fee for each unit in excess of 20 

units . No maximum fee

3%

29  Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering Changing Street Name N £650 Y £670.00 3%

30  Non Statutory  Street 
Naming and Numbering

Administration Fee for undertaking Non 
Statutory Function Street Naming and 

Numbering per hour
N £73.40 Y £75.50 3%

£30,900 £31,830

Foreshore - R. Walton - M. Leggatt - Cllr Richardson

23



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

31 Port Health/Food safety
Unsound Food Examination: Not 

exceeding 1 metric tonne N £127 Plus disposal charge N £127 £131 Plus disposal charge 3.1%

As a result of COVID 19 there was no income on this 
last year (21-22).  Increase to take inflation into 

account. 

32 Port Health/Food safety
Unsound Food Examination: Exceeding 1 

metric tonne N £238 Plus disposal charge N £238 £245.50 Plus disposal charge 3.2%

As a result of COVID 19 there was no income on this 
last year (21-22).  Increase to take inflation into 

account. 

33 Port Health Ship Sanitation Certificate Y

Fees allocated by APHA and this 
is not issued until after budget 

setting, therefore it is estimated 
that fees will range from approx 
£100 and £670  depending on 

tonnage and passenger capacity

N £7,500

Fees allocated by APHA and this 
is not issued until after budget 

setting, therefore it is estimated 
that fees will range from approx 
£105 and £690  depending on 

tonnage and passenger capacity

Fee to be notified via APHA in November 2021.  
Anticipated income due to fewer cruise ships being  

operational (Covid). 

34 Port Health
Ship Sanitation: Referal Inspection

106 £106 Referal Inspection N £106 £109.50 Referal Inspection 3.3%  Increase to take inflation into account. 

35 Port Health Plastic Documentary Check (PDD) N £56 Documentary Check (PDD) N £56 £58 Documentary Check (PDD) £580 3.6%  Increase to take inflation into account. 
More checks after 01st July anticiptated. 

36 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)

 (England) Regulations 2011: Identity & 
Physical Checks & Sampling

N £127 Identity, Physical Check and 
Sampling N £127 £131 Identity, Physical Check and 

Sampling £131 3.1%  Increase to take inflation into account. 

37 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)

(England) Regulations 2011 - Laboratory 
Analysis

N Assigned by lab Laboratory Analysis of Sample N

Any costs are 
recharged so 

no income 
expected

Assigned by lab Laboratory Analysis of Sample Lab analysis charges are determined by lab.  Any 
costs are recharged so no income expected.

38 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)

 (England) Regulations 2011 - Courier 
Fee

N Assigned by 
courier

Courier Cost for Transporting 
Sample to Laboratory N

Any costs are 
recharged so 

no income 
expected

Assigned by 
courier

Courier Cost for Transporting 
Sample to Laboratory

Courier costs are determined by courier company.  
Any costs are recharged so no income expected.

39 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)
 (England) Regulations 2011 - Non 

Compliance Fee
N £128 Non-Compliance Fee N £128 £132 Non-Compliance Fee £0 3.1%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The non-compliance fee originally applied to a number 
of commodities under one charge however this charge 

has now been allocated to the specific activities.

40 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)

 (England) Regulations 2011: 
Destruction/Re-Export Fee

N £111

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

N £111 £114.50

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

£0 3.2%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The supervising destruction/re-export fee was 

originally allocated under one charge however this 
charge has now been allocated out to the specific 

activitiy areas.

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

£377

£8,500

Any costs are 
recharged so no 
income expected

24



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

41 Port Health

The Plastic Kitchenware
(Conditions on Imports from China)
 (England) Regulations 2011: Late 

Notification Fee
N £86 Late notification Fee N £86 £89 Late notification Fee £89 3.5%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The late pre-notification fee originally applied to a 

number of commodities under one charge however 
this charge has now been allocated to the specific 

activities.

42 Port Health

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625 
FNAO: Documentary Check

N £56 Documentary Check N £58 Documentary Check 3.6%  Increase to take inflation into account. 

43 Port Health

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
FNAO: Identity, Physical Check & 

Sampling

N £127

Identity, Physical Check and 
Sampling

(N.B. Additional lab analysis and 
courer costs apply)

N £131

Identity, Physical Check and 
Sampling

(N.B. Additional lab analysis and 
courer costs apply)

3.1%  Increase to take inflation into account. 

44 Port Health 

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
FNAO - Laboratory analysis of samples

N Assigned by lab Laboratory Analysis N Assigned by lab Laboratory Analysis Assigned 
by lab

Lab analysis is determined by lab.  Any costs are 
recharged so no income expected.

45 Port Health

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
FNAO - Courier Cost

N Assigned by 
courier Courier Cost N Assigned by 

courier Courier Cost Assigned 
by courier

Courier costs are determined by courier company.  
Any costs are recharged so no income expected.

46 Port Health
Official Feed and Food Controls 

(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 
2017/625 FNAO - Non-compliance Fee

N £128 Non-compliance Fee N £128 £132 Non Compliance Fee £1,320 3.1%

 Increase of circa 3.2% to take inflation into account.
The non-compliance fee originally applied to a number 
of commodities under one charge however this charge 

has now been allocated to the specific activities.

47 Port Health

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 
(EU) 2017/625 FNAO - Late notification 

fee
N £86 Late notification Fee N £1,500 £89 Late notification Fee £89 3.5%

 Increase of circa 3.2% to take inflation into account.
The late pre-notification fee originally applied to a 

number of commodities under one charge however 
this charge has now been allocated to the specific 

activities.

48 Port Health

Official Feed and Food Controls 
(England) Regulations 2009 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
FNAO - Supervising Destruction/Re-

export Fee

N £111

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

N £111 £114.50

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

£1,145 3.2%

 Increase of circa 3.2% to take inflation into account.
The supervising destruction/re-export fee originally 

applied to a number of commodities under one charge 
however this charge has now been allocated to the 

specific activities.
Anticipated increase of non-compliant consignments 

due to doc failures.

49 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £47 Endorsement of Cert up to 5 certs
(High Risk Countries) N £5,000 £48.50 Endorsement of Cert up to 5 certs

(High Risk Countries) £35,000 3.2% Estimated increase in income following end of EU 
Transition.

£4,500 £2,500

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

Any costs are 
recharged so 

no income 
expected

Any costs are 
recharged so no 
income expected

25



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

50 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £63 6-10 certs
(High Risk Countries) N

Included in the 
£5,000 figure 

shown on 
previous page

£65 6-10 certs
(High Risk Countries)

Included in the 
£35,000 figure shown 

on previous page
3.2% Estimated increase in income following end of EU 

Transition.

51 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £80 11-20 certs
(High Risk Countries) N £5,000 £82.50 11-20 certs

(High Risk Countries) £35,000 3.1% Estimated increase in income following end of EU 
Transition.

52 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £87 21+certs
(High Risk Countries) N £90 21+certs

(High Risk Countries) 3.4%

53 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £21
Bilateral Agreements Cert for up to 

5 certs
(Low Risk Countries)

N £21.50
Bilateral Agreements Cert for up to 

5 certs
(Low Risk Countries)

2.4%

54 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 

Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £37 6-10 certs
(Low Risk Countries) N £38 6-10 certs

(Low Risk Countries) 2.7%

55 Port Health Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 
Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £47 11-20 certs

(Low Risk Countries) N £48.50 11-20 certs
(Low Risk Countries) 3.2%

56 Port Health Catch Certificates IUU Regs - Council 
Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 N £58 21+ certs

(Low Risk Countries) N £60 21+ certs
(Low Risk Countries) 3.4%

57 Port Health

Catch Certificates IUU Regs
 - Council Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 - 

Formal Verification/Movement Control 
Notice 

N £64.00 Formal Verification/Movement 
Control Notice N £64 £66.00 Formal Verification/Movement 

Control Notice £660 3.1%  Increase to take inflation into account. 
Anticipated non-compliance from 01st July 2021

58 Port Health
Catch Certificates IUU Regs

 - Council Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 - 
Supervising Destruction/Re-Export Fee 

N £111

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

N £114.50

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

£1,145.00 3.2%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The supervising destruction/re-export fee originally 

applied to a number of commodities under one charge 
however this charge has now been allocated to the 

specific activities.

59 Port Health

Catch Certificates IUU Regs
 - Council Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 - 

Late Notification Fee N £86 Late Notification Fee N £89 Late Notification Fee £178 3.5%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The late pre-notification fee originally applied to a 

number of commodities under one charge however 
this charge has now been allocated to the specific 

activities.

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

Estimated increase in income following end of EU 
Transition.£5,000 £35,000

26



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

60 Port Health

Catch Certificates IUU Regs
 - Council Regulation (EC) No. 1005/2008 - 

Non-Compliance Fee N £128 Non-Compliance Fee N £132 Non Compliance Fee £1,320 3.1%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The non-compliance fee originally applied to a number 
of commodities under one charge however this charge 

has now been allocated to the specific activities.

61 Port Health
Organic Products Regulations 2009: 

Documentary Check Y £45 Dcoumentary Check 
Per Certificate of Inspection N £12,000 £45 Dcoumentary Check 

Per Certificate of Inspection £35,000 0.0%
Based on previous year. 

Agreed between Port Health Authorities nationally. 
Anticipated increase from 01st July 2022

62 Port Health
Organic Products Regulations 2009: 

Supervising Destruction/Re-export Fee N £111

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

N £114.50

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is an additional 
charge)

£572.50 3.2%

 Increase of circa 3.2% to take inflation into account.
The supervising destruction/re-export fee originally 

applied to a number of commodities under one charge 
however this charge has now been allocated to the 

specific activities.

63 Port Health
Organic Products Regulations 2009 - Late 

Notification Fee N £86 Late Notification Fee N £89 Late Notification Fee £890 3.5%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The late pre-notification fee originally applied to a 

number of commodities under one charge however 
this charge has now been allocated to the specific 

activities.

64 Port Health
Organic Products Regulations 2009 - Non 

Compliance Fee N £128 Non-Compliance Fee N £132 Non Compliance Fee £660 3.1%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The non-compliance fee originally applied to a number 
of commodities under one charge however this charge 

has now been allocated to the specific activities.

65 Port Health

Admin Fee: Inputting Organic Import onto 
PHILIS DES

N N/A Fee whereby DDC Officers have to 
input details N £15 Admin Fee if Organic Import not 

declared via PHILIS DES £75
New admin charge for entering an organic import on 
PHILIS if not declared on this system.  In-line with 

other PHA's.

66 Port Health Water Samples on board Vessels N

£127 first 
sample. Each 

further 
bacteriological 
sample £25.92, 

Legionella 
£54.21, 

Chemical in 
accordance 
with lab fees

A set fee will be charged for first 
sample and all additional samples 
taken will be charged as outlined.

N £0

£131 first 
sample. Each 

further  sample 
charged  in 
accordance 
with lab fees

A set fee will be charged for first 
sample and all additional samples 
taken will be charged as outlined.

£131 3.1% In line with other Port Health Authorities fees

67 Food Safety NFHRS Re-vist N £170 Set Fee for requested NFHRS re-
visit N £2,500 £175 Set Fee for requested NFHRS re-

visit £525 2.9%
In line with other LA's and following increase in 

demand.  Increase to take inflation into account.  
Based on previous year.

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

27



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

68 Port Health Export Certificates N

£68 minimum 
for first 2 hours 

and then 
additional £32 

per hour or part 
thereof.

Tech 1 Nominal TBC
Set Fee per Export Certificate 

Issued
N £0

£70 minimum 
for first 2 hours 

and then 
additional £33 

per hour or part 
thereof.

Set fee per  Export Certificate 
issued. £0 2.9%

 Increase to take inflation into account.  Based on 
previous year.

Currently not authorised  to do these. 

69 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO (excl. NZ)

N £54

Up to 6 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £56

Up to 6 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

3.7%  Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
checks unknown but Defra estimate is around 266K.

70 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO (excl. NZ)

N £9 per tonne

7 - 46 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £9 per tonne

7 - 46 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

0.0%

71 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO (excl. NZ)

N £406

46 tonnes and over

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £419

46 tonnes and over

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

3.2%  Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
checks unknown but Defra estimate is around 266K.

72 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO from NZ

N £42

Up to 6 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £43

Up to 6 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

2.4%
 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 

checks for New Zealand origin POAO is expected to 
be low.

73 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO from NZ

N £7 per tonne

7 - 46 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £7 per tonne

7 - 46 tonnes

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

0.0%
 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 

checks for New Zealand origin POAO is expected to 
be low.

74 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Official Controls on POAO from NZ

N £315

46 tonnes and over

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

N £0 £325

46 tonnes and over

(includes documentary, identity 
and physical check and sampling)

3.2%
 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 

checks for New Zealand origin POAO is expected to 
be low.

75 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
POAO subject to enhanced checks

N £63 Per CHED-P for Risk category II 
products (30%) N £0 £65 Per CHED-P for Risk category II 

products (30%) 3.2%

 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
POAO imports subject to intensified official controls, 
enhanced checks and protective measures POAO is 

expected to be low.

76 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625 POAO subject to 
enhanced checks

N £76 Per CHED-P per Risk category III 
products (15%) N £0 £79 Per CHED-P per Risk category III 

products (15%) 3.9%

 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
POAO imports subject to intensified official controls, 
enhanced checks and protective measures POAO is 

expected to be low.

77 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
POAO subject to enhanced checks

N £85 Per CHED-P per Risk category IV 
products (5%) N £0 £88 Per CHED-P per Risk category IV 

products (5%) 3.5%

 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
POAO imports subject to intensified official controls, 
enhanced checks and protective measures POAO is 

expected to be low.

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

TBC

TBC

28



APPENDIX 2.3

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Maximum 

Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

78 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
POAO subject to enhanced checks

N £88 Per CHED-P per Risk category V 
products (1%) N £0 £91 Per CHED-P per Risk category V 

products (1%) TBC 3.4%

 Increase to take inflation into account. Volume of 
POAO imports subject to intensified official controls, 
enhanced checks and protective measures POAO is 

expected to be low.

79 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Late notification fee (POAO)

N £86 Late notification Fee N £0 £89 Late notification Fee £8,900 3.5%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The late pre-notification fee originally applied to a 

number of commodities under one charge however 
this charge has now been allocated to the specific 

activities.

80 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Admin fee for sampling POAO subject to 

Enhanced Checks

N £89 Admininstration Fee N £0 £92 Per sample £0 3.4%

Charges for POAO will not commence until 01 July 
2021.

Unknown if products requiring enhanced checks will 
come through Dover Port. 

81 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Laboratory analysis of POAO subject to 

enhanced checks

N Assigned by the 
lab Sampling Analysis N £0 Assigned by the 

lab Per sample Assigned 
by the lab

Lab analysis is determined by lab.  Any costs are 
recharged so no income expected.

82 Port Health 

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625 - Regulation (EU) 
2017/625

Courier fee (POAO)

N Assigned by 
courier Courier Cost N £0 Assigned by the 

courier Per sample
Assigned 

by the 
courier

Courier costs are determined by courier company.  
Any costs are recharged so no income expected.

83 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
Non-Compliance Fee (POAO)

N £128 Non-compliance Fee N £0 £132 Non-compliance Fee £13,200 3.1%

 Increase to take inflation into account.
The non-compliance fee originally applied to a number 
of commodities under one charge however this charge 

has now been allocated to the specific activities.

84 Port Health

The Trade in Animals and Related 
Products Regulations 2011 - Regulation 

(EU) 2017/625
 Supervising Destruction/Re-export 

(POAO)

N £111

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is additional 
charge)

N £0 £114.50

Supervising Destruction/Re-export 
Fee

(cost of destruction is additional 
charge)

£11,450 3.2%

The supervising destruction/re-export fee originally 
applied to a number of commodities under one charge 

however this charge has now been allocated to the 
specific activities.

Charges for POAO will not commence until 01 July 
2021.

85 Port Health
Admin fee for CHEDs not presented on 

IPAFFS N £15
Admin fee for CHEDs not 

presented on IPAFFS £1,500 New admin charge for entering a CHED on PHILIS if 
not declared on IPAFFS.  In-line with other PHA's.

86 Port Health
Staff Hourly Rate

N £89 Hourly rate N £92 Hourly rate £0 3.4%  Increase to take inflation into account. 

87 Port Health Postage of Documents N £5 For Postage of any documents 
returned N £5.00 Admin fee for CHEDs not 

presented on IPAFFS 0.0%

88 Port Health Per Document Photocopied N £1 Per photocopy N £1 Admin fee for CHEDs not 
presented on IPAFFS 0.0%

Environmental Health - M.Davis - L. Manzano- Cllr Murphy

29



APPENDIX 2.4

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Vatable Y/N?
Proposed Amount 
of penalty if paid 

within 15 days

units / 
comments

Proposed Full 
amount of penalty 

- 14 days
Units / comments

Maximum 
penalty on 
conviction

Total 
Expected 
Income 

Proposed Amount of 
penalty if paid within 

10 days

Units / 
comments

Penalty 
Amount % 

change

Proposed Full 
amount of penalty 

- 14 days
Units / comments

Full Amount of 
Penalty % 
change

Maximum penalty on 
conviction

Maximum Penalty 
on conviction % 

change

Total 
Expected 
Income 

Justification for charge levels and other 
information

89
S48 Anti-Social Behaviour, 

Crime  & Policing Act 
2014

Failure to comply with a Community Protection 
Notice N

£2500 in the case 
of an individual, 
unlimited in the 
case of a body

£6,000 No early payment 
discount 0 £100 0%

£2500 in the case of an 
individual, unlimited in 

the case of a body
0%

90 S33 Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 Fixed penalty notice for fly-tipping N

Unlimited fine & or 
5 years 

imprisonment.

No early payment 
discount 0 £400 0% Unlimited fine & or 5 

years imprisonment. 0%

91 S34 Environmental 
Protection Act 90 Failure to produce waste documents N

Unlimited on 
indictment, £5000 

on summary

No early payment 
discount 0% £300 0% Unlimited on indictment, 

£5000 on summary 0%

92 S5 Control of Pollution 
(amendment) Act 1989 Failure to produce authority to transport waste N £5,000 No early payment 

discount 0% £300 0% £5,000 0%

93 s47 Environmental 
Protection Act '90

Failure to comply with a waste receptacles 
notice (commercial) N £1,000 No early payment 

discount 0% £100 0% £1,000 0%

94 s46 Environmental 
Protection Act 1990

Failure to comply with a waste receptacles 
notice (domestic) N Recoverable as a 

civil debt
No early payment 

discount 0% N/A £60 Payable within 28 
days 0 Recoverable as a civil 

debt 0%

95 S7 Health Act 2006 Smoking in a smoke free premises or vehicle N £30 Paid within 15 
days £30 £200 N/A 0% N/A

£50 if paid within 29 
days discounted to 
£30 if paid within 15 

days

0% £200 0%

96 S7 Health Act 2006 Smoking in a vehicle with a person under the 
age of 18 present. N £30 Paid within 15 

days £30 £200 N/A 0% N/A

Standard default 
levels as laid down in 
legislation- Payable 

within 29 days

0% £200 0%

97 S6 Health Act 2006 Failure to display no smoking signs in smoke 
free premises or vehicles N £150 Paid within 15 

days £150 £1,000 N/A 0% N/A

£200 if paid within 29 
days discounted to 

£150 if paid within 15 
days

0% £1,000 0%

98 S4 Noise Act 1996 Noise from dwellings exceeding the permitted 
level (defined in the Act) N £1,000 No early payment 

discount £110 0% £1,000 0%

99 S4A Noise Act 1996 Noise from licensed premises exceeding the 
permitted level (defined in the Act) N £5,000 No early payment 

discount £500 0% £5,000 0%

100 S6 Clean Neighbourhoods 
& Env  Act 2005

Nuisance Parking (exposing vehicles for sale on 
a road or repairing vehicles on a road) N £2,500 No early payment 

discount £100 £0 £2,500 0%

101 S.88(1) Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 Litter N £75.00

Level stays at £75 if 
paid within 10 days. 
Increases to £100 

after.

£2,500 £75.00 £100 33% £2,500 0%

102 Sch. 3A para 7. EPA ‘90 Unauthorised distribution of literature on 
designated land N £2,500 No early payment 

discount £75 0% £2,500 0%

103 S.43 Anti-Social Behaviour 
Act 2003 Graffiti and fly posting N £2,500 No early payment 

discount £80 0% £2,500 0%

104

The Littering from vehicles 
outside London (keepers: 
civil penalties) Regs 2018. 

S 87 & 88 EPA '90

Littering from a vehicle N

FPN amount 
doubles to £150 

after 28 day 
payment period & 

becomes 
recoverable as a 
civil debt with any 
additional recovery 

fees.

N/A N/A

Penalty amount set at 
£75 and doubles to 
£150 after 28 day 

payment period expire 
recoverable as a civil 

debt

0%

FPN amount doubles to 
£150 after 28 day 
payment period & 

becomes recoverable as 
a civil debt with any 

additional recovery fees.

0%

105 S34 Environmental 
Protection Act 90 Failure to Fulfil Householders Duty of Care N

Unlimited on 
indictment, £5000 

on summary

No early payment 
discount £200 0% Unlimited on indictment, 

£5000 on summary 0%

106 S.2A Refuse Disposal 
(Amenity) Act 1978 Abandoning a vehicle N £2,500 No early payment 

discount £200 0% £2,500 0%

Regulatory Services - M.Davis - D Croucher - Cllr Kenton

Not applicable. Dover District Council 
set the level of fines at the standard 
default level for each offence without 
an early payment option through its 

FPN Policy.

Standard default levels as laid down in 
legislation. 

Paid within 15 days

Standard default levels as laid down in 
legislation. 

Not applicable. Dover District Council 
set the level of fines at the standard 
default level for each offence without 
an early payment option through its 

FPN Policy

Standard default levels as laid down in 
legislation. 

2022/23 figures split for viewing purposes£6,000

30



APPENDIX 2.4

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Vatable Y/N?
Proposed Amount 
of penalty if paid 

within 15 days

units / 
comments

Proposed Full 
amount of penalty 

- 14 days
Units / comments

Maximum 
penalty on 
conviction

Total 
Expected 
Income 

Proposed Amount of 
penalty if paid within 

10 days

Units / 
comments

Penalty 
Amount % 

change

Proposed Full 
amount of penalty 

- 14 days
Units / comments

Full Amount of 
Penalty % 
change

Maximum penalty on 
conviction

Maximum Penalty 
on conviction % 

change

Total 
Expected 
Income 

Justification for charge levels and other 
information

107 S.73 CNEA ‘05
Failure to nominate key holder (within an alarm 
notification area) or to notify the LA in writing of 

nominated key holder's details
N £1,000 No early payment 

discount £75 0% £1,000 0% £6,000 2022/23 figures split for viewing purposes

108 S.3 Dogs (Fouling of 
Land) Act 1996 Failure to remove dog faeces forthwith N

109
The Public Space 

Protection Order (Dover 
District Council) 2018

Failure to comply with Public Space Protection 
Order N £75

Level stays at £75 if 
paid within 10 days. 
Increases to £100 

after.

£1,000 £75 £100 33% £1,000 0%

Not applicable. Dover District Council 
set the level of fines at the standard 
default level for each offence without 
an early payment option through its 
FPN Policy. The level of FPN was 

approved by Cabinet and Scrutiny in 
June 2015. 

Not applicable. Dover District Council 
set the level of fines at the standard 
default level for each offence without 
an early payment option through its 

FPN Policy

Regulatory Services - M.Davis - D Croucher - Cllr Kenton

Legislation still in force but fouling now dealt with under Public Spaces Protection Orders. May be reintroduced if PSPOs rescinded or not renewed. 

Standard default levels as laid down in 
legislation. 

31



APPENDIX 2.5

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units / comments Vatable?     Y/N Total Expected 

Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT Fee % change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 

other information

110 General Adults N £0.00 Y £0.00 n/a

111 General Children N £0.00 Y £0.00 n/a

112 General OAP N £0.00 Y £0.00 n/a

113 General Family Day N £0.00 Y £0.00 n/a

114 General Family Ticket
(2 adults, 2 children) N £0.00 Y £0.00 n/a

115 General Schools N £0.00 N £0.00 n/a

116 General Schools Service: 2 hour workshop    Per 
pupil N £8.00 N £8.50 6%

117 General Talks and artefact handling                  
Per pupil N £6.50 N £7.00 8%

118 General Roman/Victorian/Tudor Festivals        
Per pupil N £12.50 N £13.50 8%

119 General School Online Package N £150.00 per class N £150.00 0%

The cost of this has been held at the same as the 
previous year as cost to us has not increased.  This is 

a new resource and has not yet been marketed to 
schools.  Take up is very unpredictable so income is 

not factored in here.

120 General
Curator talks

(at Dover Museum)                                 
per group

N £132.00 Y £132.00 0%

121 General Curator talks
(other venues) N £133.10 Y £133.10 0%

122 General

Photo repro stills
 - TV, film Video                                        

per image
(UK/EC rights)

N £59.00 Y £59.00 0%

123 General

Photo repro stills
 - TV, film Video                                        

per image
(Worldwide Rights)

N £101.00 Y £101.00 0%

124 General
Photo repro stills - books/periodicals - 

commercial                                               
per image

N £42.00 Y £42.00 0%

125 General Photo repro stills - books/periodicals 
academic and local history per image N £17.00 Y £17.00 0%

126 General Film and video broadcast - network 
continuing use, one country per second N £17.00 Y £17.00 0%

127 General Film and video broadcast - network 
continuing use, EC region per second N £57.75 Y £57.75 0%

128 General
Film and video broadcast - network 

continuing use, world                             
per second

N £26.00 Y £26.00 0%

129 General Film and video broadcast - commercials 
etc. (world)                       per second N £51.00 Y £51.00 0%

£250 £250

Dover Museum - R Walton - J Iveson - Cllr Bartlett

A general comment relating to all 
areas of activity - this year has 
been exceptional in terms of 

school visits and museum activity.  
The income predicted has been 
impacted by the closure of the 

museum and of the schools, but 
also by the reluctance of schools 

to travel any distance.

£20,000

The schools service is costed on a 
break even basis.  Income and 
expenditure should match.  The 
income for the forecast year is 
very difficult to predict.  This is 
because the education spaces 

available in the Discovery Centre 
will not be available to us and the 
galleries will need to be closed for 

an indeterminate period for the 
PSDF work.  The timetable for this 
is currently not available so taking 

bookings for schools will be a 
challenge.

£12,000

The prices have been increased to reflect the 
increased cost of providing the service.  These relate 
to external providers and increased cleaning costs at 

the museum.

£1,200 £1,200
The total income has been carried forward from the 
previous year.  No increases have been predicted.  

The year ahead is very difficult to predict.

32



APPENDIX 2.5

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units / comments Vatable?     Y/N Total Expected 

Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT Fee % change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 

other information

130 General Cost of Preparing and sending images 
print per order N £12.00 Y £12.00 0%

131 General Cost of Preparing and sending film and 
video per order N £28.00 Y £28.00 0%

132 General Cost of preparing and sending stills per 
order N £30.00 Y £30.00 0%

133 General Cost of preparing and sending digital 
images per order N £8.00 Y £8.00 0%

134 General Cost of preparing and sending digital 
images on CD per order N £15.00 Y £15.00 0%

135 General
Film and video non-broadcast 

Educational continuing use world 
(Rights)

N £5.00 Y £5.00 0%

136 General
Film and video non-broadcast corporate 

non theatrical continuing use world 
(Rights)

N £9.00 Y £9.00 0%

137 General Digital Commercial High Res email  
(Rights) N £11.00 Y £11.00 0%

138 General Digital Commercial Rescan email  
(Rights) N £14.00 Y £14.00 0%

139 General Digital Commercial Internet single use 
email  (Rights) N £135.00 Y £135.00 0%

140 General Digital Commercial Exhibition  (Rights) N £34.00 Y £34.00 0%
141 General Digital Commercial Publication (Rights) N £42.00 Y £42.00 0%

142 General Digital Commercial Newspaper National 
(Rights) N £59.00 Y £59.00 0%

£200 £200

£200 £200

Dover Museum - R Walton - J Iveson - Cllr Bartlett

The total income has been carried forward from the 
previous year.  No increases have been predicted.  

The year ahead is very difficult to predict.

33



APPENDIX 2.6

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information 

143 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Bowls:
Season Ticket - Adult N £73.50 Y £75.50 3%

144 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Bowls:
Season Ticket - OAP N £73.50 Y £75.50 3%

145 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Bowls:
Season Ticket - Junior N £37.00 Y £38.00 3%

146 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Visitors green fees per game 21 ends
(per game per person)

per game (per set – 4 woods and 1 Jack)
N £3.70 Y £3.80 3%

147 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Football:
Pitch Hire - Adult N £58.00 Y £60.00 3%

148 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Football:
Pitch Hire - Juniors N £25.00 Y £25.75 3%

149 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds Netball N £29.00 Y £30.00 3%

150 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Tennis - Adult 
(per court per hour) N £5.50 Y £5.65 3%

151 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Tennis - Junior
(per court per hour) N £2.00 Y £2.10 5%

152 Sports - Parks and 
Recreation Grounds

Tennis - OAP
(per court per hour) N £2.00 Y £2.10 5%

153 Parks Small Commercial/standard  Event
 - Operating Day N £200.00 N £205.00 3%

154 Parks Small Commercial Event
- Non-Operating Day N £50.00 N £51.50 3%

155 Parks Small Commercial Event
 - Deposit N £1,100.00 N £1,130.00 3%

156 Parks Large Commercial Event
 - Operating Day N £600.00 N £615.00 3%

157 Parks Large Commercial Event
- Non-Operating Day N £100.00 N £103.00 3%

158 Parks Large Commercial Event
 - Deposit N £1,100.00 N £1,130.00 3%

159 Parks Mobile Exhibition
 - Per Day N £90.00 N £93.00 3%

160 Parks Mobile Exhibition
 - Deposit N £225.00 N £232.00 3%

Leisure Facilities - R. Walton - R.Wragg - Cllr Richardson

£1,655 £1,705 Inflationary increase

£5,675 £5,845 Inflationary increase

£11,770 Inflationary increase£12,120

34



APPENDIX 2.6

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information 

161 Parks
Community Event

or Event run by a registered charity
 - per day

N £50.00 N £51.50 3%

162 Parks
Community Event

or Event run by a registered charity
 - per deposit

N £225.00 N £232.00 3%

163 Parks
Use of parks for commercially

 run fitness and similar activities
 - fee per session

N £28.00 £28.75 3%

164 Parks Commemorative Trees N £450.00 Y £465.00 3% Inflationary increase

165 Parks Memorial Benches
 administration fee N £215.00 Y £222.00 3% Inflationary increase

166 Parks Commemorative Plaques N £230.00 Y £237.00 3% Inflationary increase

167 Kearsney Café  Billiards room, room only booking 
Daytime, between 8am and 6pm N £10.00 £10.00 per hour £500 0% New fees 

168 Kearsney Café  Billiards room, room only booking 
evenings between 6pm and 10pm N £15.00 £15.00 per hour £500 0% New fees 

169 Kearsney Café  Billiards room, room only booking 
weekends between 8am and 10pm N £20.00 £20.00 per hour £500 0% New fees 

170 General Maintenance N £60.00 N £62.00 3% Inflationary increase

171 General Maintenance and Planting N £120.00 N £123.00 3% Inflationary increase

172 General
Purchase of Grave Space - Adult
(This fee will be doubled for non 

residents)
N £750.00 N £775.00 3% Inflationary increase

173 General Purchase of Grave Space - Child under 
12 years N £0.00 N £0.00 n/a Inflationary increase

174 General
Purchase of Cremation Grave/Ashes Plot

(This fee will be doubled for non 
residents)

N £210.00 N £216.00 3% Inflationary increase

175 General Use of Chapel N £170.00 N £175.00 3% Inflationary increase

176 General Garden of Remembrance
 - right to erect a tablet N £100.00 N £103.00 3% Inflationary increase

177 General Interment of Ashes
(excluding caskets or urns) N £210.00 N £216.00 3% Inflationary increase

Included in 
£175,400 

below

Included in 
£188,660 below

Kearsney Cafe  - R. Walton - R.Wragg - 

£175,400 £188,660

Included In the 
£11,770 figure 

shown on 
previous page

Included In the 
£12,120 figure 

shown on 
previous page

Inflationary increase

Leisure Facilities - R. Walton - R.Wragg - Cllr Richardson

Cemetery - R. Walton - R.Wragg - Cllr Richardson

35



APPENDIX 2.6

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information 

General ERB tranfer fee N £75.00 N £77.50 3% Inflationary increase

General Admin fee for Burials with Ashes N £55.00 N £56.50 3% Inflationary increase

178 General
Search in Burial Register

(to be charged when time involved 
exceeds 1 hr)

N £62.00 N £64.00 3% Inflationary increase

179 General
Right to erect a memorial not exceeding 

1.06 metres in height, 0.76 metres in 
width and 0.45 metres in depth

N £200.00 N £206.00 3% Inflationary increase

180 General

Vase not exceeding 0.30 metres in height 
or tablet not exceeding 0.25 metres 

(including a tablet for a stillborn child) 
with only the name or initials, date of 

death and age of person inscribed

N £90.00 N £92.50 3% Inflationary increase

181 General

Right to place on any flagstone, 
headstone, kerbstone, border stone, 

inscribed vase, tablet or monument, each 
further inscription

N £80.00 N £82.00 3% Inflationary increase

182 General Replacement of a headstone with a new 
headstone N £45.00 N £46.50 3% Inflationary increase

183 General Right to place kerb   - depending upon 
location within cemetery £425.00 £437.50 3% Inflationary increase

184 General Interment of cremated remains in any 
grave N £210.00 N £216.00 3% Inflationary increase

185 General Interment of a stillborn child or child 
under 6 months N £62.00 N £64.00 3% Inflationary increase

186 General Interment of a child exceeding 6 months 
but under 12 years N £270.00 N £277.00 3% Inflationary increase

187 General Interment of an adult or child exceeding 
12 years: single depth   - new grave N £900.00 N £925.00 3% Inflationary increase

188 General Interment of an adult or child exceeding 
12 years: single depth   - reopen N £700.00 N £720.00 3% Inflationary increase

189 General Interment of an adult or child exceeding 
12 years: double depth - new grave N £1,100.00 N £1,130.00 3% Inflationary increase

190 General Interment of an adult or child exceeding 
12 years: double depth - reopen N £875.00 N £900.00 3% Inflationary increase

191 General Interment of an adult or child exceeding 
12 years: triple depth N £1,300.00 N £1,340.00 3% Inflationary increase

Included in the 
£175,400 

figure Shown 
on previous 

page

Included in the 
£188,660 figure 

Shown on 
previous page

Cemetery - R. Walton - R.Wragg - Cllr Richardson

36



APPENDIX 2.6

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information 

192 General One Off Contribution For Maintenance 
For Coffin Burials N £245.00 N £252.00 3% Inflationary increase

193 General One Off Contribution For Maintenance 
For Cremated Remains N £95.00 N £97.50 3% Inflationary increase

194

Included in the 
£175,400 

figure Shown 
on previous 

page

Included in the 
£188,660 figure 

Shown on 
previous page

The above charges apply where the person to be interred is, or immediately before death was a resident in the Dover District Council area, or in the case of a stillborn child, where the parents (or one of them) are residents of the District.  

Cemetery - R. Walton - R.Wragg - Cllr Richardson

37



APPENDIX 2.7

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information 

195 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 140 litre bin N £40.00 10 N £400 £42.00 10 £420 5%

196 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 180 litre bin N £50.00 300 N £15,000 £52.50 300 £15,750 5%

197 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 240 litre bin N £50.00 300 N £15,000 £52.50 300 £15,750 5%

198 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 360 litre bin N £79.00 10 N £790 £83.00 10 £830 5%

199 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 660 litre bin N £264.00 10 N £2,640 £276.00 10 £2,760 5%

200 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection Supply & Delivery of 1100 litre bin N £295.00 10 N £2,950 £310.00 10 £3,100 5%

201 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Supply & Delivery of 55l Black Box or 
Blue Box N £15.00 750 N £11,250 £15.75 750 £11,813 5%

202 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Supply & Delivery of 23l Kerbside Caddy 
for food collections N £15.00 250 N £3,750 £15.75 250 £3,938 5%

203 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Supply & Delivery of 7l Kitchen Caddy for 
food collections N £12.00 250 N £3,000 £12.60 250 £3,150 5%

204 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Supply & Delivery of Container 'Launch 
Pack' (2 WB, 2 Food + Box) N £100.00 250 N £25,000 £105.00 250 £26,250 5%

205 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Green Waste Collections; Annual 
Subscription for up to 6 sacks N £49.00 9160 N £448,840 £43.00 10500 £451,500 -12% Rebated rate for 2022/23 only due to service failures 

in 2021 for returning customers only 

206 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Green Waste Collections; Annual 
Subscription for up to 6 sacks N £49.00 2000 N £98,000 £52.50 2000 £105,000 7% Rate for new customers 22/23

207 Domestic Recycling & 
Refuse Collection

Green Waste Collections; Supply & 
Delivery of 60l Reusable Garden Waste 

Sack
N £5.00 2000 Y £10,000 £5.25 2000 £10,500 5% Rate for additional or replacement sacks for Green 

Waste all customers

208 Domestic Refuse Bulk Domestic Waste Collection (3 items) N £45 1000 £45,000 £47.25 1000 £47,250 5%

209 Domestic Refuse Bulk Domestic Waste Collection 
(additional items)

N £6 500 £3,000 £6.30 500 £3,150 5%

210 Street Cleansing Supply and install a standard litter bin - 
110ltr

N £300 10 £3,000 £315.00 10 £3,150 5%

211 Street Cleansing Supply and install a dog bin - 50ltr N £310 10 £3,100 £326.00 10 £3,260 5%
212 Street Cleansing Supply and install a dog bin - 25ltr N £150 10 £1,500 £157.50 10 £1,575 5%
213 Street Cleansing Supply and install a recycling bin N £1,200 5 £6,000 £1,260.00 5 £6,300 5%

214 Street Cleansing Annual subscription to empty a litter bin 
(main high streets excluded)

N £150 10 £1,500 £157.50 10 £1,575 5%

215 Street Cleansing Annual subscription to empty a dog bin 
(main high street excluded)

N £150 10 £1,500 £157.50 10 £1,575 5%

216 Street Cleansing Annual subscription to empty a recycling 
bin (main high street excluded)

N £150 5 £750 £157.50 5 £788 5%

217 Street Cleansing Annual subscription to empty a litter bin - 
High Street Area

N £350 2 £700 £367.50 5 £1,838 5%

Recycling & Waste Collections - R. Walton - R. Wragg - Cllr Kenton

38



APPENDIX 2.8

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information

218 General Engrossments (Right to Buy – 
freehold/Leasehold Transactions) N £120 Y £4,200 £125 £4,200 4%

Small inflationary increase due to legal fee not 
increased for the last 3 financial years. Total expected 

legal work and income to remain the same as 
2021/22.

219 General
All charges for legal professional work 
being met by third parties (excluding 

s.106 work)
N £220 N £10,000 £220 £5,000 0% Total expected income decrease to reflect receipts to 

date for 2021/22.

220 General Legal professional work in relation to 
Section 106 Agreements N £220

per hour but subject to a 
minimum charge of £800 for a 
new agreement and £600 for a 

variation

N £20,000 £220

per hour but subject to a 
minimum charge of £800 for a 
new agreement and £600 for a 

variation

£18,000 0% Total expected income decrease to reflect receipts to 
date for 2021/22.

221 General
Administration charge for professional 

work undertake in respect of post-Right-to-
Buy matters

N £120 N £1,800 £125 £1,000 4%
Increase to benchmark against other local authority 
charges. Total expected income reduced in line with 

receipts to date 2021/22. 

Legal - N. Aziz - L May - Cllr Vinson

39



APPENDIX 2.9

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information

222
Access to Information 
and Data Protection 

Acts
Inspection of list of background papers Y £0.00 Freedom of Information free up to 

18 hour limit N £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 n/a

223
Access to Information 
and Data Protection 

Acts
Inspection of each set of documents Y £0.00 Freedom of Information free up to 

18 hour limit N £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 n/a

224
Access to Information 
and Data Protection 

Acts
Inspection of personal data Y £0.00

Change in legislation from May 
2018 - no longer able to make a 

charge for this information.
N £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 n/a

225
Access to Information 
and Data Protection 

Acts
Environmental Information Request Y £32.00 Hourly charge of employee N £0.00 £32.00 £0.00 0%

Miscellaneous - N. Aziz - L.May - Cllr Vinson

40



APPENDIX 2.10

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Government? Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income

226

Representation of the 
People Acts and the 

Electoral Administration 
Act

Purchase of Register of Electors and 
copies of Election documents Y Various Price dependent upon electorate & 

format requested N £500 Various £0 n/a
No elections due in 2022 so there will be no marked 
registers to buy (only avail to buy for 12 months after 

an election) 

`

Electoral Services - N. Aziz -L.May - Cllr Vinson

41



APPENDIX 2.11

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22
2022/23 

Effective from 
01/04/2022

2022/23 Effective from 
01/04/2022 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Government? Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income

227 General Requisition for Search (LLC1) N £33.50 N £15.00 -55%
Reflects data capture having reduced the cost of 

providing the service. Service to move to HMLR in 
2023 - fee matches current HMLR fee.

228 General Optional Printed Enquiry (in Part 2 of Con 
29O) N £14.40 Y £16.80 17% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 

2021

229 General Any Additional Enquiry submitted N N/A N N/A N/A

230 General Search in respect of any extra parcel of 
land (LLC1) N £3.00 N £3.00 0%

231 General Search in respect of any extra parcel of 
land (CON29) N £12.00 Y £15.00 25% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 

2021

232 General Existing Conveyancing Form (CON29) N £112.50 Y £147.00 31% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

233 General Proposed New Conveyancing Form 
(CON29) N £0.00 N £0.00 0%

234 General CON29 Q1.1(a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h,i) N £13.20 Y £16.50 25% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

235 General CON29 Q1.1(j,k,l) N £9.60 Y £12.00 25% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

236 General CON29 Q1.2 N £8.40 Y £10.08 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

237 General CON29 Q2.1(a,b,c,d) N £9.90 Y £0.00 -100% Now included in Highways Dataset

238 General CON29 Q2.2. 2.3, 2.4, 2.5 (Refer to KCC) N £14.70 Y £17.64 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

239 General CON29 Q3.1 N £3.00 Y £3.60 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

240 General CON29 Q3.2 N £2.40 Y £0.00 -100% Now included in Highways Dataset

241 General CON29 Q3.3(a,b,c) N £3.00 Y £3.60 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

242 General CON29 Q3.4 (a,b,c,d,e,f) N £6.00 Y £0.00 -100% Now included in Highways Dataset

243 General CON29 Q3.5 (a,b) N £3.00 Y £3.60 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

Local Land Charges - R.Walton - L Jarrett - Cllr Kenton

£190,000 in 
total for Local 
Land Charges 

(LLC1 & 
CON29) 

£160,000 in 
total for Local 
Land Charges 

(LLC1 & 
CON29) 

42



APPENDIX 2.11

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22
2022/23 

Effective from 
01/04/2022

2022/23 Effective from 
01/04/2022 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Government? Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units / comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income

244 General CON29 Q3.6 (a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h,i,j,k,l) N £6.60 Y £0.00 -100% Now included in Highways Dataset

245 General CON29 Q3.7 N £2.40 Y £3.96 65%
Increased following cost neutral exercise November 

2021 - part of the question to be referred to KCC 
from April 2021

246 General CON29 Q3.8 N £4.80 Y £5.76 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

247 General CON29 Q3.9 (a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h,i,j,k,l,m,n) N £4.20 Y £5.04 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

248 General CON29 Q3.10 (a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h) N £3.90 Y £3.90 0% CIL - standard answer (cost unchanged)

249 General CON29 Q3.11(a,b) N £4.20 Y £5.04 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

250 General CON29 Q3.12 N £3.00 Y £3.60 20%
Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021 - question also to be referred to KCC from April 

2021

251 General CON29 Q3.13(a,b,c) N £4.80 Y £5.76 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

252 General CON29 Q3.14 N £3.60 Y £4.32 20% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

253 General CON29 Q3.15 (a,b) N £1.80 Y £3.60 100% Increased following cost neutral exercise November 
2021

254 General

Highways dataset includes:
2.1(a,b,c,d)

3.2
3.4 (a,b,c,d,e,f)

3.6 (a,b,c,d,e,f,g,h,i,j,k,l)
3.7 (e)
3.12.

N £24.90 Y £39.00 57%

New highways dataset to be referred to KCC.  KCC 
to charge £21 plus VAT per request. 

DDC fees for 2.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.6 previously £24.90. 
Increased to cover continuing DDC costs in 

answering 3.6 b & h and completing requests to 
KCC.

255 General CON29 Administration Fee plus Question 
fees N £0.00 N £0.00 0%

256 General Personal Search Land Charges Register Y £0.00 N £0.00 0%

£160,000 in 
total for Local 
Land Charges 

(LLC1 & 
CON29) 

£190,000 in 
total for Local 
Land Charges 

(LLC1 & 
CON29) 

Local Land Charges - R.Walton - L Jarrett - Cllr Kenton

43



APPENDIX 2.12

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Vatable?     
Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and 
other information

257 Guest Room Rental Rental of Guest Room in Sheltered 
Housing Blocks N

£20.50 for first 
night and then 

13.50 for 
subsequent 

nights

63 N £1,250

£21 for the first 
night and 

thereafter £15 
per night. 

63 £1,300 2.4%

258 Rent of Common Rooms Rental of Common Rooms in Sheltered 
Housing Blocks N £12.00 per hour 12 N £150 £12.40 per hour 12 £160 3.3% Income expected to drop from this as a consequence of 

Covid restrictions 

259 Keys Assa Keys for Communal Buildings N £26.00 60 Y £900 £27.00 60 £1,620 3.8% Uplift to reflect actual cost of service.  Potentially a drop in 
income because offices have been closed 

260 Leaseholders Solicitors enquiries from potential 
leaseholders N £120.00 25 Y £3,000 £126.00 30 £3,780 5.0% Housing market has been buoyant and additional 

enquiries are expected to flow from this 

261 Notice of Transfer Change of Leaseholder details N £85.00 30 N £2,550 £85.00 30 £2,550 0.0% Covers actual cost no increase 

262 Leaseholders
Extension of Lease - initial work on lease 
valuation extension and legal costs. Does 
not include costs of actual lease extension

N £675 1 N £675 £700 3 £2,100 3.7% Uplift to reflect actual cost of service 

263 Leaseholders Management Fee N £200 460 N £92,000 £205 455 £93,300 2.5% Uplift to reflect actual cost of service 

264 Retrospective Consent Retrospective consent from Housing to 
make alterations at Council Properties N £60 5 N £300 £100 5 £500 66.7% Uplift to reflect actual cost of service 

Housing - M. Davis - L. Taylor- Cllr Murphy

44



APPENDIX 2.13

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units/Comments Vatable?     
Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units/Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information

265 Finance Court Summons for Council Tax and 
Business Rates N £60 N £60 0.0%

266 Finance Liability Order for Council Tax and 
Business Rates N £50 N £50 0.0%

267 General Registration fee for Self-Build Register N Y N/A £30 £120 n/a Charges for verification of applications to the self-
build register and the provision of a web portal

268 General Renewal fee for Self-Build Register N Y N/A £15 £600 n/a Charges for checking of annual renewals  to the self-
build register and the provision of a web portal

Miscellaneous - M. Davis - H. Lamb - Cllr Murphy

Miscellaneous - M. Davis - H. Lamb - Cllr Vinson

£171,000 £294,000
Data from CIVICA has suggested that the increased 

income is due to a 'catch up' in prior year court 
summons.

45



APPENDIX 2.14

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Vatable?     
Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information

268 HMO Licensing Fee for Initial application for  HMO licence 
for  up to 8 habitable rooms. N £980

Fee for up to 8 habitable 
rooms.£100 reduction for 

accredited landlords
N £3,000 £1,010

Fee for up to 8 habitable 
rooms.£100 reduction for 

accredited landlords
£3,000 3.1% RPI  up lift only 

269 HMO Licensing  Additional fee for initial HMO licence  for 
any additional habitable rooms above 8. N £51 Fee for each habitable rooms   

above 8. N £400 £53 Fee for each habitable rooms   
above 8. £400 3.9% RPI  up lift only 

270 HMO Licensing 
Renewal

Application fee for HMO licence renewal 
for  up to 8 habitable  rooms. N £750

Fee for up to 8 habitable rooms . 
£100 reduction for accredited 

landlords
N £4,000 £773

Fee for up to 8 habitable rooms . 
£100 reduction for accredited 

landlords
£4,000 3.1% RPI  up lift only 

271 HMO Licensing 
Renewal

HMO licence renewal fee for any 
additional habitable rooms above 8. N £40 Fee for each habitable rooms   

above 8. N £400 £41 Fee for each habitable rooms   
above 8. £400 2.5% RPI  up lift only 

272 Housing Act Notices Improvement notice and Prohibition Order N £430 Charge for simple notice; Plus 
legal and specialist report costs. N £840 £443 Charge for simple notice; Plus 

legal and specialist report costs. £850 3.0% RPI  up lift only 

273 Housing Act Notices Improvement notice and Prohibition Order N £550 Charge for standard notice; Plus 
legal and specialist report costs. N £550 £567 Charge for standard notice; Plus 

legal and specialist report costs. £600 3.1% RPI  up lift only 

274 Housing Act Notices Improvement and Prohibition notice N £670 Charge for complex notice; Plus 
legal and specialist report costs. N £1,300 £690 Charge for complex notice; Plus 

legal and specialist report costs. £1,400 3.0% RPI  up lift only 

275 Housing Act Notices Suspended Improvement notice and 
Prohibition Order N £430

Same charge for Impovement 
notices above. Charge can be 
cancelled at PSHM discretion.  

£50 for annual review

N £430 £443

Same charge for Impovement 
notices above. Charge can be 
cancelled at PSHM discretion.  

£50 for annual review

£440 3.0% RPI  up lift only 

276 Housing Act Notices Emergency Remedial Action N £694 For each notice. Plus legal and 
specialist report costs. N £694 £715 For each notice. Plus legal and 

specialist report costs. £715 3.0% RPI  up lift only 

277 Housing Act Notices Demolition Order N £694 For each notice. Plus legal and 
specialist report costs. N £0 £715 For each notice. Plus legal and 

specialist report costs. £0 3.0% RPI  up lift only 

278 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Initial Licence fee N £51 For each pitch N £0 £53 For each pitch £0 3.9% RPI  up lift only 

279 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Annual licence fee N £10 For each pitch N £0 £10 For each pitch £0 0.0% No up lift

280 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Transfer of licence N £306 For each licence N £0 £315 For each licence £0 2.9% RPI  up lift only 

281 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Expansion fee N £204 For each expansion plus £10 for 

each additional unit N £0 £210 For each expansion plus £10 for 
each additional unit £0 2.9% RPI  up lift only 

282 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Fee for depositing rules N £30 Fee for depositing rules N £0 £31 Fee for depositing rules £0 3.3% Penalty fixed by legislation

283 Mobile Homes Act 2013 
licence Charge for notices N £275 For each notice. Plus legal and 

specialist report costs. N £0 £284 For each notice. Plus legal and 
specialist report costs. £0 3.3% Penalty fixed by legislation

284

The Smoke and Carbon 
Monoxide Alarm 

(England) Regulations 
2015

Penalty notice for each breach of 
requirement of letting agent or managing 

agent to belong to a redress scheme 
Max yes £1,500

£1500 for first offence; £3000 for 
second offence; £5000 for third 

and subsequent offence
N £0 £1,500

£1500 for first offence; £3000 for 
second offence; £5000 for third 

and subsequent offence
£0 0.0% Penalty fixed by legislation

285 Immigration inspection
Requests to inspect properties and 

provide report of suitability of property for  
immigration

N £140 For one property inspection Y £140 £145 For one property inspection £145 3.6% RPI  up lift only 

286 HMO pre application 
inspection 

By request inspection of potential HMO 
before application N Y £145 For one property inspection visit 

and  short report £290 n/a To recover cost of none statutory work 

287 HMO pre application 
consultation 

By request phone or video consultation 
concerning potential HMO before 

application 
N Y £75 Per hour or part thereof £375 n/a To recover cost of none statutory work

288
Financial Penalties 

under the Housing Act 
2004

Penalty is calculated from methodology 
contained in PSH enforcement policy. 

Max penalty £30,000
Max yes

N
For each offence £0 n/a

289

Financial Penalties 
under the (Redress 

Schemes for Lettings 
Agency Work and 

Property Manangement 
Work)

Penalty charge of £5,000 for not 
belonging to Redress Scheme

Max yes

N

For each offence £0 n/a

Private Sector Housing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

46



APPENDIX 2.14

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Vatable?     
Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Units Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
change

Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income 
and other information

290

Penalty Charge (The 
Smoke and Carbon 

Monoxide Alarm 
(England) Regulations 

2015) 

Financial penalty of up to £5,000 for not 
installing and maintaining smoke 

detectors. Max yes

N

£5,000 Max Penalty for each offence. £0 n/a

291

 Penalty Charge 
(Energy Efficiency 
(Private Rented 

Property) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 

2015)

Financial penalty of up to £5,000 for 
letting a property with an EPC below E

Max yes

N

£5,000 Max Penalty for each offence. £5,000 n/a

Private Sector Housing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

47



APPENDIX 3.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

1 Personal Licences Grant or Renewal Y £37 N £3,700 £37 £3,700 0.0%

2 Personal Licences Change of Name or Address Y £10.50 N £105.00 £10.50 £105.00 0.0%

3 Personal Licences Theft, Loss etc. Y £10.50 N £105.00 £10.50 £105.00 0.0%

4 Premises & Club 
Licences Theft, Loss etc. Y £10.50 N £21.00 £10.50 £21.00 0.0%

5 Premises & Club 
Licences Change of Name or Address Y £10.50 N £52.50 £10.50 £52.50 0.0%

6 Premises & Club 
Licences Change of Club Rules Y £10.50 N £0 £10.50 £0 0.0%

7 Premises & Club 
Licences Vary DPS Y £23 N £1,495 £23 £1,495 0.0%

8 Premises & Club 
Licences Transfer Licence Y £23 N £621 £23 £621 0.0%

9 Premises & Club 
Licences Interim Authority Y £23 N £0 £23 £0 0.0%

10 Premises & Club 
Licences Notification Interest Y £21 N £0 £21 £0 0.0%

11 Premises & Club 
Licences Provisional Statement Y £315 N £0 £315 £0 0.0%

12 Premises & Club 
Licences Minor Variation Y £89 N £534 £89 £534 0.0%

13 Premises & Club 
Licences

New Application & Variation
 NDR Band  A Y £100 N £500 £100 £500 0.0%

14 Premises & Club 
Licences

New Application & Variation
 NDR Band  B Y £190 N £2,850 £190 £2,850 0.0%

15 Premises & Club 
Licences

New Application & Variation
 NDR Band  C Y £315 N £315 £315 £315 0.0%

16 Premises & Club 
Licences

New Application & Variation
 NDR Band  D Y £450 N £0 £450 £0 0.0%

17 Premises & Club 
Licences

New Application & Variation
 NDR Band   E Y £635 N £0 £635 £0 0.0%

18 Premises & Club 
Licences

Annual Fee
 NDR Band  A Y £70 N £4,900 £70 £4,900 0.0%

19 Premises & Club 
Licences

Annual Fee
 NDR Band  B Y £180 N £53,460 £180 £53,460 0.0%

20 Premises & Club 
Licences

Annual Fee
 NDR Band  C Y £295 N £11,800 £295 £11,800 0.0%

21 Premises & Club 
Licences

Annual Fee
 NDR Band  D Y £320 N £2,240 £320 £2,240 0.0%

22 Premises & Club 
Licences

Annual Fee
 NDR Band  E Y £350 N £8,750 £350 £8,750 0.0%

23 Large Scale Events  
New Application & Variation. Number in 

Attendance at any one time: 5,000 to 
9,999

Y £1,000 N £0 £1,000 £0 0.0%

24 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 10,000 to 

14,999
Y £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

25 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 15,000 to 

19,999
Y £4,000 N £0 £4,000 £0 0.0%

26 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 20,000 to 

29,999
Y £8,000 N £0 £8,000 £0 0.0%

27 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 30,000 to 

39,999
Y £16,000 N £0 £16,000 £0 0.0%

28 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 40,000 to 

49,999
Y £24,000 N £0 £24,000 £0 0.0%

Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

        

48



APPENDIX 3.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments

Total 
Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

29 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 50,000 to 

59,999
Y £32,000 N £0 £32,000 £0 0.0%

30 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 60,000 to 

69,999
Y £40,000 N £0 £40,000 £0 0.0%

31 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 70,000 to 

79,999
Y £48,000 N £0 £48,000 £0 0.0%

32 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 80,000 to 

89,999
Y £56,000 N £0 £56,000 £0 0.0%

33 Large Scale Events
New Application & Variation. Number in 
Attendance at any one time: 90,000 and 

over
Y £64,000 N £0 £64,000 £0 0.0%

34 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 5,000 to 9,999 Y £500 N £0 £500 £0 0.0%

35 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 10,000 to 14,999 Y £1,000 N £0 £1,000 £0 0.0%

36 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 15,000 to 19,999 Y £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

37 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 20,000 to 29,999 Y £4,000 N £0 £4,000 £0 0.0%

38 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
30,000 to 39,999 Y £8,000 N £0 £8,000 £0 0.0%

39 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
40,000 to 49,999 Y £12,000 N £0 £12,000 £0 0.0%

40 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 50,000 to 59,999 Y £16,000 N £0 £16,000 £0 0.0%

41 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 60,000 to 69,999 Y £20,000 N £0 £20,000 £0 0.0%

42 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
 70,000 to 79,999 Y £24,000 N £0 £24,000 £0 0.0%

43 Large Scale Events Annual Fee
80,000 to 89,999 Y £28,000 N £0 £28,000 £0 0.0%

44 Large Scale Events Annual fee
90,000 and over Y £32,000 N £0 £32,000 £0 0.0%

45 Temporary Event 
Notices New Notice Y £21 N £8,925 £21 £8,925 0.0%

46 Temporary Event 
Notices Theft, Loss etc. Y £10.50 N £0.00 £10.50 £0.00 0.0%

47 Small Society Lotteries Registration Fee Y £40 N £480 £40 £480 0.0%

48 Small Society Lotteries Annual Fee Y £20 N £1,400 £20 £1,400 0.0%

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

Statutory Fee set by 
Government

49



APPENDIX 3.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income inc 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income inc 
VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

49 Bingo Club Licence Application N £3,500 N £0 £3,500 £0 0.0%

50 Bingo Club Annual Fee N £950 N £1,900 £950 £1,900 0.0%

51 Bingo Club Application to Vary N £1,750 N £0 £1,750 £0 0.0%

52 Bingo Club Application to Transfer N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

53 Bingo Club Application for Reinstatement N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

54 Bingo Club Application for Provisional Statement N £3,500 N £0 £3,500 £0 0.0%

55 Bingo Club Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

56 Bingo Club Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

57 Bingo Club Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

58 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Licence Application N £3,000 N £0 £3,000 £0 0.0%

59 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Annual Fee N £575 N £5,175 £575 £5,175 0.0%

60 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Application to Vary N £1,250 N £0 £1,250 £0 0.0%

61 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Application to Transfer N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

62 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Application for Reinstatement N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

63 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Application for Provisional Statement N £3,000 N £0 £3,000 £0 0.0%

64 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks)

Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

65 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

66 Betting Premise
 (excluding Tracks) Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

67 Track Licence Application N £2,500 N £0 £2,500 £0 0.0%

68 Track Annual Fee N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

69 Track Application to Vary N £1,250 N £0 £1,250 £0 0.0%

70 Track Application to Transfer N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

50



APPENDIX 3.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income inc 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income inc 
VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

71 Track Application for Reinstatement N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

72 Track Application for Provisional Statement N £2,500 N £0 £2,500 £0 0.0%

73 Track Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

74 Track Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

75 Track Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

76 Family Entertainment 
Centre Licence Application N £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

77 Family Entertainment 
Centre Annual Fee N £725 N £2,175 £725 £2,175 0.0%

78 Family Entertainment 
Centre Application to Vary N £1,000 N £0 £1,000 £0 0.0%

79 Family Entertainment 
Centre Application to Transfer N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

80 Family Entertainment 
Centre Application for Reinstatement N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

81 Family Entertainment 
Centre Application for Provisional Statement N £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

82 Family Entertainment 
Centre

Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £950 N £0 £950 £0 0.0%

83 Family Entertainment 
Centre Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

84 Family Entertainment 
Centre Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

85 Adult Gaming Centre Licence Application N £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

86 Adult Gaming Centre Annual Fee N £950 N £5,700 £950 £5,700 0.0%

87 Adult Gaming Centre Application to Vary N £1,000 N £0 £1,000 £0 0.0%

88 Adult Gaming Centre Application to Transfer N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

89 Adult Gaming Centre Application for Reinstatement N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

90 Adult Gaming Centre Application for Provisional Statement N £2,000 N £0 £2,000 £0 0.0%

91 Adult Gaming Centre Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £1,200 N £0 £1,200 £0 0.0%

92 Adult Gaming Centre Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

51



APPENDIX 3.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income inc 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income inc 
VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

93 Adult Gaming Centre Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

94 New Small Casino Licence Application N £8,000 £0 £8,000 £0 0.0%

95 New Small Casino Annual Fee N £5,000 N £0 £5,000 £0 0.0%

96 New Small Casino Application to Vary N £4,000 N £0 £4,000 £0 0.0%

97 New Small Casino Application to Transfer N £1,800 N £0 £1,800 £0 0.0%

98 New Small Casino Application for Reinstatement N £1,800 N £0 £1,800 £0 0.0%

99 New Small Casino Application for Provisional Statement N £8,000 N £0 £8,000 £0 0.0%

100 New Small Casino Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £3,000 N £0 £3,000 £0 0.0%

101 New Small Casino Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

102 New Small Casino Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

103 New Large Casino Licence Application N £10,000 N £0 £10,000 £0 0.0%

104 New Large Casino Annual Fee N £10,000 N £0 £10,000 £0 0.0%

105 New Large Casino Application to Vary N £5,000 N £0 £5,000 £0 0.0%

106 New Large Casino Application to Transfer N £2,150 N £0 £2,150 £0 0.0%

107 New Large Casino Application for Reinstatement N £2,150 N £0 £2,150 £0 0.0%

108 New Large Casino Application for Provisional Statement N £10,000 N £0 £10,000 £0 0.0%

109 New Large Casino Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £5,000 N £0 £5,000 £0 0.0%

110 New Large Casino Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

111 New Large Casino Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

112 Regional Casino Licence Application N £15,000 N £0 £15,000 £0 0.0%

113 Regional Casino Annual Fee N £15,000 N £0 £15,000 £0 0.0%

114 Regional Casino Application to Vary N £7,500 N £0 £7,500 £0 0.0%

115 Regional Casino Application to Transfer N £6,500 N £0 £6,500 £0 0.0%

116 Regional Casino Application for Reinstatement N £6,500 N £0 £6,500 £0 0.0%

117 Regional Casino Application for Provisional Statement N £15,000 N £0 £15,000 £0 0.0%

52



APPENDIX 3.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income inc 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income inc 
VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

118 Regional Casino Licence Application
 (Provisional Statement Holders) N £8,000 N £0 £8,000 £0 0.0%

119 Regional Casino Copy of Licence N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0.0%

120 Regional Casino Notification of Change N £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

121 Temporary Use Notice Application Fee Y £500 N £0 £500 £0 0.0%

122 Alcohol Licences 
Premises

Permit Application Fee
 (2 or less Machines) Y £50 N £150 £50 £150 0.0%

123 Alcohol Licences 
Premises

Permit Application Fee
 (3+ Machines) Y £150 N £0 £150 £0 0.0%

124 Alcohol Licences 
Premises

Permit Annual Fee
 (3+ Machines) Y £50 N £200 £50 £200 0.0%

125 Family Entertainment 
Centre Unlicensed Permit Application Fee Y £300 N £0 £300 £0 0.0%

126 Family Entertainment 
Centre Unlicensed

Permit Renewal Fee                          
(Permits last for a period of 10 years) Y £300 Permits last for a period of 10 

years N £0 £300 Permits last for a period of 10 
years £0 0.0%

127 Prize Gaming Permit Application Fee Y £300 N £0 £300 £0 0.0%

128 Prize Gaming Permit Renewal Fee Y £300 N £0 £300 £0 0.0%

129 Club Gaming Permit Application Fee Y £200 N £0 £200 £0 0.0%

130 Club Gaming Permit Annual Fee Y £50 N £50 £50 £50 0.0%

131 Club Gaming Permit Renewal Fee
 (due every 10 years) Y £200 N £0 £200 £0 0.0%

132 Club Gaming  Machine Permit Application Fee Y £200 N £0 £200 £0 0.0%

133 Club Gaming  Machine Permit Annual Fee Y £50 N £250 £50 £250 0.0%

134 Club Gaming  Machine Permit Renewal Fee Y £200 N £0 £200 £0 0.0%

135

Club Fast-track for 
Gaming  Permit or 
Gaming  Machine 

Permit

Permit Application Fee Y £100 N £0 £100 £0 0.0%

136

Club Fast-track for 
Gaming  Permit or 
Gaming  Machine 

Permit

Permit Annual Fee Y £50 N £0 £50 £0 0.0%

137 Gaming Machine 
Permit Annual Fee Y £100 N £0 £100 £0 0.0%

138 Provision of Gambling Copy Licence Y £0 N £0 £0 £0 0.0%

53



APPENDIX 3.2

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable    

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income inc 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income inc 
VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

139 Provision of Gambling Notification of Change Y £0 N £0 £0 £0 0.0%

54



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

1 Acupuncture Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

2 Acupuncture Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

3 Acupuncture Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

4 Cosmetic Piercing Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

5 Cosmetic Piercing Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

6 Cosmetic Piercing Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

7 Ear Piercing Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

8 Ear Piercing Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

9 Ear Piercing Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

10 Electrolysis Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

11 Electrolysis Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

12 Electrolysis Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

13 Semi-permanent Skin-
colouring Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

14 Semi-permanent Skin-
colouring Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

15 Semi-permanent Skin-
colouring Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

16 Tattooing Premise Registration N £205 N £205 0%

17 Tattooing Additional Practitioner N £90 N £90 0%

18 Tattooing Minor Variation N £50 N £50 0%

 Regulatory Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

£1,500 £1,500

55



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

19 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (new 
application 1 or 2 stars))                                        N £402

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £164 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £402

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £164 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

20 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (new 
application 3 or 4 stars)                                        N £484

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £246 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £484

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £246 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

21 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (new 
application 5 stars)                                        N £558

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £320 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £558

NOTE: £238 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £320 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

22 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (renewal 1 or 
2 stars) N £336 N £336

NOTE: £172 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £164 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

23 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (renewal 3 or 
4 stars) N £418 N £418

NOTE: £172 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £246 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

24 Animal Licensing Boarding Establishments (renewal 5 
stars) N £492 N £492

NOTE: £172 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £320 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

25 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (new application 1 or 2 
stars)        N £339

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £106 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £339

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £106 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

26 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (new application 3 or 4 
stars)        N £425

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £192 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £425

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £192 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

27 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (new application 5 
stars)        N £473

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £240 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £473

NOTE: £233 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £240 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

28 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (renewal 1 or 2 stars) N £278 N £278

NOTE: £171 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £107 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation.

0%

29 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (renewal 3 or 4 stars) N £363 N £363

NOTE: £171 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £192 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation.

0%

30 Animal Licensing Home Boarding (renewal 5 stars) N £411 N £411

NOTE: £171 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £240 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation.

0%

£4,328 £4,328

£0 £0

56



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

31 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (New 
application 1 or 2 Stars)                                        N £509

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £277 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £232 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £509

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £277 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £232 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

32 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (New 
application 3 or 4 Stars)      N £625

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £277 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £348 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £625

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £277 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £348 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

33 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (New 
application 5 Stars)      N £730

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £186 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £129 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £730

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £186 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £129 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

34 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (renewal 
1 or 2 stars) N £411 N £411

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £179 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £232 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

35 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (renewal 
3 or 4 stars) N £527 N £527

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £179 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £348 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

36 Animal Licensing Dog Breeding Establishments (renewal 
5 stars) N £632 N £632

Plus vet fees. NOTE: £179 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £453 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

37 Animal Licensing Dangerous Wild Animals (new 
application)                                        N £250

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £182 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £68 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £250

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £182 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £68 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

38 Animal Licensing Dangerous Wild Animals (renewal) 
(every 2 years) N £211 Plus Vet fees £211

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £182 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £29 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

£2,108 £2,108

£0 £0

57



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

39 Animal Licensing Performing Animals  (Exhibition of 
animals) (new application)                         N £515

New legislation requires 3 yearly 
licensing. Plus Vet fees. NOTE: 

£288 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £227 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £0 £515

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £288 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £227 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

£0 0%

40 Animal Licensing Performing Animals  (Exhibition of 
animals) (renewal application)                         N N £452

Plus Vet Fees. NOTE: £225 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £227 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation.

New fee to differentiate between new and renewals

41 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets (new 
application 1 or 2 stars)                                       N £488

Re-titled - Selling of Animals as 
Pets. Plus vet fees (initial visit). 

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£268 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £220 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

N £488

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£268 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £220 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

42 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets  (new 
application 3 or 4 stars)                                       N £598

Re-titled - Selling of Animals as 
Pets. Plus vet fees (initial visit). 

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£268 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £330 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

N £598

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£246 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £331 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

43 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets  (new 
application 5 stars)                                       N £698

Re-titled - Selling of Animals as 
Pets. Plus vet fees (initial visit). 

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£268 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £430 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

N £698

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£246 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £430 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

44 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets  (renewal 1 
or 2 stars) N £466 N £466

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£246 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £220 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

45 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets  (renewal 3 
or 4 stars) N £577 N £577

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£246 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £331 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

£1,253 £1,253

58



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

46 Animal Licensing Selling of Animals as Pets ) (renewal 5 
stars) N £676 N £676

Plus vet fees (initial visit). NOTE: 
£246 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a 
further £430 is due if application is 

approved to cover regulation. 

0%

47 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses (New application 1 
or 2 stars)                                              N £590

Re-titled - Hiring out of Horses. 
Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £215 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £590

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £215 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

48 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses (New application 3 
or 4 stars)                                              N £740

Re-titled - Hiring out of Horses. 
Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £365 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £740

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £365 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

49 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses  (New application 
5 stars)                                              N £891

Re-titled - Hiring out of Horses. 
Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £516 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £891

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £375 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £516 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

50 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses ) (renewal 1 or 2 
stars) N £476 Plus Vet fees. N £476

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £261 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £215 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

51 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses  (renewal 3 or 4 
stars) N £626 Plus Vet fees. N £626

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £261 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £365 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

52 Animal Licensing Hiring out of Horses  (renewal 5 stars) N £777 Plus Vet fees. N £777

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £261 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £516 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

53 Animal Licensing Zoos (new application)                     N £888

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £755 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £133 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

N £888

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £755 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £133 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

£777£777

59



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

54 Animal Licensing Zoos (renewal) (every 6 years) N £719 £719

Plus Vet fees. NOTE: £600 Non 
refundable to be submitted with 

application, a further £119 is due if 
application is approved to cover 

regulation. 

0%

55 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(New application 1 or 2 stars) N £297

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £199 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £297

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £199 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

56 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(New application 3 or 4 stars) N £396

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £298 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £396

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £298 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

57 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(New application 5 stars) N £486

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £388 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £486

NOTE: £98 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £388 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

58 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
Renewal 1 or 2 stars) N £290 N £290

NOTE: £90 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £200 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

59 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(Renewal 3 or 4 stars) N £389 N £389

NOTE: £90 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £299 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

60 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(Renewal 5 stars) N £479 N £479

NOTE: £90 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £407 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

0%

61 Animal Licensing Arranging Provision of Home Boarding 
(Additional cost per host) N £94 N £94 0%

62 Animal Licensing Replacement Licence N £15 N £0 £15 £0 0%

63 Animal Licensing Minor variation N £25 N £0 £25 £0 0%

64 Animal Licensing Full variation N £166 N £0 £166 £0 0%

65 Animal Licensing Re-rate N £127 N £0 £127 £0 0%

66 Animal Licensing Additional Activities N £50

If more than one activity is applied 
for, applicant will pay full amount 
for most expensive activity and 

£50 for each subsequent activity.

£100 New fee

£0 £0

£0£0

60



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

67 Street Trading Consent

Grant £302 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a further 
£192 is due if application is approved 

to cover regulation.

N £494

£302 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £192 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation.

N £494

£302 Non refundable to be 
submitted with application, a 

further £192 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation.

0%

68 Street Trading Consent Annual renewal N £229 N £229 0%

69 Street Trading Consent Occasional N £130 N £0 £130 £0 0%

70 Street Trading Consent
Occasional Street Market                     

Up to 25 stalls then £10 per stall 
thereafter

N £200 Up to 25 stalls then £10 per stall 
thereafter N £1,000 £200 Up to 25 stalls then £10 per stall 

thereafter £1,000 0%

71 Street Trading Consent Tables & Chairs (New) N £75 New & Variation Applications N £150 £75 New & Variation Applications £150 0%

72 Street Trading Consent  Tables & Chairs (Renewal) N £35  Renewal N £770 £35  Renewal £770 0%

73 Sexual Entertainment 
Venue

Grant NOTE: £2167 Non refundable to 
be submitted with application, a further 
£1083 is due if application is approved 

to cover regulation. 

N £3,250

NOTE: £2167 Non refundable to 
be submitted with application, a 

further £1083 is due if application 
is approved to cover regulation. 

N £0 £3,250

NOTE: £2167 Non refundable to 
be submitted with application, a 

further £1083 is due if application 
is approved to cover regulation. 

£0 0%

74 Sexual Entertainment 
Venue

Renewal, Transfer or Variation        
NOTE: £1484 Non refundable to be 

submitted with application, a further 
£741 is due if application is approved 

to cover regulation. 

N £2,225

NOTE: £1484 Non refundable to 
be submitted with application, a 

further £741 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

N £0 £2,225

NOTE: £1484 Non refundable to 
be submitted with application, a 

further £741 is due if application is 
approved to cover regulation. 

£0 0%

75 Boat Licence Grant N £158 N £0 £158 £0 0%

76 Boat Licence Renewal or Transfer N £135 N £0 £135 £0 0%

£916 £916

61



APPENDIX 4.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative Set by 
Govt? Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Fee % 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

77 Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence Grant N £490 N £0 £490 £0 0%

78 Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence Variation (Change of name 
and address) N £16 N £0 £16 £0 0%

79 Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence Variation (Change of 
Manager) N £95 N £0 £95 £0 0%

80 Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence Replacement licence N £15 N £0 £15 £0 0%

81 Scrap Metal Dealer Site Licence Renewal N £475 Every 3 years. N £950 £475 Every 3 years. £950 0%

82 Scrap Metal Dealer Collectors Licence Grant N £280 N £0 £280 £0 0%

83 Scrap Metal Dealer Collectors Licence Variation (Change 
of name/address) N £16 N £0 £16 £0 0%

84 Scrap Metal Dealer Collectors Licence Variation (Change 
of Vehicle) N £28 N £0 £28 £0 0%

85 Scrap Metal Dealer Collectors Licence Replacement 
licence N £15 N £0 £15 £0 0%

86 Scrap Metal Dealer Collectors Licence Renewal N £272 Every 3 years N £0 £272 Every 3 years £0 0%

62



Fees and Charges 2022/23

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income ex 
VAT

% 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

1 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire                  

Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Annual Licence

 (Grant and Renewal)
N £327 If vehicle is wheelchair accessible 

there is a 10% reduction in fee N £22,563 £327 If vehicle is wheelchair accessible 
there is a 25% reduction in fee £22,563 0% Further reduction for wheelchair accessible as there 

is a shortage of such vehicles within the District

2 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire  

Electric/Hybrid Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle Annual Licence

 (Grant and Renewal)
N £245

If vehicle is wheelchair accessible 
there is a further 25% reduction in 

fee
£0 NEW 

FEE
NEW FEE Reduction of 25% for fully electric or 

hybrid vehicles as an incentive

3 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire                  

Private Hire Vehicle Annual 
Licence

 (Grant and Renewal)
No part of this fee is refundable 
in the event that the application 
is not approved or the vehicle is 

delicensed for any reason 
during the licence period. 

N £259

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the vehicle is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the licence period. If vehicle is 
wheelchair accessible there is a 

10% reduction in fee.

N £28,490 £259

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the vehicle is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the licence period. If vehicle is 
wheelchair accessible there is a 

25% reduction in fee.

£28,490 0% Further reduction for wheelchair accessible as there 
is a shortage of such vehicles within the District

4 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Electric/Hybrid Private Hire 
Vehicle Annual Licence
 (Grant and Renewal)

N £194
If vehicle is wheelchair accessible 
there is a further 25% reduction in 

fee
£388 NEW 

FEE
NEW FEE Reduction of 25% for fully electric or 

hybrid vehicles as an incentive

5 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Licence Transfer Following 
Change of Vehicle N £54 N £54 0%

6 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Temporary vehicle transfer N £34 N £34 0%

7 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Change of Vehicle ownership N £42 N £42 £21 £42 -50% Error in column 2021/22

8 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Joint Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire Driver: 1 year 

(Grant)                                       
No part of this fee is refundable 
in the event that the application 
is not approved or the driver is 

delicensed for any reason 
during the Licence period.

N £124

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the driver is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the Licence period.

N £124

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the driver is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the Licence period.

0%

Regulatory Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

£3,000 £3,000

Regulatory Committee Appendix 4

63



Fees and Charges 2022/23

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income ex 
VAT

% 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

Regulatory Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

9 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Joint Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire Driver: 1 year 

(Renewal)                                   
No part of this fee is refundable 
in the event that the application 
is not approved or the driver is 

delicensed for any reason 
during the Licence period.

N £110

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the driver is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the Licence period.

N £110

No part of this fee is refundable in 
the event that the application is not 

approved or the driver is 
delicensed for any reason during 

the Licence period.

0%

10 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Joint Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire Driver: 3 year 

(Grant)
The first year (£124) is non 

refundable in the event that the 
application is not approved or 
the driver is delicensed for any 

reason during the Licence 
period. Any further refunds will 
be dealt with on a case by case 

basis.

N £293

The first year (£124) is non 
refundable in the event that the 

application is not approved or the 
driver is delicensed for any reason 

during the Licence period. Any 
further refunds will be dealt with on 

a case by case basis.

N £293

The first year (£124) is non 
refundable in the event that the 

application is not approved or the 
driver is delicensed for any reason 

during the Licence period. Any 
further refunds will be dealt with on 

a case by case basis.

0%

11 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Joint Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire Driver: 3 year 

(Renewal)                                                  
The first year (£110) is non 

refundable in the event that the 
application is not approved or 
the driver is delicensed for any 

reason during the Licence 
period. Any further refunds will 
be dealt with on a case by case 

basis.

N £279

The first year (£110) is non 
refundable in the event that the 

application is not approved or the 
driver is delicensed for any reason 

during the Licence period. Any 
further refunds will be dealt with on 

a case by case basis.

N £279

The first year (£110) is non 
refundable in the event that the 

application is not approved or the 
driver is delicensed for any reason 

during the Licence period. Any 
further refunds will be dealt with on 

a case by case basis.

0%

12 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

DBS Disclosure
 (formerly CRB) N £40 Fee set externally. New drivers + 

every 3 years for renewals N £4,520 £40 Fee set externally. New drivers + 
every 3 years for renewals £4,520 0% Fee set by Disclosure and Barring service

13 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Overseas Driver Licence Check N £10 £10 £10 £10

14 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Vehicle Plate N £17 Per plate N £34 £17 Per plate £34 0%

15 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Vehicle Plate holder N £15 Per holder N £150 £15 Per holder £150 0%

£15,290 £15,290

Regulatory Committee Appendix 4

64



Fees and Charges 2022/23

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income ex 
VAT

% 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

Regulatory Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

16 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only 

 (not Hackney) (1 year 
Licence) 1 to 5 vehicles                                                 

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 
part of this fee is refundable in 

any the event. 

N £90

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 

part of this fee is refundable in any 
the event. 

N £90

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No part 
of this fee is refundable in any the 

event. 

0%

17 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only 

 (not Hackney) (1 year 
Licence) 6 to 10 vehicles                          

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 
part of this fee is refundable in 

any the event. 

N £144

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 

part of this fee is refundable in any 
the event. 

N £144

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No part 
of this fee is refundable in any the 

event. 

0%

18 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only 

 (not Hackney) (1 year 
Licence) Over 10 vehicles                         

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 
part of this fee is refundable in 

any the event. 

N £197

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No 

part of this fee is refundable in any 
the event. 

N £197

1 year licence only available in 
exceptional circumstances. No part 
of this fee is refundable in any the 

event. 

0%

19 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only

 (not Hackney) (Licence lasts 
5 years) 1 to 5 vehicles       

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£90) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years 
if the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

N £364

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£90) is non refundable in any 
event. Refunds will be considered 
in subsequent years if the licenced 
is surrendered or revoked during 

the period of the licence.

N £364

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£90) is non refundable in any 
event. Refunds will be considered 
in subsequent years if the licenced 
is surrendered or revoked during 

the period of the licence.

0%

20 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only

 (not Hackney) (Licence lasts 
5 years) 6 to 10 vehicles      

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£144) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years 
if the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

N £631

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£144) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years if 

the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

N £631

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£144) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years if 

the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

0%

£648 £648

Regulatory Committee Appendix 4

65



Fees and Charges 2022/23

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Approved 
Charges inc 

VAT
Comments Vatable     

Y/N

Total Expected 
Income ex 

VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 
VAT (where 
applicable)

Comments
Total Expected 

Income ex 
VAT

% 
Change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or Income

Regulatory Licensing - M. Davis - D. Croucher - Cllr Bates

21 Private Hire Operator

Operators Licence for PH 
Vehicles Only

 (not Hackney) (Licence lasts 
5 years) 11 or more vehicles    
Licence lasts 5 years. The first 

year (£197) is non refundable in 
any event. Refunds will be 

considered in subsequent years 
if the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence. 

N £898

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£197) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years if 

the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

N £898

Licence lasts 5 years. The first 
year (£197) is non refundable in 

any event. Refunds will be 
considered in subsequent years if 

the licenced is surrendered or 
revoked during the period of the 

licence.

0%

22 Private Hire Operator Variation to Operators Licence 
(within band) for PH Vehicles N £30.00 N £30.00 0%

23 Private Hire Operator

Variation to Operators 
Licence (outside of band) for 

PH Vehicles                                   
The additional charge for the 

new band will also be payable.

N £30.00 The additional charge for the new 
band will also be payable. N £30.00 The additional charge for the new 

band will also be payable. 0%

24 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire

Replacement of licence or 
badge

N £10.50
N

£42 £10.50 £42
0%

25 Hackney Carriage & 
Private Hire Knowledge test re-sit fee

N £35.00
N

£0 £35.00 £0
0%

£0.00 £0.00

Regulatory Committee Appendix 4

66



APPENDIX 5.1

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23

Detail Narrative
Set by 
Govt? 

Y/N

Charges inc 
VAT Units / Comments Vatable?     

Y/N
Total Expected 
Income ex VAT

Proposed 
Charges inc 

VAT
Units / Comments Total Expected 

Income ex VAT
Fee % 

change Reasons for Change in Charges and/or income and other information

1 General

Section 52 Agreements, Section 106 
Agreements, Tree Preservation Orders 

and Article 4 Directions and Enforcement 
Notices

N £5.00 Y £5.00 0.0%

2 General

Plans submitted with planning applications 
or accompanying other planning 

documents and other miscellaneous 
photocopying

N £0.10 A4 N £0.10 0.0%

3 General

Plans submitted with planning applications 
or accompanying other planning 

documents and other miscellaneous 
photocopying

N £0.20 A3 N £0.20 0.0%

4 General

Plans submitted with planning applications 
or accompanying other planning 

documents and other miscellaneous 
photocopying

N £5.00 Over A3 N £5.00 0.0%

5 General Research on Planning Histories, Permitted 
Development Rights and Use classes N £35.00 Per request Y £35.00 0.0%

6 General
Planning Application Fees

(see Appendix 5.2 - A Guide to the Fees 
for Planning Applications in England)

Y See Appendix 
5.2 N £840,000 See Appendix 

5.2 £900,000 n/a

7 General Pre-application advice
(see Appendix 5.3) N See Appendix 

5.3  Y £75,000 See Appendix 
5.3 £75, 000 n/a

8 General Details pursuant to conditions. (see 
Appendix 5.2 page 9) Y See Appendix 

5.2 Y See Appendix 
5.2 n/a

9 General Advice on compliance of conditions 
information (see Appendix 5.2) N £116.00 Y £116.00 0.0%

10 General S.106 Monitoring Fee N

£280 (per 
trigger) or 

negotiated for 
more complex 

cases

Y £6,900

236 (per trigger) 
or negotiated 

for more 
complex cases

£7, 000 -18.6%

Planning - R Walton - L Jarrett - Cllr Kenton

£750.00 £500.00

£20,000 £10, 000

67



1 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England 
 
These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards. 
 
This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended) 
 
The fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. If you are unsure of the fee 
applicable, please contact your Local Planning Authority. 
 
Outline Applications 
£462 per 0.1 hectare for sites up to and 
including 2.5 hectares 

Not more than 2.5 
hectares 

£462 per 0.1 hectare 

£11,432 + £138 for each 0.1 in excess of 
2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000 

More than 2.5 
hectares 

£11,432 + £138 per 0.1 
hectare 

 
Householder Applications 
Alterations/extensions to a single 
dwellinghouse, including works within 
boundary 

Single 
dwellinghouse 

£206 

 
Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
Alterations/extensions to two or more 
dwellinghouses, including works within 
boundaries 

Two or more 
dwellinghouses (or 
two or more flats)  

£407 

New dwellinghouses (up to and 
including 50) 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(not more than 50) 

£462 per dwellinghouse 

New dwellinghouses (for more than 50) 
£22,859 + £138 per additional 
dwellinghouse in excess of 50 up to a 
maximum fee of £300,000 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(more than 50) 

£22,859 + £138 per 
additional dwellinghouse 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

68

    Appendix 5.2



2 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses, agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor machinery): 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

No increase in 
gross floor space 
or no more than 
40 sq m 

£234 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 40 sq m 
but no more than  
75 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 75 sq m 
but no more than  
3,750 sq m 

£462 for each 75sq m or 
part thereof 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 3,750 
sq m 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional 75 sq m in excess 
of 3,750 sq m to a 
maximum of £300,000 

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m but not more 
than 540 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 540 sq 
m but not more 
than 4,215 sq m 

£462 for first 540 sq m + 
£462 for each 75 sq m (or 
part thereof) in excess of 
540 sq m 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 4,215 
sq m   

£22,859 + £138 for each 75 
sq m (or part thereof) in 
excess of 4,215 sq m up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

69



3 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of agriculture) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m  

£2,580 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery 
Site area Not more than 5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 5 
hectares 

£22,859 + additional £138 
for each 0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 5 
hectares to a maximum of 
£300,000 

 
Applications other than Building Works 
Car parks, service roads or other 
accesses 

For existing uses £234 

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material remaining 
after extraction or storage of minerals) 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + £138 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part thereof) in 
excess of 15 hectares up to 
a  maximum of £78,000 

Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas 
Site area Not more than 7.5 

hectares 
£508 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 7.5 
hectares 

£38,070  + additional £151 
for each 0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 7.5 
hectares up to a maximum 
of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

70



4 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Applications other than Building Works continued… 
Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or 
natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£257 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£38,520 + additional £151 
for each 0.1 in excess of 15 
hectare up to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + additional £138 
for each 0.1 in excess of 15 
hectare up to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (not coming within any of the above categories) 
Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) up to a 
maximum of £2,028 

 
Lawful Development Certificate  
Existing use or operation Same as Full 
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 
condition or limitation   

£234   

Proposed use or operation Half the normal planning 
fee. 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

71



5 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Prior Approval  
Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations or demolition 
of buildings 

£96 

Communications (previously referred to as 
‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’) 

£462 

Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered 
Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
State-Funded School or Registered Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a flexible 
use within Shops, Financial and Professional services, 
Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution, 
Hotels, or Assembly or Leisure 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class 
B1) Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse) 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), where there are no Associated 
Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building 
Operations 

£206 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there are 
no Associated Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from 
Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class B8) and any land 
within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

72



6 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Prior Approval continued… 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3), 
and  Associated Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1) and Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 
Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development Consisting 
of the Erection or Construction of a Collection Facility within 
the Curtilage of a Shop 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Temporary Use of 
Buildings or Land for the Purpose of Commercial Film-Making 
and the Associated Temporary Structures, Works, Plant or 
Machinery required in Connection with that Use 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Installation, Alteration 
or Replacement of other Solar Photovoltaics (PV) equipment 
on the Roofs of Non-domestic Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 
Megawatt 

£96 

 
Reserved Matters 
Application for approval of reserved matters following outline 
approval 

Full fee due or if full fee 
already paid then £462 due 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

73



7 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Approval/Variation/discharge of condition 
Application for removal or variation of a condition following 
grant of planning permission 

£234 

Request for confirmation that one or more planning 
conditions have been complied with 

£34 per request for  
Householder otherwise 
£116 per request 

 
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate dwellinghouses, or 
other cases 
Number of dwellinghouses Not more than 50  

dwellinghouses 
£462 for each 

Number of dwellinghouses More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for each in 
excess of 50 up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462 
 
Advertising  
Relating to the business on the premises £132 
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 
the site, directing the public to a business 

£132 

Other advertisements £462 
 
Application for a Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning 
Permission  
Applications in respect of householder developments £34 
Applications in respect of other developments £234 
 
Application for Permission in Principle (valid from 1 June 2018) 
Site area £402 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) 
 
Continued on next page… 
  

74



8 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Concessions 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment 
An application solely for the alteration or extension of an existing dwellinghouse; or works in 
the curtilage of an existing dwellinghouse (other than the erection of a dwellinghouse) for 
the purpose of providing: 
• Means of access to or within it for a disabled person who is resident in it, or is proposing 

to take up residence in it; or 
• Facilities designed to secure that person's greater safety, health or comfort. 
An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing a 
means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which members 
of the public are admitted. 
Listed Building Consent 
Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 
Hedgerow Removal 
If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same character 
or description on the same site by the same applicant: 
• For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date the application was received 
• For a determined application: Within 12 months of the date the application was granted, 

refused or an appeal dismissed 
• For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-determination: 

Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a decision on the earlier valid 
application expired 

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an 
application for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from the 
need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a withdrawal of 
an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the application is made 
following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the application is 
made by or on behalf of the same person 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction 
under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent under Regulation 
6 to the advertisement in question  
 If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in 
order to benefit from the permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) 
 
Continued on next page… 

75



9 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Concessions continued… 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment continued… 
If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed Building 
Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building 
Prior Approval for a Proposed Larger Home Extension 
Reductions to payments 
If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works for 
playing fields not involving buildings then the fee is £462 
If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee is 
50% 
If the application is an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the same 
applicant on the same day, where this application is of lesser cost then the fee is 50% 
In respect of reserved matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would be 
payable at current rates for approval of all the reserved matters.  If this amount has already 
been paid then the fee is £462 
If the application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed use or development, 
then the fee is 50% 
If two or more applications are submitted for different proposals on the same day and 
relating to the same site then you must pay the fee for the highest fee plus half sum of the 
others 
Where an application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the Planning 
Portal fee calculator will only calculate a cross boundary application fee as 150% of the fee 
that would have been payable if there had only been one application to a single authority 
covering the entire site.  
 
If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part of the 
site are calculated separately, you will need to contact the lead local authority to discuss the 
fee for this divided site. 
 
The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site. 
 
ENDS 

76



APPENDIX 5.3 
Pre-Application Advice 

Why seek advice? 
 
Whether you are a developer of a large scheme or a householder wishing to improve your home, it is 
advisable to seek advice before submitting your planning application. We can let you know whether 
your proposals are supported by planning policy and whether there are any issues that may prevent 
planning permission being granted. 
 
Basic, free of charge advice on the planning process is available by visiting the main Council Offices at 
Whitfield or over the telephone. Useful guidance can also be found on the Planning Portal  If you 
would prefer a specific review of your proposals and detailed guidance on the application process, we 
recommend that you obtain formal pre-application advice. This is a charged-for service and is available 
for any scale of development. We are happy to provide advice at any time, whether it is just a 
discussion on some initial ideas or a review of more detailed plans. 
 
Seeking our advice gives you an opportunity to understand how local and national policies will be 
applied to your development. We will identify at an early stage where there is a need for specialist 
input, for example about: 

 Heritage assets (including listed buildings and conservation areas) 
 Trees 
 Landscape 
 Noise 
 Transport 
 Contaminated land 
 Ecology 
 Flood risk 
 Archaeology 

 
We will assist you in preparing proposals for formal submission which, providing you have taken our 
advice fully into account, will be handled more smoothly and may lead to a reduction in time spent by 
your professional advisors in preparing proposals.  Amendments or alternative forms of development 
may be suggested if a proposal is unlikely to be acceptable. 
 
You can use the service just once or you may find it beneficial to obtain advice throughout the 
evolution of your scheme. 

Our charges  
 
We have established a menu of charging to reflect the size and complexity of particular schemes. 
Hopefully your scheme will fit into these categories, but if not, do contact us for a quote. 
 

Charge 
Written 

£ 
 Written + Meeting 

£ 

Householder 140 200  

1-4 dwellings 400  650  

1-4 dwellings follow up advice* 200  350  

5-9 dwellings 700  1000  

77

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/


Charge 
Written 

£ 
 Written + Meeting 

£ 

5-9 dwellings follow up advice* 350  600  

10-49 dwellings -  3000  

10-49 dwellings follow up advice* 500  1200  

50+ dwellings -  5000  

50+ dwellings follow up advice* 1000  2500  

Commercial up to 250m²  175  320  

Commercial up to 500m² 300  500  

Follow up advice* 100  200  

Commercial up to 1000m² -  1200  

Follow up advice* 200  400  

Commercial over 1000m² -  1200+500 per 500m² 

Follow up advice* 400   600 

Listed Building Advice 220 350  

Charities and Parish Councils 
Half the applicable fee (NB. Non-residential floorspace  
is based on the Commercial fee rate) 

Highways Kent Highways DevelopmentPlanningEast@kent.gov.uk 

Surface Water/Suds KCC Coastal/River suds@kent.gov.uk 

Flooding/Water quality Environment Agency Pre-application Enquiry Form 

  
* This additional fee is applicable only if you require a formal review. It is not chargeable for matters 
of clarification 
 
We also need the following information for schemes of 10 dwellings and above: 

 Written details of the address and proposal 
 Description of the nature and scale of the development proposed and the uses to which 

land and buildings are to be put  
 Site location plan with the site clearly marked (to a recognised scale, north point etc)  
 Sketch drawings providing details of the proposal (to a recognised scale)  
 Photographs of the site and surrounding area, with particular regard to any nearby houses 

or other development which might be affected by your proposal  
 Contact details including phone number and email address  
 An initial design and access statement  
 Access and parking arrangements  
 This may also need to be accompanied by ecological, landscape, contamination, flood and 

transport assessments depending upon the location, nature and complexity of the 
development. 

  

78

mailto:DevelopmentPlanningEast@kent.gov.uk
mailto:suds@kent.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pre-planning-application-enquiry-form-preliminary-opinion


Listed building advice 
 
If you are considering carrying out works to a listed building you may wish to seek advice from the 
Heritage team before submission of a listed building consent application. If your question is brief and 
requires a general response you can telephone for free of charge advice. However, if your query 
requires research, a site visit or a written response from the Heritage team a fee will apply.  In order 
for the Officer to provide an appropriate and informed response you will need to provide the following 
information: 

 Written details of the address 
 Description of the works proposed. You may also be requested to submit an initial Heritage 

Statement. 
 Site location plan with the site clearly marked (to a recognised scale, north point etc)  
 Sketch drawings providing details both of the existing Listed Building and the proposal 

alterations (to a recognised scale)  
 Photographs of the Listed Building as relevant to your query 
 Contact details including phone number and email address   

 
There are exemptions to the fee for Listed Building pre-application advice for queries regarding 
alterations proposed to respond to disability issues such as access, for parish or town councils and for 
works that are classed as an emergency.  Please contact us to discuss. 
 
Listed building consent is free of charge. 

What the costs cover 
 
Our fees cover administration costs and the time spent in research, assessment, a meeting as 
necessary, and in making a written response. 

How long for a response 
 
Where your enquiry seeks written advice only, we will do our best to reply within 20 working days. If 
such an enquiry is deemed to require a meeting and/or site visit prior to a response being given, you 
will be contacted and asked to provide an additional fee in-line with our charges. Once the additional 
fee has been received your enquiry will be processed. 
 
If you have paid for a meeting, the case officer will arrange a suitable date depending on 
the complexity of the scheme and the amount of work that will be needed beforehand. We will aim 
to provide a written follow-up of the meeting within 15 working days of the meeting taking place. If 
your enquiry is of a complex nature, more time may be needed and we will advise you of when you 
may expect a reply. 

How to apply 
 
Please email preappadvice@dover.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01304 872486 
Pre-application advice cannot guarantee the final formal decision that will be made on your 
application. For instance: It’s possible, after the advertising of the application, other material planning 
considerations will emerge that couldn’t be anticipated at the pre-application stage e.g. as a 
consequence of statutory consultee views; new policy considerations can also come into play e.g. 
changes in Government planning guidance since the advice was given; and ultimately, while officers 
can provide advice, in some cases the final decision on an application will be made by the Planning 
Committee. That said, any pre-application advice that has been provided will be carefully considered 
when reaching a decision. 

79

mailto:preappadvice@dover.gov.uk


APPENDIX 5.4 

Section 106 Monitoring Fees  

1. Summary 

1.1 The introduction of new CIL regulations in September 2019 has confirmed that a local planning 
authority is entitled to levy a monitoring fee to cover the costs of monitoring planning obligations 
within Section 106 agreements. 

1.2 Monitoring fees must be proportionate and reasonable and reflect the actual cost of monitoring. 
It is recommended that Dover District Council introduce a proportionate.   

1.3 Government guidance on Planning Obligations, including guidance on monitoring fees, can be 
found at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations.  

 

2. Considerations  
 

2.1 Dover District Council wishes to ensure the charging is both reasonable and relevant to the 
level of work required for monitoring Section 106 agreements. Accordingly, initial research has 
been undertaken to attempt to attribute a true cost as per expected monitoring time to inform 
what would be a reasonable fee.  

2.2 The council employs a dedicated monitoring officer who processes all Section 106 agreements. 
This work begins as soon as they are signed and involves monitoring each obligations of the 
applicant to ensure that they are fulfilled at the relevant trigger point and then the Council’s 
undertaking of their covenants within the agreement.  

2.3 Individual agreements throughout the previous financial year have been assessed to see what 
the overall monitoring fee would be in relation to each trigger event. This found that officer time 
equivalent to approx. £9,000 p/a was spent on monitoring obligations. When considered against 
number of triggers generating payment (38), an average cost of £236 per trigger event 
generating a payment emerges1.   

2.4 To further inform this research, a number of Local Authorities in Kent and the South East were 
contacted. For those which currently charge, the majority use a fixed rate for each trigger event. 
This ranged from £242-£750 per trigger. Some authorities however charged a fee based on the 
percentage of the overall value of the agreement. This was generally set at 5%, with one 
authority capping this at £10,000.         

 

3. Recommendation   
 

3.1 It is recommended that Dover District Council introduce a Section 106 monitoring fee of £236 
per trigger event requiring a payment to be made. This fee is the minimum applied to any legal 
agreement clause as even the most simple of agreements require monitoring and the 
maintenance of a proper audit trail in respect of the collection and expenditure of the 
contributions received. 

3.2 Whilst this fee is comparatively low when compared to other nearby local authorities, it is 
considered such a fee represents the current evidentially reasonable and proportionate fee. 
Further, by setting a comparatively low fee, it is considered this strikes the appropriate balance 
between ensuring the council costs are largely recovered though without becoming a sufficient 
additional burden for those wishing to bring forward development within the district.  

3.3 As the fee is to cover officer time from the moment the agreement is signed, it is recommend 
that the fee should usually be paid on completion of the agreement.  

                                                           
1 This does not currently include time where a bespoke monitoring fee had been negotiated or time spent on 
non-monetary contributions. Similarly this does not currently include time spent by other officers of the 
Council on related tasks. This aspect will remain under review.           

80

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations


3.4 Notwithstanding the above, it is recognised that the more complex Section 106 agreements are 
likely to generate additional monitoring burdens and resource implications. The appropriate 
monitoring fee for these will continue to be negotiated on a case by case basis.      

3.5 To ensure the charging is both reasonable and relevant to the level of work required for 
monitoring Section 106 agreements, officer’s time spent on monitoring will continue to be 
recorded with the charge to be modified each year to ensure fair and consistent monitoring fees 
are in place. 

 

Officer Recommendation: 
The Council set monitoring costs on all agreements as follows: 
 

 £236 per trigger event requiring a payment to made as set 
out in the S106 agreement to be paid on completion of the 
agreement; or  

 

 On complex major applications where there are multiple 
obligations, some or all of which require monitoring for an 
extended period, the monitoring fee will be negotiated and 
agreed during the determination of the application. 

 

 

81



Dover District Council 

Subject: HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 
2022-2027 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 17 January 2022 

Report of: Diane Croucher, Head of Regulatory Services 

Decision Taken By: Councillor Martin Bates, Portfolio Holder for Transport, 
Licensing and Regulatory Services 

Decision Type: Executive Key Decision 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Purpose of the report: To seek approval for the adoption of the revised draft Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy following the period of 
consultation.  

Recommendation: 1. That Cabinet approves the revised Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy.  

2. That the Head of Regulatory Services be authorised to make 
any minor or typographical amendments to the revised 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy which 
may prove necessary following approval. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 The draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy was approved by the 
Portfolio Holder for Transport, Licensing and Regulatory Services on 29 October 2021 
for a period of consultation. 
 

1.2 The consultation ran for a period of 4 weeks, from 11 November 2021 to 9 December 
2021. 
 

1.3 The draft policy was also published on the Council’s website. 
 

1.4 A copy of the revised policy is shown at Appendix A.  
 

1.5 Two written responses have been received. These are shown at Appendix B and 
relate to the practical driving assessment, the age limits on licensed vehicles and 
HMRC checks upon renewal. In addition to this, there was a request for additional 
monitoring of the hackney carriage ranks. 

1.6 The comments made within the representations were considered and are shown in 
Appendix D. No amendments are proposed to the policy based on these 
representations.  

2. Introduction and Background 

2.1 Dover District Council has responsibility for licensing Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Vehicles, Drivers and Operators within the Dover District area under the Local 

82

Agenda Item No 5



Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, The Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
as amended by the Public Health Act 1875.  

2.2 The current Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy was adopted in January 
2016 and is due for review.  

2.3 Due to the implementation of the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards, the policy has been rewritten to incorporate these and address 
other issues that have arisen since the policy was previously reviewed.  

2.4 The main changes to the policy relating to the DFT Standards are as follows: 

 Drivers required to subscribe to the update service for DBS clearance.   

 Operators will be required to have sight of a basic DBS for all staff involved in 
taking bookings or the dispatch of drivers. 

 Vehicle proprietors will be required to submit a basic DBS check. 

 More stringent approach on previous convictions. 

 The licensing authority will maintain a list of designated wheelchair accessible 
vehicles in accordance with s167 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 Drivers and operators will be required to show evidence of tax registration prior 
to renewal applications being processed.  

2.5 In addition to this, the following has been added to the policy to encourage the use of 
electric vehicles. 
 

 To give an extension to the number of years that a fully electric/hybrid vehicle 
can remain working as a licensed vehicle. General vehicles are not able to 
renew once they exceed 8 years, but for wheelchair accessible vehicles this is 
12 years. The policy extends this to include fully electric/hybrid vehicles as an 
incentive. 

2.6 There are other changes within the policy which have been introduced where issues 
have arisen since the last policy was reviewed, or to bring the policy in line with 
neighbouring authorities. The requirement for driver medicals has changed as follows: 
 

 Ages for medicals to be changed - a new medical assessment is required every 
5 years for drivers aged up to 45, every 3 years for drivers aged up to 60. 
Drivers aged 60 or over are required to undergo a medical assessment 
annually. 

 
2.7 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out in accordance with corporate 

policy and is attached at Appendix C.  
 

2.8 The comments made within the representations have been considered, as shown in 
Appendix D. There are no amendments proposed to the policy based on these 
representations.  

3 Identification of Options 

3.1      To approve the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy for 
adoption without amendment. (recommended) 

83



3.2      To approve the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy for 
adoption with amendments. 

3.3      To reject the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy and renew 
the Policy on the terms of the 2013 – 2016 Policy. 

4. Evaluation of Options 

4.1       To approve the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy for adoption 
without further amendment. (recommended) 

           The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (Appendix A) has been 
rewritten to incorporate the suggestions changes within the Department for Transport 
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and the government changes in 
respect of evidence of tax registration.   

4.2       To approve the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy for adoption 
with further amendments. 

Members should be aware that any substantive amendments to the current revision 
may require a further period of public consultation. 

4.3       To reject the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing policy and retain 
the existing Policy. 

This option is not recommended. The current policy has been in place since 2016 and 
is due for review.  
 

5 Resource Implications 
 

There are no resource implications. 
 

6 Climate Change and Environmental Implications  
 
6.1 The policy proposes to give an extension to the number of years that a fully 

electric/hybrid vehicle can remain working as a licensed vehicle. General vehicles are 
not able to renew once they exceed 8 years, but for wheelchair accessible vehicles 
this is 12 years. The policy extends this to include fully electric/hybrid vehicles as an 
incentive. 

 
7 Corporate Implications 

7.1 Comment from the Finance Officer: Accountancy has been consulted and has no 
further comment (MR) 

7.2     Comment from the Solicitor to the Council: The Head of Governance has been 
consulted during the preparation of this report and has no further comment to make 

7.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer: The Equality Officer has discussed the report 
and Equality Impact Assessment with the author, and noted that it is likely to be 
relevant to the three aims of the Equality Duty. In particular the report aims to enhance 
accessibility for those service users with a disability. Members are reminded that, in 
discharging their responsibilities they are required to comply with the public sector 
equality duty as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15  

 
7.4      Other Officers (as appropriate):   

84

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15&data=04%7C01%7CRebecca.Pordage%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7C95e77a0fe6b84fa75d5908d9c09ed6a0%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637752610693958154%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=bGDWFZO7vy4EAYX2prG7oa7lhugiUip0l6%2FSV7yvZzg%3D&reserved=0


8 Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 
Appendix B – Representations received during consultation period 
Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment 
Appendix D – consideration of consultation responses 
 
Background Papers 

 
 Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles Standards 

 Existing Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy issued January 2016 
 
Contact Officer:  Rebecca Pordage, Licensing Manager 

85



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 

2022 - 2027 

86



2 

 

CONTENTS 
 

Section                                                                                Page 

  

List of Appendices 3 

  

  

   

1 Introduction   4-8 

   

2 Drivers (Hackney Carriage and Private Hire)  9-14 

   

3 Private Hire Operators 15-17 

  

4 Vehicles 18-28 

   

5 Fees  29 

   

6 Fares 30 

  

7 Delegated Powers      31 

  

8 Disciplinary & Enforcement Measures   32-33 

  

9  Taxi Stands (Ranks) 34 

     

10       Hackney Carriage Hailing Points 34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

87



3 

 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 

 

 
 
 
Licensing Team 
licensing@dover.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix Description Pages 

A Application Procedures 35-41 

B Standards for Insulin Treated Diabetes 42 

C Relevance of Convictions and Cautions 43-48 

D Hackney Carriage Byelaws 49-53 

E Private Hire Driver Conditions 54-58 

F Private Hire Operator Conditions 59-61 

G Private Hire Vehicle Specifications and Conditions 62-72 

H Hackney Carriage Vehicle Specifications and Conditions 73-83 

I Stretch Limousine Additional Conditions 84-89 

J Code of Good Conduct 90-92 

K Dress Code 93 

L Enforcement Policy 94-100 

M Penalty Points Scheme 101-106 

N Hackney Stands 107 

88



4 

 

 
1  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  Powers and Duties 
 
1.1.1 The licensing of hackney carriages dates back to 1847 and 1976 for private hire 

vehicles (outside London). 

1.1.2  Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in an 
integrated transport system. They are able to provide services in situations where 
public transport is either not available (for example in rural areas), or outside 
“normal” hours of operation (such as in the evenings or on Sundays), and / or for 
those with mobility difficulties. Taxi and private hire vehicles play an integral part in 
the dispersal of customers and staff of the night-time economy. Many also 
undertake contract work transporting vulnerable people to schools and colleges. 

1.1.3 The Council has a duty to regulate the hackney carriage and private hire trade 
and this is carried out through the adoption of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended) and the Town and Police 
Clauses Act 1847 (as amended). 

1.1.4 The Council licenses the following; 

 Joint Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 

 Restricted Drivers (Shuttle Services Only) 

 Hackney Carriage Vehicles 

 Private Hire Vehicles 

 Private Hire Operators 

1.1.5 A hackney carriage is a public transport vehicle with no more than 8 passenger 
seats, which is licensed to ply for hire. This means that it may stand at ranks or be 
hailed in the street by members of the public. 

1.1.6 Private hire vehicles (PHV) must also have no more than 8 passenger seats but 
these must be booked in advance by customers through an operator and may not 
ply for hire in the street or stand at ranks. 

1.1.7 A private hire operator makes provision for the acceptance of bookings for private 
hire vehicles. 

1.1.8 The requirements of the Acts are that the Council must be satisfied that a vehicle 
is suitable in type, size and design for use as a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle and is in a suitable mechanical condition, safe and comfortable. 

1.1.9 Concerning drivers, the 1976 Act requires the Council to be satisfied that the 
applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. 

1.1.10 The Policing and Crime Act 2017, enables the Secretary of State for transport to 
issue statutory guidance on taxi and private hire licensing functions for the 
purpose of protecting children and vulnerable adults from harm when using taxi 
and private hire services. 

1.1.11 In July 2020, the Secretary of State for Transport issued such statutory guidance, 
in the form of Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards. Licensing 

89



5 

 

Authorities are expected to implement these unless there is a compelling local 
reason not to do so. In addition to this, legislation is due to be effective from 4 
April 2022 in respect of tax checks for licensed drivers and operators (The 
Finance Act 2021, Schedule 33 (licensing Authorities: Tax Information) 
Regulation 2022). This has been incorporated within this policy. 

1.1.12 In addition to statutory requirements, the Council may attach conditions to 
licences as it considers reasonably necessary. 

 
1.1.13  Private Hire and Hackney Carriage regulation seeks to protect individuals, 

businesses and the environment.  It must be undertaken in such a way that is 
effective, does not create unnecessary burdens, and is consistent, transparent, 
proportionate, accountable and targeted. 

 
1.1.14  This document sets out the policy that the Authority will apply when making 

decisions about new applications as well as current licences. 
 
1.2  Aims of the Policy 
 
1.2.1  The fundamental aim of this policy is protection of the public. In particular, it aims 

to       ensure that licensed vehicles are safe, comfortable, insured and are driven by 
safe, professional and competent drivers. 
 

1.2.2   The Council looks to licence well-run and responsible businesses that provide a 
professional service to the public. 
 

1.2.3   The policy sets out the minimum requirements for licensing drivers, vehicles and 
operators that will be implemented through the licensing regime to achieve these 
aims. In setting conditions, it is recognised that these should not be unduly 
stringent, to the extent that entry to the trade is restricted or operational costs are 
increased such that supply of hackney carriage and private hire services is 
restricted. Such a restrictive approach may have a detrimental impact on the 
public, including safety. 

 
1.2.4   Enforcement matters will be addressed with transparency and fairness but 

robustly particularly  when dealing with serious and / or repetitive issues of non-
compliance and enforcement. 

 

1.2.5   All decisions are made “on the balance of probability”. Given that public safety is 
paramount, applicants and licensees will not be given the benefit of the doubt in 
50/50 cases. 

 
1.2.6   In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council 

shall have regard to this policy document as an aid to consistent decision 
making. 

 
1.2.7   The policy represents the Council’s view on the best approach to achieving its 

aims, and so in normal cases it is expected that this policy will be followed. 
However, each case will be considered on its merits. Should a decision depart 
from this policy then there will be clear, documented reasons for doing so. 

 

90



6 

 

1.2.8 Licence holders and potential applicants are strongly advised to be familiar with 
this policy as it sets out the considerations and criteria the Council uses when 
determining applications, as well as the standards that are expected of licence 
holders. This should help minimise the likelihood of refused applications or 
enforcement action. 

 
1.3 Best Practice Guidance 
 
1.3.1 In formulating this policy, account was taken of the following: 
 

 Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing – Best Practice Guidance 
(Department of Transport (DfT) 2010) 
 

 Guidance on Determining the Suitability of Applicants and Licensees in the 
Hackney and Private Hire Trades (Institute of Licensing April 2018) 

 

 Access for wheelchair users to Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles – Statutory 
Guidance (Department For Transport 2017) 

 

 Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards (Department for Transport 
DfT July 2020) 

 
 The Finance Act 2021, Schedule 33 (Licensing Authorities: Tax Information) 

Regulation 2022 

 
However, local circumstances and requirements have also been taken into 
account in this policy.  

 
1.4           Status 
 
1.4.1  In exercising its regulatory functions, the Authority shall have regard to this policy 

document and the objectives set out above. 
 
1.4.2 Notwithstanding the existence of this policy, each application or enforcement 

measure will be considered on its own merits. Where it is necessary for the Authority 
to depart substantially from its policy, clear and compelling reasons shall be given 
for doing so. 

 
1.5  Implementation 
 
1.5.1  This policy was presented to Cabinet on xxxxx and will come into effect on xxxxx. It 

will remain in force for a period of five years and will continue until such time as a 
new or revised policy is approved by Cabinet. The Authority expects licence holders 
to comply with its terms immediately, and throughout the five year period.  

 
1.5.2 The Authority will review its policy at least every 5 years, and at other times should a 

particular issue arise that gives need for a review. 
 
1.5.3 From 1 January 2022 this policy will override and supersede all existing policies in 

relation to hackney carriage and private hire licensing. 

91



7 

 

 

1.6 Publication of information 
 

1.6.1 The Council is under a duty to publish its driver, vehicle and operator licensing 
data form in such form as the Secretary of State may require. 

 
1.6.2     The Council may publish details of licensed vehicles, drivers and operators on its 

website, including licences recently suspended or revoked. 
 
1.6.3 Under the Air Quality (Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles Database) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2019, the local authority is required to submit details of 
licensed vehicles to DEFRA. 

 
1.6.4 Dover District Council will share information in relation to refused licence 

applications and revoked licences through the National Anti-Fraud Network 
(NAFN). 

 
1.6.5   The Council may share information concerning decisions to refuse, suspend or 

revoke a licence with the Police, DBS service or other agencies, particularly where 
decisions have arisen from safeguarding concerns. Information will only be shared 
when there is a legal gateway to share, compliance will also be met with data 
protection legislation. 

 
1.6.6   Information on the processing and sharing of personal data in this policy is set out 

in the  Council’s Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Vehicle Licensing & Corporate 
Privacy Notice which should be read in conjunction with one another. 

 
 
1.7  Licensing Profile  
 
1.7.1 Dover District Council currently licences 69 hackney carriages and approximately 

109 private hire vehicles as well as 26 private hire operators.  
 
1.7.2 The Authority has approximately 244 drivers licensed to drive hackney carriages and 

private hire vehicles. 
 
 
1.8 Consultation 
 
1.8.1 In preparing this policy the Authority has consulted with the following:- 
 

 Dover Federation of Licensed Taxi Operators 

 Taxi and Private Hire Drivers & Proprietors 

 Private Hire Vehicle Operators 

 Kent Police 

 Kent County Council 

 East Kent Coastal PCT 

 Department for Transport 

 Network Rail 

92



8 

 

 Disability Groups 

 Transport User Groups 

 Town Centre Management 

 General Public 

 Area Forums 

 Local transport providers 

 Dover, Deal & Sandwich Town Councils 

 Parish Councils 

 Dover Harbour Board 

 Age Concern 

 Centres for the Retired 
 
1.9 Partnership Working 
 
1.9.1 The Authority will work in partnership with the following agencies to promote the 

policy objectives:- 
 

 Local hackney carriage and private hire trades 

 Kent Police 

 Local Residents 

 Disability Groups 

 Service Users 

 Vehicle and Operator Services Agency (VOSA) 

 Kent County Council 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 Department of Works and Pensions 

 Other Authority departments 
 
1.9.2 The Authority meets regularly with the hackney carriage and private hire trades to 

consider regulatory issues.  
 

93



9 

 

 
2  DRIVERS 
 
2.1  Licences 
 
 
2.1.1  This Authority issues a single combined hackney carriage & private hire drivers 

licence, called a Joint Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver’s Licence. In 
addition to this, the authority issues restricted driver’s licences for those carrying 
out duties in relation to shuttle parking services, and similar activities. Licences 
are normally granted for a period of three years. A licence may be granted for a 
shorter period where appropriate.  

 
2.1.2 The Authority will not grant hackney carriage and private hire joint driver’s licences 

unless they are satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold such a 
licence. 

 
2.2  Application Procedure 
 
2.2.1  An application for a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence must be made 

on the specified application form. The application procedure is set out in Appendix 
A. 

 
2.3  Renewal of Licences 
 
2.3.1 Although every effort will be made to remind licence holders in the month preceding 

their expiry, when their licences are due to be renewed and of the need to arrange 
an appointment, it remains the responsibility of the licence holder to ensure that 
applications to renew are made in good time. Application forms, appropriate fees, 
and supporting documentation, must be available and it is advisable that 
documentation is sent in and appointments (if necessary) are arranged on a date at 
least 7 days prior to the expiry of the licence.     

 
 
2.4       Age and Experience 
 
2.4.1 Department for Transport (DFT) Guidance recommends that maximum age limits for 

drivers should not be set, providing that regular medical checks are undertaken. It 
also considers minimum age limits (beyond the statutory age for holding a full drivers 
licence) as inappropriate. Therefore the council will not set minimum or maximum 
age limits for drivers. However, in accordance with legal requirements, applicants 
must have held a valid full UK (OR EU/EAA driving licence) for a minimum of 12 
months prior to their application. 

 
2.5      Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency disclosure 
 
2.5.1     The grant of a licence is subject to a check being made with the DVLA in respect of 

any relevant convictions. The check is carried out annually or at other times if the 
council believes that there is reason to do so. Each applicant must complete a 

94



10 

 

mandate to the DVLA to enable the check to be made or give consent for officers to 
make appropriate checks via gov.uk 

 
2.6          Driving Proficiency 
 
2.6.1  The Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) provides a driving assessment 

specifically designed for hackney carriage and private hire drivers.  
 
2.6.2      All new drivers are required to pass the DSA test, or another similar approved test as 

a part of the application process.  
 
2.6.3    Applicants who have considerable relevant experience or alternative qualifications 

may apply, in writing to the Licensing Manager, to have these taken into 
consideration in lieu of the DVSA requirement. Each application will be considered 
on its own merits and a refusal to approve an application to have this condition 
waived may be appealed to the Regulatory Committee for consideration. 

 
2.6.4    Where there is any doubt as to the driving ability of the licence holder, or any 

significant changes to the driver’s circumstances, since the grant of the licence, the 
Authority may require the applicant to pass a further DVSA test.  Any fees must be 
met by the applicant. 

   
2.7 Topographical Knowledge (Driver Knowledge Tests) 
 
2.7.1  Hackney carriage drivers need a good working knowledge of the area for which they 

are licensed because they can be hired directly at ranks or on the street.  The 
Authority also considers it necessary for private hire drivers to know the area. 

 
2.7.2  In order to assist the Authority in determining the fitness of an applicant to hold a 

hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence, applicants are required to undertake 
a communications test to challenge their understanding of the English language and 
a local knowledge test to challenge their knowledge of the highway system in the 
Dover district. 

 
2.8         Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check 
 
2.8.1      A DBS check on a driver is an essential measure in determining whether an applicant 

is a suitable person to hold a licence. An enhanced disclosure with barred list check 
provided by the Disclosure and Barring Service is required for all applicants. 
Enhanced disclosures include details of spent convictions, police cautions and other 
information. 

 
2.8.2    As part of our policy, we will require licensed drivers to maintain an online certificate 

through the DBS update service. (https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update- service) This will 
enable the Council to access their certificate on renewal or at other times as 
reasonably necessary. Drivers must pay an annual fee to the DBS for the on-line 
update facility. 

 
2.8.3    The advantage of the online update service is: 
 

95

https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service
https://www.gov.uk/dbs-update-service


11 

 

 Drivers maintaining an up to date online certificate will not need to apply for 
and submit a paper DBS certificate when renewing their licence. (providing 
that the information on the online DBS is up to date) This will result in a 
quicker process. 

 

 The Online Certificate can be checked by the licensing authority at renewal 
and as required during the term of the licence. 

 

 Maintaining an online certificate through annual subscription may cost the 
driver less than obtaining a paper certificate every 3 years. 

 
2.8.4     Drivers who already hold a licence on the date that this policy comes into effect and 

have not already signed up to the update service, will be required to provide a paper 
DBS certificate at their next renewal then sign up to the online update service. 

 
2.8.5     If an applicant has within the last 10 YEARS lived outside the UK for a continuous 

period of 3 months of more, a certificate of good conduct from the relevant embassy 
or equivalent document, issued and authenticated by the relevant embassy will also 
be required. This must either be in English or translated by an approved translator at 
the applicant’s expense. 

 
2.8.6      If an officer has any doubt as to the validity, completeness or accuracy of the 

document, then an applicant may not proceed to next step of process. The burden to 
establish validity lies with the applicant. 

 
2.9        Medical Assessment 
 
2.9.1      The DfT guidance states that it is clearly good practice for drivers to undergo medical 

checks prior to grant or renewal of a licence. The Group 2 Medical Standards 
adopted by the DVLA for lorry and bus drivers are considered best practice for 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers. 

 
2.9.2      All applicants must undergo a medical examination to assess their fitness to work as 

a Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Driver. In Dover a group 2 medical standard will 
be required. A request form will either be sent as part of an application pack or can 
be obtained from the Council. The assessment must be carried out either by the 
applicant’s General Practitioner or by a suitably qualified GMB registered medical 
practitioner who has access to the applicant’s medical records. The completed form 
must be submitted as part of the application. 

 
2.9.3 Holders of Public Service Vehicle (PSV) and/or Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) 

Licences, where the holder is able to produce proof of current medical examination 
less than 3 months old, which is approved by the authority, are not required to 
undergo a medical examination on first application.  

 
2.9.4    A medical assessment is required for all new driver applications. A new medical      

assessment is required every 5 years for drivers aged up to 45, every 3 years for 
drivers aged between 45 and 60. Drivers aged 60 or over are required to undergo a 
medical assessment annually. More frequent checks will be required if considered 

96



12 

 

necessary by the Medical Practitioner. Certificates provided must be less than 3 
months old. 

 
2.9.5     The Group 2 standards preclude the licensing of drivers with insulin treated diabetes. 

However, exceptional arrangements do exist for drivers with insulin treated diabetes, 
who can meet a series of medical criteria, to obtain a licence to drive category C1 
vehicles (i.e. 3500-7500 KG lorries). As suggested best practice, this authority will 
also apply criteria based on the C1 standards to taxi and PHV drivers with insulin 
treated diabetes. These are set out in Appendix B. 

 
2.9.6    Licence holders must advise the Council without delay of any deterioration in their 

health that may affect their driving capabilities. Licence holders may be required to 
undergo a further medical assessment to confirm their fitness to drive a licensed 
vehicle. Should concerns arise regarding the health of a licensed driver, the council 
at any time may request further information or a further medical examination to be 
carried out and certificate submitted. The cost of this will be met by the licensed 
driver. 

 
2.9.7     No licence will be issued until medical clearance has been established. 
 
2.9.8      The council reserves the right to revoke or suspend a licence if requested information 

is not submitted within 4 weeks of the request and a satisfactory explanation is not 
given for the failure to provide such information or where the information provided 
raises further concerns as to the applicant’s fitness to carry out his/her duties as a 
licensed driver. 

 
 
2.10       Child Sexual Exploitation and Safeguarding Training 
 
2.10.1    People working in the taxi trade may have a role to play in spotting and reporting the 

abuse, exploitation or neglect of children or vulnerable adults. However, this is only 
possible if they are aware of and alert to the signs of abuse and who they should 
contact if they suspect a child or vulnerable adult is at risk of harm or in immediate 
danger. 

 
2.10.2    Therefore, the DfT expect local authorities to require Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire drivers to undertake appropriate safeguarding awareness training. 
 

2.10.3   All new joint hackney carriage and private hire driver licence holders will receive 
compulsory training on spotting and reporting signs of child sexual exploitation 
(CSE). 

 
2.10.4    The training programme which will be provided by Dover District Council will cover 

the key areas of responsibility for licenced drivers with the overall aim of equipping 
them with the skills and knowledge to spot the signs of CSE and know what to do 
next. 

 
2.10.5    Any driver who does not complete the training within 3 months of their licence being 

issued will have their licence suspended until such time as the mandatory training 
has been carried out. 

97



13 

 

 
2.10.6    The council will look to promote awareness of safeguarding issues among all licence 

holders through other information and education campaigns 
 
 
2.11        Immigration Checks – Right to Work 
 
2.11.1    The council has a duty to carry out immigration checks to ensure applicants have a 

right to work in the UK. A licence will not be granted unless sufficient proof of right to 
work in the UK has been provided. Licences will not be granted for a longer period 
than the applicant’s right to work.  

 
2.11.2    The Immigration Act does not permit the issue of licences to self-employed persons 

who are in the country on a student visa. 
 
2.12        Convictions and Cautions 
 
2.12.1  In assessing whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence, the 

Authority will consider each case on its merits.  It will take account of cautions and 
convictions, whether spent or unspent, but only in so far as they are relevant to an 
application for a licence. When presented with a disclosure from the Disclosure and 
Barring Service, the Licensing Manager will assess whether any or all of the 
convictions, and any additional information received, is capable of having real 
relevance to the issue of whether or not the applicant is a fit and proper person to 
hold a licence in line with the policy. at Appendix C.  

 
2.12.2    If there is any doubt as to the suitability of the applicant to hold a licence then the 

matter will be referred to the Regulatory Committee.  
 

2.12.3 Where offences leading to conviction or police caution are committed by licensed 
drivers, it is important, in the interests of consistency and transparency that a 
procedure is in place to consider what effect this should have on their licence. 

 
2.12.4 Drivers who are convicted of any criminal or motoring offence or issued with a police 

caution during the period of their licence must disclose the conviction and the 
penalty imposed, in writing to the Authority within fourteen days of receiving the 
caution or conviction.  

 
2.12.5  Convictions, police cautions and breaches of legislation, licence conditions, byelaws 

and this policy by licence holders will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
licensing enforcement policy (Appendix L) . 

 
2.13 Code of Good Conduct 
 
2.13.1  The standards expected of licensed drivers are set out in a Code of Good Conduct, 

which should be read in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements 
set out in this document.  

 

98



14 

 

2.13.2  This Authority’s Code of Good Conduct for licensed drivers is set out in Appendix J. 
Licence applicants will be required to sign a declaration to confirm their 
understanding and acceptance of the code. 

 
2.14  Dress Code  
 
2.14.1     Anything that serves to enhance the professional image of the hackney carriage and 

private hire trade, and promotes the concept that drivers of licensed vehicles are 
vocational drivers is to be welcomed. 

 
2.14.2   This Authority’s Dress Code for licensed drivers is set out in Appendix K.  Licence          

holders will be required to sign a declaration to confirm their understanding and 
acceptance of the code. 

 
 
2.15  Conditions of Licence 
 
2.15.1  Dover District Council issues joint drivers licences for both hackney carriage and 

private hire vehicles. Appendix D contains the hackney carriage byelaws relevant to 
hackney carriage vehicle and driver licences and Appendix E contains additional 
conditions attached to Private Hire driver licences which are considered reasonable, 
necessary and proportionate for all licensed private hire drivers.  

 
2.16 Drivers Badges 
 
2.16.1 Once granted, a badge will be issued which shall remain the property of the 

Authority and must be surrendered if the licence is suspended or revoked by the 
Authority. The badge shall be displayed on the driver’s person at all times they are 
acting as a licensed driver. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
   

99



15 

 

3 PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS 
 
3.1  Requirements and Obligations 
 
3.1.1  Any person, other than a hackney carriage proprietor, who operates a private hire 

service must apply to the Authority for a Private Hire Operator’s Licence. The 
objective in licensing private hire operators is the safety of the public who will be 
using operators' premises and vehicles and drivers arranged through them.   

 
3.1.2  A private hire vehicle will only be dispatched to a customer by a private hire operator 

who holds an operator’s licence. Such a licence permits the operator to make 
provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle.  A 
private hire operator must ensure that all private hire vehicles operating as part of 
their fleet are driven by a person who holds a drivers licence issued by Dover District 
Council.  

 
3.1.3 The Council must be satisfied that an applicant is a “fit and proper” person to hold a 

licence. They must be assured that they will pose no threat to the public and have no 
links to serious criminal activity. 

 
3.1.4     All Operators must provide the Licensing Team with an up to date list of the drivers 

on their circuit and notify the Licensing Team of any changes i.e. when a driver 
leaves or joins. 

 
3.1.5     Licences are normally issued for a period of 5 years. This is consistent with best 

practice guidance and is the maximum length of licence permitted. Shorter licences 
may be issued in specific circumstances where the council considers this 
appropriate. However, shorter licences will not be used on a  “probationary” basis. 

 
3.2 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Checks 
 

3.2.1 In order to help determine whether a person is a fit and proper person to hold a 
licence, the DfT statutory standards require Licensing Authorities to request a Basic 
DBS Check and that a check is undertaken annually. Private Hire Operators (that 
are not licensed drivers) are not exempt from the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974. They will not be subject to an Enhanced DBS check but a Basic disclosure 
will be required. 

 
3.2.2 Where an operator is a Ltd Company or partnership, a DBS will be required for 

each director / partner. If a partner / director changes during the term of the 
licence, the council must be notified. A Basic DBS for new directors/ partners will 
be required. 

 
3.2.3 Where an individual has, in the 10 years prior to the application, spent time 

overseas, a Certificate of Good Conduct will be required, as set out in Section 
2.7.6 of this policy. 

 
3.2.4 Basic DBS checks are not currently eligible for the update service. Operators 

will be required to submit a paper certificate annually and on renewal of a 
licence. For basic DBS checks operators should register for an online service 

100



16 

 

account instead of using the update service 
 

3.2.5 Operators that are also drivers licensed by this authority, will be required to 
provide an enhanced DBS as part of their drivers’ application and maintain an 
online certificate through the update service. In such cases operators, will not be 
required to submit an additional basic DBS. However, should an operator cease to 
be a licensed driver, then a basic DBS will be required immediately. 

 

3.2.6 Disclosure of convictions will be taken into consideration when determining 
whether an operator is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. This will include a 
review of existing licence holders, where DBS checks of directors/ partners or 
individuals discloses convictions that have not previously been considered. The 
convictions policy is set out in Appendix C. However, motoring offences will 
generally not be relevant to a Private Hire Operator. 

 
3.2.7 The staff that operators employ may have direct contact with the public. Those 

dispatching vehicles will determine which driver to send to fulfil a booking. 
Therefore, they may be in a position to exploit children and vulnerable adults. The 
DfT statutory standards expect Private Hire Operators to be able to demonstrate 
that their staff present no risk to the public. 

 
3.2.8 Operators will be required to keep a register of all staff they employ to take 

bookings or dispatch drivers. They must have sight of a Basic DBS for all such 
staff. A record of having carried out this check must be maintained. Operators 
licensed at the time this policy comes into effect will be required to have the 
register in place by the 1st April 2022. The DBS checks on existing staff must be 
viewed and recorded within 6 months of the policy coming into effect. 

 

3.2.9 Private Hire Operators will be required to have a documented policy setting out 
their approach to employment of staff with convictions. As a minimum, it is 
expected that booking / dispatch staff will have remained free of conviction for the 
time periods set out in Appendix C of this policy. Motoring convictions are not 
considered relevant. This information will be required to be provided to DDC with 
all new applications, from the date this policy comes into effect. Licensed 
Operators, will be required to supply a copy of the policy to the Council within 6 
months of this policy coming into effect. 

 

3.3 Address from which Operator based 
 

3.3.1 The Operator’s base must be located in the Dover District. If it is not, the council 
will not grant a licence. This is to ensure that proper regulation and enforcement 
measures may be taken by the council and is in no way intended as a restraint of 
trade. 

 

3.3.2 It will be the responsibility of the operator to ensure that appropriate planning 
permission exists for the operational address to be used for that purpose, prior 
to starting operating. The grant of a private hire operator’s licence does not 
override the need for planning permission nor does it imply that such planning 
permission is or is not  required or likely to be granted, as such determination will 

101



17 

 

be subject to the appropriate planning process. The Licensing Team may provide 
the Council’s planning team with names and addresses of licensed operators. 
Applicants are advised to check with the planning team regarding the need for 
planning permission using the Council’s pre application advice service which 
can be accessed via the following link - Application Forms (dover.gov.uk) 

 
 

3.4 Insurance 
 

3.4.1 If the operator’s premises is open to the public, suitable Public Liability 
Insurance must be in place. Evidence of insurance must be provided before a 
licence is issued. 

 

3.5 Use of Vehicles and Drivers 
 

3.5.1 As a result of the Deregulation Act 2015, Private Hire Operators are allowed to 
sub-contract work to other licensed Private Hire Operators who hold licences 
with a different Licensing Authority. 

 

3.5.2 A private hire operator must ensure that every private hire vehicle has a 
valid private hire vehicle licence and is driven by a person who holds a 
private hire driver’s licence issued by the same Licensing Authority. 

 

3.5.3 Some private hire operators may use Public Service Vehicles (PSV) (vehicles 
with more than 8 seats, e.g. minibuses) in order to fulfil a booking. These 
vehicles and their drivers are covered by a different licensing regime. Drivers of 
PSVs are subject to different checks, as the work normally undertaken, e.g. 
driving a bus, does not present the same risk to passengers. Checks do not 
include an Enhanced DBS check. 

 
3.5.4 This policy will therefore prohibit the use of PSV and Drivers by a licensed 

private   hire operator unless it is necessary (due to the number of passengers or 
luggage requirements) and the informed consent of the booker is given. The 
booker must be clear that a Passenger Carrying Vehicle (PCV) driver will be 
used, and that they are subject to different checks, including less stringent 
criminal record checks. 

 
3.6 Conditions 
 
3.6.1  All Operator’s licences are issued subject to the standard conditions set out at 

Appendix F.  However, further conditions can be added to the licence where 
considered appropriate. 

 
 

102

https://www.dover.gov.uk/Planning/Planning-Applications/Making-Applications/Application-Forms.aspx


18 

 

4      VEHICLES  
 
4.1  Limitation of Numbers 
 
4.1.1 No powers exist for licensing authorities to limit the number of private hire vehicles 

that they licence.  
 
4.1.2     The current legal provision on quantity restrictions for hackney carriages is set out in 

Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides that the grant of a hackney 
carriage licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number of licensed 
hackney carriages “if, but only if, the local authority is satisfied that there is no 
significant demand for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which 
the licence would apply) which is unmet.” 

 
4.1.3     The Authority is satisfied that there is no significant unmet demand for the services 

of hackney carriages. An independent survey was last undertaken in September 
2017 and the decision made by Cabinet to maintain the limit on hackney carriage 
vehicles was made on xxxxx 

 
4.1.4     A new unmet demand survey is currently being arranged, and details will be 

published once complete. The current survey is delayed due to covid 19 restrictions, 
and now that the trade is resuming normal operations, this will be instructed. 

 
4.1.5 The Authority currently limits the number of hackney carriages it licences to 69 but 

will continue to assess whether there is any significant unmet demand at a maximum 
of 3 yearly intervals. 

  
4.2  Specifications and Conditions 
 
4.2.1  Local licensing authorities have a wide range of discretion over the types of vehicle 

that they can licence as hackney carriage or private hire vehicles. However, 
Government guidance suggests that they should adopt the principle of specifying as 
many different types of vehicle as possible and encourages the use of the “type 
approval” rules within any vehicle specifications they adopt. 

 
4.2.2  This Authority will impose such conditions as it considers reasonably necessary on 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licences. Such vehicles provide a 
necessary service to the public and so it is considered appropriate to set criteria for 
the standard of the external and internal conditions of the vehicle, provided that 
these are not unreasonably onerous, and that the standards are reasonable and 
proportionate. 

 
4.2.3 Appendix G sets out the specification and minimum standards in respect of private 

hire vehicles and Appendix H sets out the specification and minimum standards for 
hackney carriage vehicles. 

 
4.2.4 This policy does not specify colours for Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicles. 
 
4.2.5 The council will not licence a vehicle which is already licensed with another 

council or Transport for London. If the council becomes aware that a vehicle is 

103



19 

 

dual licensed, then the licence is likely to be revoked. 
 
4.2.6 Stretch limousines are sometimes used for private hire bookings and special 

events. These are often imported vehicles, and due to their nature may not meet 
standard vehicle specifications set out in licensing policy (for example, to be right 
hand drive). 

 
4.2.7 Imported vehicles may not have certification to EU Whole Vehicle Standards. 

Such     vehicles would normally require certification under the Individual Vehicle 
Approval (IVA) Scheme to demonstrate that they meet appropriate safety 
standards. 

 
4.2.8 The Department of Transport view is that it is not a legitimate course of action for 

licensing authorities to adopt policies that exclude limousines as a matter of 
principle. A policy of excluding limousines creates an unacceptable risk to the 
travelling public, as it may lead to higher levels of unlawful operation. 

 

4.2.9     Applications for stretch limousines to be licensed as private hire vehicles will 
be considered on their merits provided they have no more than 8 passenger seats. 

 
4.2.10 Additional Specifications and Conditions relating to stretch limousines are set out in 

Appendix I. 
 
4.2.11 All bookings for a stretch limousine licensed as a private hire vehicle by the 

council must be booked through a private hire operator licensed by Dover 
District Council in accordance with S55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
4.2.12  Vehicles can be licensed for the carriage of between four and eight passengers. 

Applications in relation to vehicles that wish to accommodate less than four 
passengers shall be referred to the Regulatory Committee.  

 
4.3     Accessibility 
 
4.3.1 The council is committed to supporting and promoting equality and diversity. 
 

The Equality Act 2010 has made provision for the assistance of taxi and private hire 
vehicle passengers in wheelchairs and to those who have guide dogs and other 
assistance dogs. The sections relating to wheelchair users (sections 165 and 167) 
came into force on 06 April 2017 and the provisions relating to assistance dogs 
(sections 168 – 173) came into force on 01 October 2010. In accordance with 
sections 168 – 173 taxi and private hire vehicle drivers are under a duty to carry 
guide, hearing and assistance dogs without additional charge. Drivers must 
convey a disabled passenger’s dog and allow it to remain with the passenger. 

 
4.3.2 The Secretary of State has the power to impose accessibility requirements on 

large operators. In particular, the power could permit the setting of quotas of 
accessible vehicles which must be available to such operators. 

 
4.3.3 This policy does not currently mandate vehicles to be a wheelchair accessible 

104



20 

 

design. However, such vehicles are encouraged. 
 
4.3.4  The council will maintain a list of Designated Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles in 

accordance with S167 of the Equality Act 2010. A designated wheelchair 
accessible vehicle is a licensed hackney carriage or private hire vehicle which can 
carry a passenger whilst they remain in their wheelchair. This list will be published 
on the council website. It will be updated when information becomes available 
following issue of licences. 

 

4.3.5 The council will look to introduce a second “voluntary list”. This will provide a list of 
vehicles that are accessible to passengers in wheelchairs, who are able to 
transfer from their wheelchair into a seat within the vehicle and the wheelchair can 
be folded down and placed in the vehicle. The list will be updated when information 
becomes available following issuing of licences. 

 
4.3.6 Drivers of designated wheelchair accessible hackney carriage and private 

hire vehicles have a legal duty under Section 165 of The Equalities Act 2010 
to: 

 

 to carry the passenger while in a wheelchair 

 not to make any additional charge for doing so 

 if the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the wheelchair 

 to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 
carried in safety and reasonable comfort; and 

 to give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 
 

Mobility assistance is assistance: 

 to enable the passenger to get into or out of the vehicle; 

 if the passenger wishes to remain in the wheelchair, to enable 
the      passenger to get into and out of the vehicle while in the 
wheelchair; 

 to load the passenger's luggage into or out of the vehicle; 

 if the passenger does not wish to remain in the wheelchair, to load 
the wheelchair into or out of the vehicle. 

 
4.3.7 It is accepted that there will be some specialist or motorised wheelchairs which 

due      to their dimensions may not be able to be loaded or conveyed safely in all 
designated vehicles and it is not practicable to require vehicles to be able do so. 
It may be a reasonable defence if a driver is not able to fulfil duties under the Act 
due to the size/ design of the wheelchair. However, it is expected that if 
passengers cannot be accommodated for this reason, that it is dealt with 
sensitively and clearly explained to the passenger. 

 
4.3.8 The legal duties set out in 4.3.6 above do not apply to drivers of vehicles on 

the voluntary list. However, it is expected that drivers on this list will accept a 
passenger who is able to transfer onto a seat from their wheelchair and 
provide reasonable assistance to the passenger, without extra charge. 

105



21 

 

 

4.3.9 DfT guidance states that fare meters should not be left running whilst a driver is 
fulfilling these duties (e.g. loading / unloading wheelchairs, providing assistance to 
the passenger,) as this would constitute making an extra charge for doing so. 
Meters left running under these circumstances would be treated as a breach of 
the Act and this policy. 

 

4.3.10 Drivers who, for medical reasons, or due to their physical condition, make it 
impossible or unreasonably difficult for them to carry out duties to passengers 
in wheelchairs, or who are unable to accept assistance dogs may apply to the 
council for an exemption certificate. Such a certificate will only be issued on 
production of medical evidence. Exemption Certificates must be displayed in 
the vehicle at all times the driver is working.  

 
4.3.11     The Council does not intend to impose a date by which all hackney carriages should 

be wheelchair accessible at present but will continue to review the need and 
demand in the district in order to properly inform its views. The Council will, however 
continue to offer financial incentives, by way of a discount on the licence fee, for 
applicants wishing to licence wheelchair accessible vehicles as hackney carriage 
and/or private hire vehicles. 

 
        Environmental considerations 

 
4.3.12 The Best Practice Guidance asks licensing authorities to consider how far their 

vehicle licensing policies can and should support any local environmental 
policies that they have adopted, bearing in mind the need to ensure that the 
benefits outweigh costs (in whatever form). They suggest that authorities may, 
for example, wish to consider setting vehicle emissions standards, perhaps by 
promoting cleaner fuels. 

 

4.3.13 The age criteria for vehicles within this policy will ensure that over time the fleet 
will benefit from general improvements in environmental performance. 

 
4.3.14 Vehicle Specifications enable Electric, Hybrid or LPG converted vehicles to be 

licensed. 
 
4.3.15 Local licensing authorities are encouraged to consider how they can support any 

local air quality management policies that the local authority may have adopted, 
particularly where Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) or Clean Air Zones 
have been introduced. At present Dover District Council does not have any Air 
Quality Management Areas or Clean Air Zones. However, should this happen in 
the future, then the vehicle emissions standards for hackney carriage and private 
hire vehicles could be incorporated into the policy. 

 
4.3.16 Emissions from hackney carriages and private hire vehicles could be reduced 

further, by encouraging better maintenance of vehicles and by switching off 
engines when stationary or idling, particularly at hackney carriage ranks. It is 
proposed that  this aspect be tackled through education and promotion. 

 
 

106



22 

 

4.4 Maximum Age of Vehicles 
 
4.4.1        No application for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence will be granted    

if the vehicle, when initial application is made, exceeds 5 years of age. 
 
4.4.2       No application for the renewal of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence 

will be granted if the vehicle, when application is made, exceeds 8 years of age.  
 

4.4.3       No application for the renewal of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence 
purpose built for the carrying of wheelchair dependant passengers, or a type 
licensed by the Public Carriage Office as a London Cab will be granted if the 
vehicle, when application is made, exceeds 12 years of age. 

 
4.4.4       No application for the renewal of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence 

which is fully electric or hybrid in nature will be granted if the vehicle, when 
application is made, exceeds 12 years of age. 

 
4.5.5 No application for a temporary transfer will be granted if the vehicle, when the       

application is made, exceeds 5 years of age. 
 
4.5.6 The Licensing Manager has delegated authority to extend the time limits set out at 

4.5.1 – 4.5.5 for exceptionally well-maintained vehicles by a maximum of two 
further years. Applicants who fail to obtain approval from the Licensing Manager for 
an extension or who may wish to seek permission to extend beyond the two extra 
years may ask to be referred to the Regulatory Committee for consideration. 

 
4.5.7        Applications for vehicles that fall outside of the policy guidelines or the provisions of  

4.5.6, will be referred to the Regulatory Committee for consideration. 
 
4.5.8       All applications for vehicle licences are subject to the satisfactory passing of the 

MOT test and an inspection by the Licensing Officer.  Applicants who fail to obtain 
approval from the Licensing Officer or Licensing Manager may ask to be referred to 
the Regulatory Committee for consideration.   

 
4.6  Vehicle Testing 
 
4.6.1 The Authority needs to be satisfied that licensed vehicles operating within its area 

are safe. 
 
4.6.1      All hackney carriage and private hire vehicles shall be subject to the current MOT     

standard test and inspection by the Licensing Officer at grant or renewal of the 
vehicle licence.  Vehicles over 3 years of age will be subject to a further MOT and 
inspection by the Licensing Officer 6 months into the licence period.  The Licensing 
Manager has delegated authority to require further, more frequent testing up to a 
maximum of 3 tests per year where concerns over safety standards have been 
identified.  

 
4.6.2     Licensed vehicles that fail an inspection and/or MOT test and are deemed unsuitable 

for use as a passenger vehicle by the vehicle examiner or Licensing Officer, will 
result in the vehicle proprietor being issued with a suspension notice in order to 

107



23 

 

prevent the vehicle being used to carry passengers until the defect(s) is/are 
remedied. Once the defects have been satisfactorily remedied then the proprietor 
may seek the lifting of the suspension notice by the Licensing Officer. 

 
4.7 Insurance and Road Tax 
 

4.7.1 Vehicles must be taxed and have valid insurance which covers the vehicle for the 
carriage of passengers for hire or reward. Insurance will be checked as part of the 
application process. The certificate of insurance must be provided on request. If 
the vehicle insurance expires part way through the licence period the driver must 
provide the Council with the new insurance policy immediately. On renewal of the 
policy, a copy of the insurance certificate should be provided to the Council. 

 
4.7.2     Given the importance of maintaining valid insurance which covers the vehicle for 

carriage of passengers for hire or reward, licensed vehicles found to have no valid 
insurance cover or where evidence of valid insurance cover is not provided, will 
be suspended immediately. 

 

 

4.8 Damage to Vehicles 
 

4.8.1     Any damage to a licensed vehicle materially affecting the safety, performance or 
appearance of the vehicle or the comfort and convenience of passengers, must be 
notified to the council as soon as possible and in any case within 72 hours. 
Unless the vehicle is so severely damaged that it will never again be serviceable 
as a licensed vehicle, an appointment will be made for the vehicle to be inspected 
by a licensing officer and a decision will be made as to whether or not the vehicle 
is in such condition to continue in service. 

 
4.8.2 If the Licensing Officer considers the damage to the vehicle to be extensive 

enough to seriously affect the general appearance and/ or use of the vehicle, it will 
be suspended from use until such time as satisfactory permanent repairs are 
completed. During this time, plates must be removed from the vehicle. 

 
4.8.3 If the damage to the vehicle is minor, such that the Licensing Officer considers it 

still to be in a fit condition to continue in service, a notice will be issued requiring 
the vehicle to be repaired. The vehicle will not be suspended. 

 

4.8.4 When such notice is given, repairs must be made to the vehicle and the vehicle 
presented for re-inspection within the time given in the notice. Failure to carry out 
repairs or to present the vehicle for re-inspection within such time may result in 
further action including automatic revocation of the licence, as set out in S68 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 
4.8.5 Where due to accident damage a vehicle cannot be used, there is a process 
 enabling proprietors to licence a temporary replacement vehicle. 
 
 
 
 

108



24 

 

4.9     Taximeters & Tariff Cards 
 
4.9.1     The council has set Hackney Carriage fares (tariff) for journeys within its District. 

This sets the maximum fare that can be charged by Hackney Carriage Drivers. 
 

4.9.2      There is no provision to set fares for private hire vehicles. 
 

4.9.3     All Hackney Carriage Vehicles must be fitted with a ‘Taximeter.’ The meter must be 
positioned so that the display is clearly visible to the passengers. The meter must be 
started at the commencement of each hiring and left on until the hirer has paid the 
charge at the end of the journey.  

 
4.9.4 Private Hire Vehicles do not have to be fitted with a 'Taximeter' but if one is fitted it 

must be checked by the Licensing Officer, and a copy of the tariff carried in the 
vehicle. 
 

4.9.5 Current fare rates are shown on the council’s website. Hackney Carriage Vehicles 
must display a Tariff Card in the form provided by the Council in a prominent position 
clearly visible to passengers.  

 
4.9.6 Private Hire Vehicles that are fitted with Taximeters must also display a Tariff Card 

and provide a copy to the Licensing Authority for reference.  
 
4.9.7 Taximeters must be operated in accordance with section 19 of Appendix H and with 

the Hackney Carriage Byelaws as detailed at Appendix D.   
 

4.9.8 A hackney carriage driver is allowed to charge more than the metered fare for 
journeys starting inside the licensing area and ending beyond the district only if this 
is agreed in advance. In the case of a pre-booked journey the price should be 
agreed prior to commencement of the journey if requested by the passenger.  
 

4.9.9 The council will review fare rates from time to time as necessary or in response to a 
bona fide request. Proposed changes will be introduced in accordance with Section 
65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
 

4.10  Signage and Advertising 
 
4.10.1 It is important that the public should be able to identify and understand the difference 

between a hackney carriage and a private hire vehicle. 
 
4.10.2  Private hire vehicles are not permitted to display roof-mounted signs or any signs 

that include the words “Taxi” or “Cab” or “For Hire”. 
 
4.10.3    Roof signs fitted to hackney carriage vehicles must be illuminated at all times when 

the vehicle is available for hire.  
 
4.10.4    Vehicle identification plates are a key feature in helping to identify vehicles that are 

properly licensed.  
 

109



25 

 

4.10.5     All licensed vehicles, except those private hire vehicles granted the necessary 
exemption by the Authority, must display plates on both the front and rear of the 
vehicle.  

 
4.10.6     Proprietors of vehicles who wish to be exempted from displaying licence plates must 

apply for an exemption certificate. Any such exemption will only be considered for 
vehicles that are used exclusively for chauffeur services, and will not be considered 
for vehicles used for any form of regular private hire work or KCC school contract. 
Applicants who are unable to seek approval from the Licensing Manager for an 
exemption certificate may ask to be referred to the Regulatory Committee for 
consideration. 

 
4.10.7 Private hire vehicles must display door signs in prominent positions on both rear 

doors of the vehicle indicating that they must be booked in advance and separate 
signs on the front doors indicating details of the operator. 

 
4.10.8 Vehicles are not allowed to display written or other material on any window with the 

exception of those permitted by the conditions of licence. 
 
4.10.9 No licensed vehicle proprietor must display or allow to be displayed in or on their 

vehicles any signs, notices, advertisements, video or audio display etc either for the 
purpose of advertising or by way of identifying or personalising marks, except in 
circumstances where permission is given following application in writing to the 
Licensing Manager. Any such application must be made in accordance with the 
terms of the conditions laid out in section 26 of Appendix H (Hackney Carriages) or 
section 25 of Appendix G (Private Hire). 

 
4.11       CCTV and Security 
 
4.11.1 The DfT guidance recommends that licensing authorities look sympathetically on 

the installation of security measures, such as a screen between driver and 
passengers or CCTV systems. Such measures can act as a deterrent to would be 
trouble makers. It may also protect drivers from unjustified complaints, and 
provide  a source of evidence in the event of dispute between passenger and 
driver. 

 

4.11.2 This policy does not require mandatory installation of CCTV systems. Currently it 
is left to the judgement of the owners and drivers themselves. However the council 
will keep the need for requirement of CCTV under review. 

 
4.11.3 The hackney carriage and private hire vehicle trade is, however encouraged to 

consider the installation of CCTV cameras in their vehicles on a voluntary basis. It 
will be the responsibility of the operator to handle relevant data gathered in an 
appropriate and secure manner. For information and guidance on data protection 
see Information Commissioners Office (ICO) website https://ico.org.uk/ 

 

4.11.4   Vehicle Proprietors must notify the Licensing Authority in writing if they have 

a CCTV system fitted. They must register with the ICO and obtain 

documented evidence of that registration. 

110



26 

 

 
4.11  DBS Checks on Vehicle Proprietors 

4.11.1 As required by the DfT statutory standards, applicants for a vehicle licence will 
be required to submit a basic DBS check. This will be required annually. If the 
applicant is a Ltd Company or partnership, it is important that the fit and proper 
person test is applied to each director/ partner. A DBS check will be required for 
each director/ partner. Any disclosed convictions will be taken into account when 
considering the suitability of a person to hold a licence. Our convictions policy is 
set out in Appendix  C. 

4.11.2       Applicants that also hold a drivers licence with this Council, will not be required 
to provide the Basic DBS, as they will already provide the Enhanced DBS as 
required by this policy. However, should they cease to hold a driver’s licence then 
a Basic DBS will be immediately required. 

4.11.3 Where an applicant has spent time outside of the UK, a certificate of good 
conduct will be required from the relevant embassy, as set out in Drivers section of 
this policy (2.7.7) 

4.11.4 If a director / partner changes during the term of the licence, the Council must 
be notified. Further DBS checks may be required. 

 
    
4.13 Stretch Limousines 
 
4.13.1  Stretch limousines are elongated saloon cars that have been increasingly used for 

mainstream private hire work.  The number of stretch limousines being imported, 
particularly from the United States of America, has been increasing. Their use 
generally includes all private hire work plus special occasions such as days at the 
races, stag and hen parties and children’s birthday parties. 

 
4.13.2 Licensing authorities have generally considered there to be some problems 

preventing stretch limousines from being licensed including: 
 

 many of them are left hand drive; 

 many are fitted with all round darkened glass; 

 many have been converted or modified after manufacture; 

 seating space per passenger is 460mm and could give a greater capacity than 
eight persons; and 

 due to their origin many parts may not be available making adequate 
maintenance difficult. 

 
4.13.3  The Vehicle and Operator Services Agency (VOSA) has introduced the Individual 

Vehicle Approval (IVA) inspection regime, which verifies that a converted vehicle is 
built to certain safety and environmental standards.  It is proposed that this standard 
is required from all limousine and speciality vehicles that do not meet the standard 
vehicle specifications. 

 
4.13.4  Any stretch limousines, which are offered for private hire, require a licence.  Before 

licensing for private hire a full insurance policy for private hire purposes will, be 
required. 

111



27 

 

 
4.13.5 Applications to licence stretch limousines as private hire vehicles will be treated on 

their merits.  However, imported stretch limousine type vehicles will: 
 

 be granted an exemption from the requirement under the conditions of licence 
for private hire vehicles to be right hand drive; 

 

 be authorised as prestige type private hire vehicles; and 
 

 if approved for licensing as private hire vehicles, be subject to the additional 
conditions detailed in Appendix I; 

 
4.13.6 The Council strongly recommends that anyone wishing to licence a limousine 

contacts the Licensing Section before purchasing a vehicle to ensure that advice can 
be provided as to whether the vehicle will meet the required standards, as each 
vehicle will be considered on its merits. 

 
4.14  Contract Vehicles 
 
4.14.1  All vehicles used for a contract with an organisation or company, for carrying 

passengers for hire or reward, are required to be licensed as private hire vehicles.  
As a general guide this will include executive hire, chauffeur services, park and ride 
for private car parks, airport travel, stretch limousines and novelty vehicles. 

 
4.15 Funeral Vehicles 
 
4.15.1 There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed where it is being used in 

connection with a funeral, or is being wholly or mainly used by a person carrying on 
the business of a Funeral Director for the purposes of funerals. 

 
4.16 Wedding Vehicles 
 
4.16.1 A vehicle does not need to be licensed while it is being used in connection with a 

wedding. 
 
4.17 Courtesy Cars 
 
4.17.1 All vehicles with 8 or less seats that carry passengers for hire or reward must be 

licensed by the Council. This includes those used for transporting customers to and 
from hotels, night clubs, etc in the course of business, irrespective of whether or not 
a charge is made for such service. They should, accordingly be licensed with the 
local Council, as should their “operator”. 

 
4.18     Executive Chauffeur Services 
 
4.18.1   Proprietors of vehicles licensed as private hire vehicles and used exclusively for 

chauffeur services may seek the permission of the Authority to waive conditions of 
their licence relating to the display of licence plates, door stickers and driver badges. 

 
 

112



28 

 

4.19 Application Procedures 
 
4.19.1  Applications for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence must be made on 

the specified application form in accordance with the application procedure set out in 
Appendix A. Whilst reminders will be sent, it is the responsibility of the licence 
holder to ensure a renewal application is submitted in time, failure to do so may 
result in the lapse of the licence. 

 
4.19.2 Legislation limits the maximum length of a vehicle licence to 12 months. Licenses 

will therefore normally be granted for 12 months. There may be circumstances 
where the council considers a shorter licence to be appropriate. However shorter 
licences will not be used as a “probationary” tool. 

 
4.19.3 Case law has determined that licensed vehicles remain licensed at all times, even 

when not being used for hire and reward work. Licensed vehicles must comply with 
legal requirements and conditions at all times. 

 
4.20 Consideration of Applications 
 
4.20.1  The Authority will consider all applications on their own merits once it is satisfied that 

the appropriate criteria have been met and the application form, fee and supporting 
documents are complete. 

 
4.20.2     Any applications for vehicle licences that fall outside of the policy will be referred to            

the Regulatory Committee for consideration. 
 
4.21 Renewal of Licences 
 
4.21.1  Whilst every effort will be made to remind existing vehicle licence holders that their 

licences are due to be renewed and of the need to arrange an appointment prior to 
their expiry date, it is the licence holder’s responsibility to ensure that licences are 
renewed prior to their expiry. Application forms, appropriate fees, and supporting 
documentation, as set out in Appendix A, must be produced and appointments 
must be arranged on a date prior to the expiry date of the licence.   

 
4.21.2  It is advisable that vehicles should be examined and tested at an approved testing 

station at least 7 days prior to the application appointment. This is to allow time for a 
vehicle to be repaired and then re-tested, should the vehicle examination identify the 
need and prior to the expiry of the licence.   

 

113



29 

 

5  FEES 
 

5.1 General 
 

5.1.1 Applicants must pay the appropriate fee. Applications will not be progressed 
until the appropriate fee has been paid. 

 
5.1.2 A schedule of fees is available on the council’s website. The schedule is 

reviewed each year as part of the budget process. Fees reflect the administrative 
costs of the licensing regime, processing applications, compliance and 
enforcement of licenced drivers and vehicles etc. 

 
5.1.3 This policy does not deal with the fee setting process. 

 

5.2 Refunds 

 
5.2.1 There is no statutory requirement to issue refunds following surrender of a 

licence. Historically, the council has received requests for refunds for licences that 
have been surrendered, for example, due to ill health or the licence holder 
moving away from the area. These have and will continue to be considered, 
subject to the paragraphs below. 

 
5.2.2 Licence holders should think carefully before surrendering a licence. If they 

decide to reapply in future, then their application will be considered as a new 
application and subject to the same conditions as for all new applicants (e.g. 
knowledge tests, driver assessments, for new drivers) 

 
5.2.3 Refunds will not be issued for licences which have been revoked, or surrendered 

following suspension. 
 

5.2.4 Refunds will not be issued on licences issued for 12 months or less. 
 

5.2.5 Refunds on surrendered driver and operator licences will be considered on 
written request. Requests will not be considered unless badges and paper 
licences have been returned to the licensing authority. The refund amount will be 
pro-rata based on the amount of whole months remaining on the licence. The 
pro-rata amount for the first 12 months of the licence period will not be refunded. 
An administrative charge for dealing with the refund application will also be 
deducted. 

 

114



30 

 

6  FARES 
 
6.1  General 
 
6.1.1  The Hackney Carriage Table of Fares (“the tariff”) adopted by the Authority sets the 

maximum fare that can be charged by hackney carriage drivers. This can be 
negotiated downwards by the hirer for journeys within the district. 

 
6.1.2    The Authority will review the tariff from time to time as necessary or when a bona-

fide proposal is received.  A notice of any variation to the maximum fare shall be 
advertised by the Authority in a local newspaper with a date set 14 days from 
publication for making objections to the proposed variation.  If no objections are 
received the fare variation will have immediate effect at the end of the 14 day 
consultation period.  If any objections are received the matter will be referred to 
Cabinet for consideration and a further implementation date set. 

 
6.1.3  The Authority is not able to set fares for private hire vehicles.  
 
6.1.4 When a journey ends outside of the district borders a fare greater than that which 

would have been shown on the meter may be charged but only if an agreement 
has been made with the hirer in advance.  It should be noted that a fare greater 
than that shown on a meter cannot be charged irrespective of what may have been 
agreed beforehand if the journey ends within the district borders. 

 
6.2 Table of Fares 
 
6.2.1  A table of authorised maximum fares will be provided to each hackney carriage 

licence holder, which must then be displayed in each vehicle so that it is easily 
visible to all hirers. 

 
6.2.2 Private Hire Operators who use licensed vehicles fitted with a fare meter shall 

provide the Authority with a current table of fares. This table must also be displayed 
in each private hire vehicle so that it is easily visible to all hirers. 

 
6.3 Receipts 
 
6.3.1  Drivers shall, if requested by the passenger, provide written receipts for fares paid. 
 

115



31 

 

7  DELEGATED POWERS 
 
7.1  Regulatory Committee 
 
7.1.1  The Regulatory Committee of the Authority is responsible for exercising the council’s 

functions in respect of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing regime in the 
district. 

 
7.1.2 Certain powers and duties have been delegated to Officers under the scheme of 

Officer delegations within the Council’s Constitution. 
 
7.1.3     Officers may refer matters to the Regulatory Committee for determination where 

they consider it appropriate to do so. The committee have the full range of options 
available to deal with matters referred to them e.g. grant/ refusal / refuse to renew a 
licence, suspension or revocation of a licence etc. 

 
7.1.4 Routine Applications where policy requirements are met and there are no issues 

such as disclosures made on a DBS, will be dealt with by officers, enabling a 
more efficient process. Officers will normally make decisions on applications where 
there  is a clear breach of minimum policy requirements – e.g. vehicles do not 
meet specifications, or where there is a disclosure of conviction(s) and the 
minimum time period set out in the convictions policy has not elapsed. 

 
7.1.5 More complex applications or incidents will usually be referred to the Regulatory 

Committee. This will include for example, applications where a conviction has 
been disclosed, but the minimum time period for applicants to be free of 
convictions has not elapsed. 

 
7.1.6 Officers will suspend licences where  necessary to ensure effective day to day 

enforcement of licence requirements, for example, in relation to vehicle 
inspections and defects or production of medical certificates or other documents.  

 
7.1.7 Where an issue arises that presents a public safety risk, and immediate action is 

required, this will be taken by authorised officers and may include suspension or 
revocation of licences. 

 
7.1.8 Where an investigation is undertaken by an officer or information is received such 

that immediate revocation is being considered, action must be reviewed and 
agreed by a separate more senior officer with the appropriate delegated 
authorisation. 

 
 

116



32 

 

8 DISCIPLINARY AND ENFORCEMENT MEASURES 
 
8.1  General 
 
8.1.1     Guidance recognises that well directed enforcement activity benefits not only the 

public but responsible members of the hackney carriage and private hire trade. 
 
8.1.2     The Council has a responsibility to ensure that all licensed drivers, operators and 

owners of vehicles adhere to basic minimum standards. These standards are set out 
in legislation, byelaws and the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy. 

 
8.1.3     In addition it is important that firm action is taken to deal with those who evade the 

licensing regime. 
 
8.1.4     Enforcement action may be initiated by authorised officers. In addition, licence 

holders may be referred to the Regulatory Committee regarding offences or 
breaches of conditions or byelaws. Following a hearing, the subcommittee may 
recommend enforcement action to be taken. 

 
8.1.5     Appendix L sets out the Council’s Enforcement Policy in relation to hackney 

carriage and private hire licensing matters. 
 
8.2     Penalty Points System 
 
8.2.1     Many local authorities use a penalty point scheme as an effective means of 

promoting compliance with legislation and conditions. 
 
8.2.2     Dover District Council will operate a penalty points system as set out in Appendix 

M. This will serve both as an early warning system to licence holders who fail to 
meet the Council’s required standards and as a consistent and transparent method 
of enforcement. It will be used to deal particularly with minor breaches or 
infringements of legislation, policy or unacceptable behaviour by licence holders. It 
supports a risk based approach to enforcement as the points threshold for 
considering further sanctions will be triggered by repeated or serious breaches. 

 
8.2.3     Penalty points remain on a licence for a period of two years from the date on which 

they are imposed. If a licence holder accumulates twelve or more penalty points 
within a period of twenty four months, commencing from the date of imposition of the 
earliest ‘live’ penalty points on the licence, he/she will be referred to the Regulatory 
Committee 

 
8.2.4     The Regulatory Committee will follow the objectives of this Policy and have a range  
               of sanctions available, including suspension or revocation of the licence. 
 
8.2.5     The adoption of the Penalty Points System will not, however, compromise the 

council’s ability to take other enforcement action to deal with offences or breaches of 
conditions, should it be warranted. 
 

 

117



33 

 

8.3  Prosecution 
 
8.3.1 The Authority may prosecute licence holders for relevant offences in accordance 

with the statutory Regulators Code and the Council’s Licensing Enforcement Policy, 
 
8.4       Complaints 
 
8.4.1 The Authority has a complaints procedure whereby the general public can submit 

complaints about licensed drivers and operators and details are included in the 
Council’s Licensing Enforcement Policy. 

 

118



34 

 

9  HACKNEY CARRIAGE STANDS 
 
9.1       The purpose of hackney carriage stands (also known as taxi ranks) is to provide the 

public with a set location where they can hire a licensed hackney carriage.  The 
stand is the only situation where a hackney carriage may ply for hire in a stationary 
position and shall be situated in locations where the public most need hackney 
carriages, for example adjacent to transport facilities, retail areas and places of 
employment, entertainment and leisure facilities.  Stands shall be sited so that 
passengers can board or alight from the vehicle safely.  Stands can be continual or 
in part time use. 

9.2 It is an offence for any person to cause or permit any vehicle other than a 
Hackney Carriage to wait on any rank or stand for Hackney Carriages. Drivers of 
Hackney Carriages may only wait on a rank or stand whilst plying for hire or waiting 
for a fare; drivers who park on a rank or stand and leave their vehicle unattended 
are committing an offence. 

 
9.3 The Authority will work with the hackney carriage trade and other stakeholders to 

keep stands under constant review.  Details of all public taxi ranks in the District are 
attached at Appendix N. 

 
10           HACKNEY CARRIAGE HAILING POINTS 
 
10.1       Hackney Carriage hailing points have been introduced in other parts of the country 

and are an alternative to a stand where there is insufficient space for a stand or the 
location does not justify the creation of a stand.  It is a specific location where the 
public know they will be able to hail a hackney carriage and the theory is that 
licensed drivers know where they are and will ensure they pass them on a regular 
basis.  There is no provision for hackney carriages to wait at these locations. There 
are currently no Hackney Carriage hailing points in the Dover district. 

 
10.2     Whilst there has been no request for the provision of hailing points in the Dover 

district, the Authority will consider such requests on their individual merits as they 
arise. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119



35 

 

 
APPENDIX A – Application Procedures 
 
1. General Matters 
 
1.1 Potential applicants are advised to check this policy so that they understand 

application requirements and conditions attached to licences. This will help minimise 
likelihood of a refused application and associated incurred costs. 
 

1.2 The council is moving towards a system of electronic applications, which enables a 
more efficient process. However, applicants may need to bring original documents to 
the council offices for verification. Original documents will be scanned/ copied where 
necessary and returned to the applicant. 

 
1.3 We will endeavour to send reminders to licence holders when licences are due to be 

renewed. However it is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that their renewal 
application is submitted in time, correctly together with any required documentation. 
Failure to do so may result in a delay in processing an application. If the licence has 
not been issued at the point when an existing licence expires, the licence holder must 
cease operating until the new licence has been received. Failure to submit a renewal 
application in time, may result in the application being considered a “new application” 
and subject to the same requirements as for new applicants. 

 
1.4 A serious view will be taken where applicants or licence holders are found to have 

knowingly or recklessly misled the council, lied or omitted information during the 
application process, particularly in relation to convictions and similar matters. Not only 
is it an offence, which may be subject to further action in accordance with the 
council’s enforcement policy, but in these circumstances, applicants may be referred 
to the Regulatory Committee for consideration as to whether they are a fit and proper 
person to hold a licence. Applications will normally be refused where an applicant has 
been found to have given false information or attempted to conceal / omit information 
during the application process. 

 
1.5 Authorised officers will normally make decisions concerning the grant or refusal of 

applications, however, more contentious decisions may be referred to Regulatory 
Committee. 

 
1.6 Once a full, correct application including required supporting documents and fee has 

been submitted and a decision to grant a licence has been made (e.g. following a 
Regulatory Committee hearing, where necessary) we aim to issue the licence within 
5 working days. 

 
1.7 Where applications are refused, there is a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court. 

Decisions to refuse applications and the reasons for doing so will be confirmed in 
writing together with details of rights to appeal. 

 
  
 
 
 

120



36 

 

2 Drivers - New 
 
2.1  Applications for joint hackney carriage or private hire drivers’ licences may be 

made at any time of the year. Drivers must have held a full UK or EU/EAA 

drivers licence continuously for at least 12 months immediately prior to making 

application. 

2.2  New drivers will be required to undertake a Driving Standards Assessment for 

Hackney Carriage/ Private Hire Drivers. Applicants are advised to undertake this 

test and obtain a pass certificate before making their full application. The test must 

have been taken within 12 months of the application. 

2.3 Applicants who have considerable relevant experience or alternative qualifications 

may apply, in writing, to have these taken into consideration in lieu of the DSA 

requirement. Each application will be considered on its own merits and a refusal to 

approve an application to have this condition waived may be appealed to the 

Regulatory Committee for consideration. 

2.4 All new joint hackney carriage and private hire driver licence holders will receive 

compulsory training on spotting and reporting signs of child sexual exploitation 

(CSE). All existing drivers have already received this training. 

2.5 In order to maintain the high standards that the Authority expects of its drivers 

operating within the district, knowledge of locations and places of interest is 

assessed by the Authority through its communication and local knowledge test. 

The communication test aims to identify understanding of the English language 

and basic mathematics. The local knowledge test is verbal and aims to identify 

knowledge of locations of places of interest and routes In addition to this, part of 

the test is multiple choice with questions relating to the understanding of the policy 

requirements.  

2.6 Only 4 attempts are allowed for each test. After 4 failures the driver must allow 2 

months to elapse from the date of the fourth failure before a further attempt can be 

made. 

2.7 All applicants must provide a minimum of 5 years address history. If an applicant 

has lived outside of the UK for any part of the previous 10 years then certificates of 

good conduct must be obtained from the Police at each place of residence 

detailing any driving or criminal convictions. Certificates must be translated into 

English at the applicants expense and must also be verified genuine by the 

relevant embassy in the UK for the country of origin. 

 
2.8 All applicants must make a declaration that they have a statutory right to work in the 

UK and any applicant that has a limited right to work will not be issued a driver licence 
for a period longer than that limited period. Checks will be made with partner agencies 
including the UK Border Agency and HMRC. Students from overseas are advised that 
they are not currently able to work as self-employed drivers and must therefore be 
employed. They must also not work for more than 20 hours per week. 

 

121



37 

 

2.9 All applicants will be required to provide their driving licence for inspection. A check 
will be made with the DVLA regarding the validity of the driving licence presented and 
any outstanding convictions, penalty points and whether the licence is still valid. A 
charge will be made for this service and all fees must be met by the applicant. 

 
2.10 The following must be provided before a licence can be issued. Where original 

documents are provided these will be checked/ photocopied and returned to the 
applicant. 

 

 

 A Full UK or EU/EAA Drivers Licence. This must have been held 

continuously for at least 12 months immediately prior to the 

application. 

 Fully Completed Driver Licence Application Form 

 Application Fee 

 Completed DVLA consent form 

 A Pass Certificate for a recognised Driving Standards 

Assessment for Hackney / Private Hire Drivers (new drivers) 

 A Completed Group 2 Medical Certificate confirming that the applicant 

is fit to drive a hackney carriage/ private hire vehicle. This must be 

carried out by your GP or a GMC registered practitioner who has access 

to your medical records. The Certificate must be not more than 3 months 

old. 

 An Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate 

countersigned by Dover District Council. Certificates must be less 

than 3 months old at the date of application.  

 New Applicants who have lived outside the UK for a continuous 

period of 3 months or more within the 10 years prior to the 

application must obtain a Certificate of Good Conduct from the 

relevant embassy. 

 Suitable Identity documents providing Evidence of Right to Work 

in the UK. Additional checks will be carried out if considered necessary 

under the Immigration Act. 

 Council’s Knowledge test must have been passed within last 12 

months  

 
2.11        The DBS certificate will be sent to the applicant’s home address. This must be  

provided to the council, as the council will not be sent a separate copy. 

2.12 Drivers are then required to sign up for and maintain a subscription with the 

online DBS  Update Service during the time that they are licensed, and give the 

council ongoing permission to check the status of the certificate as necessary. 

https://secure.crbonline.gov.uk/crsc/subscriber 

Where an up to date online certificate is maintained, drivers will not need to 

submit   a paper DBS certificate with their renewal application as the Council can 

check the online certificate. 

122

https://secure.crbonline.gov.uk/crsc/subscriber


38 

 

2.13     The Council will check the status of a drivers DBS certificate as part of a renewal 

application. If a driver has failed to register for the update service, they will need 

to  reapply for an Enhanced DBS Certificate and register for the update service. 

2.14 If the status check shows the certificate as no longer current, then the 

applicant                              will need to apply for a new Enhanced DBS certificate as set out in 

2.12-2.14. 

2.15 Where the DBS certificate contains disclosures, then a decision will be made as 

to  whether the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a licence. Appendix C 

outlines the Council policy on convictions and cautions. 

2.16 Following a successful application a driver will be issued with a paper licence 

and a driver’s badge. These remain the property of the council and must be 

returned on request following surrender, revocation or lapse of the licence. 

 
  Drivers – Renewals 
 
2.17 A driver’s licence will usually expire after three years from the date of issue / 

renewal.  Licences may be issued for shorter periods under special circumstances. 
 

2.18 A driver must make a renewal application at least one month before the current 
licence expires. 

 
2.19 Failure to renew a licence, a DBS check, medical certificate or DVLA disclosure 

means that a driver is not entitled to drive until valid documentation has been 
produced to an officer. Driving otherwise than in accordance with the conditions of 
the licence and policy may result in a licence being suspended or revoked. 

 
2.20 Existing drivers who have not submitted their renewal application within 1 month 

following expiry of the licence, will be considered new applicants and will be 
required to meet all the criteria for new driver. 

 

3. PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR APPLICATIONS 

 
3.1     Applicants will need to submit the following 

 Fully completed application form 

 Application fee 

 Proof of Public Liability Insurance (if the operating premises will 

be accessible to the public) 

 A Basic Disclosure Barring Service (DBS) check for each person 

named on the application form. This does not apply to persons who 

have provided an up to date Enhanced DBS certificate (within 3 

months) or maintained an up to date online certificate accessible to 

Dover District Council as part of a Drivers Licence application with 

this Authority. 

123



39 

 

 New Applicants who have lived outside the UK for a 

continuous period of 3 months, within the 10 years prior to 

the application must obtain a Certificate of Good Conduct 

from the relevant embassy 

3.2 Where a DBS contains disclosures, then the suitability of the applicant to hold 

a licence will be considered. The Council Policy on convictions and cautions is 

set out in Appendix C 

3.3 Following successful application, licensed operators will be issued with a paper 

licence. This remains the property of the council and must be returned on 

request following surrender, revocation or otherwise lapse of the licence. 

3.4 Renewal applications must be submitted within 1 month of expiry of the licence 

to allow sufficient time to process the application. 

 

 
4     VEHICLE APPLICATIONS 

4.1 Vehicles must meet the specifications set out in Appendix G and H of this 

policy. Applicants are therefore strongly advised to check these 

requirements and if necessary discuss any queries with a licensing officer 

prior to purchasing a new vehicle or making an application 

4.2 The following must be provided before an application can be considered 

 Fully completed Application Form 

 
 Application Fee 

 
 Vehicle Registration Document (V5) issued by the DVLA 

showing the applicant/driver to be the registered keeper. If the 

vehicle has recently been purchased and the V5 is with DVLA, 

then other acceptable proof of ownership eg bill of sale, 

showing full buyer and seller details will be accepted, but the 

V5 will need to be supplied as soon as this is available. 

 Basic Disclosure & Barring Service (DBS) Check for each 

person named on the application form (for Limited Companies 

and Partnerships a DBS Certificate is required for each partner 

and director). This does not apply to Persons who have 

provided an up to date Enhanced DBS certificate (within 3 

months) or maintained an up to date online certificate 

accessible to Dover District Council as part of a Drivers Licence 

application with this Authority. If an applicant already holds a 

current vehicle licence with this authority, then a DBS previously 

supplied will be acceptable provided it was dated within the last 

12 months. 

 

124



40 

 

 New Applicants who have lived outside the UK for a 

continuous period of 3 months, within the 10 years prior to 

the application must obtain a Certificate of Good Conduct 

from the relevant embassy. 

 Insurance Certificate or cover note confirming the Vehicle 

is covered for “Hire and Reward”. If a cover note is provided, 

licence holders will be required to produce further insurance 

certificates on or before the expiry of the cover note. 

 MOT Certificate 

 Evidence that the vehicle is taxed 

 Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) Certificate (stretch 

limousines  only) 

 
4.3 The applicant must contact the Licensing Team to arrange an appointment 

for the Licensing Officer to inspect the vehicle at the council offices to  

confirm compliance with vehicle specifications. 

4.4 Following a successful application, a paper licence and vehicle plates will be 

issued. The vehicle must not be used for hire and reward until the plates 

have 

been affixed to the vehicle (unless a plate exemption letter has been issued.) 

These must be returned on request following surrender, revocation or lapse of 

the licence. 

4.5 Renewal applications must be submitted 14 days prior to expiry of the licence to 

allow sufficient time for processing. Failure to do so may result in the existing 

licence expiring before a new licence is issued. The vehicle could not be used 

for hire or reward whilst it is unlicensed. 

4.6 If a renewal application is made more than 1 month after expiry of the licence, the 

application will be treated as a new application and vehicles will be required to 

meet the specifications (including age requirements) for vehicles being licensed 

for the first time. 

 
5.     Transfer of a licensed vehicle to new proprietor 

5.1 Where a licensed vehicle is transferred to a new proprietor, notice of transfer 

must be given within 14 days. It is necessary for a new licence to be obtained 

showing the new owner details. 

5.2 The following must be submitted: 

 

 Fully completed Application Form 

 Application Fee 

125



41 

 

 Vehicle Registration Document (V5) issued by the DVLA showing 

the applicant (new proprietor) to be the registered keeper or other 

acceptable  proof of ownership 

 Insurance Certificate or cover note confirming the Vehicle is 

covered for “Hire and Reward”. If a cover note is provided, licence 

holders will be required to produce further insurance certificates on or 

before the expiry of the cover note. 

 MOT Certificate 

 Evidence that the vehicle is taxed 

 A Basic DBS certificate for the new proprietor (where the new 

proprietor is a Ltd Company or partnership , a certificate is required 

for each partner/director. This does not apply to individuals that hold a 

drivers licence with Dover District Council who have a maintained a 

certificate through the DBS Update Service. If the new proprietor already 

holds a current vehicle licence with Dover District Council, then DBS 

Certificates previously supplied, will be acceptable, provided they are 

dated within 12 months of the application. 

 
Replacement Vehicle 

5.3        If during the term of the licence, it is necessary to replace the vehicle e.g. 

insurance replacement due to accident damage, the replacement vehicle must 

meet the same specifications as for a new vehicle. The application process is 

the same as set out in 4.1- 4.4. 

126



42 

 

APPENDIX B - STANDARDS FOR INSULIN TREATED DIABETES 

 
 
These arrangements mean that those with good diabetic control and who have no significant 

complications can be treated as "exceptional cases" and may have their application for a 

Driver licence considered. The criteria are: 

 

 To have been stable on insulin for at least 1 month; 

 Not to have suffered an episode of hypoglycaemia requiring the 

assistance of another person in the last 12 months; 

 To have full awareness of the symptoms and risks of hypoglycaemia 

 To provide evidence of blood glucose monitoring at least twice daily, 

including on days when vehicles are not driven and no more than 2 

hours before the start of the first journey and every 2 hours while 

driving. This must be done using blood glucose meters with a memory 

function.to enable at least 3 continuous months of readings to be 

available for assessment. 

 Drivers may be required to provide evidence of monitoring to the 

licensing authority. 

 To have no complication arising from diabetes or any other medical 

condition which would render the driver unfit to drive a licensed vehicle 

 To sign an undertaking to comply with the directions of the doctor(s) 

treating the diabetes and to report immediately to the licensing authority 

any significant change in condition. 

 To attend an examination by a hospital consultant specialising in the 

treatment of diabetes and to provide a report from such a consultant in 

support of the application which confirms a history of responsible 

diabetic control with a minimal risk of incapacity due to hypoglycaemia. 

This is to be provided before a licence is first granted or renewed and / 

every 12 months thereafter. This is at the applicant’s expense. 

127



43 

 

APPENDIX C - RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS AND CAUTIONS 

1. General 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to set out the Council’s approach to convictions and 

cautions when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing licence holder 

is a fit and proper person to hold a driver, vehicle or operator licence. 

1.2 The Institute of Licensing publication “Guidance on determining the suitability of 

applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades” (2018) and DfT 

statutory standards have been taken into account in preparation of this policy and will 

be taken into consideration when making decisions. 

1.3  The existence of this policy aims to promote a transparent and consistent approach 

that is clear to applicants and decision makers. Notwithstanding the existence of this 

policy, each application will be determined on its own merits. Where it is necessary 

for the Council to depart substantially from this policy, clear and compelling reasons 

will be given for doing so. 

1.4 The leading case as to whether a person is a ‘fit and proper person’ is: 

McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council (1998) 

The test sets out the requirement to ensure, so far as possible, that those licensed to 

drive taxis or PHVs are safe drivers with good driving records and adequate 

experience, sober, mentally and physically fit, honest, and not persons who would take 

advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers. 

In layman’s terms the question to ask is “Would you let this person drive your daughter, 

son, mother etc. alone in a car?” 

1.5 Whilst vehicle proprietors may have no direct contact with passengers, they are 

entrusted with ensuring suitability of vehicles and that they are driven by licensed 

drivers. This policy is therefore still applicable. 

1.6 The safeguarding of the public is paramount. Decisions on the suitability of an 

applicant or licence holder must be made on the balance or probabilities. An 

applicant or licence holder should not be given the benefit of the doubt and thus if 

a Committee or Officer is 50/50 as to whether a person is “fit and proper” they 

should not hold a licence. 

1.7 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are exempt from the provisions of the 

Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. This means that there are no “spent” 

convictions. Any and all convictions, so far as they are relevant can be taken into 

account in determining whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a 

Hackney Carriage or Private Hire drivers licence. 

1.8 Some individuals may hold (or apply for) a combination of driver, vehicle and / or 

private hire operator licences. In these circumstances, their suitability to hold each type 

of licence should be considered separately. For example, the refusal to licence an 

individual as a driver or to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence does not   automatically 

mean that they cannot be granted or continue to hold a vehicle or private hire operator 

128



44 

 

licence. In addition, only the information relevant to that licence should be considered. 

For example, when considering a vehicle licence, not all information on an Enhanced 

DBS can be considered - only information that would be available on a Basic DBS. Eg. 

that which they were required to supply as part of that licence process. 

1.9 The onus is on the applicant or licence holder to demonstrate that they meet this 

requirement; not on the council to demonstrate that the applicant does not. 

1.10 Applicants and licence holders should note that offences are not considered less 

serious just because they were committed when they were not driving a taxi or 

working in their capacity as a licensed driver or operator. 

1.11 If a new applicant has been charged with an offence, which if they were convicted  of 

would normally lead to refusal of a licence, a decision may  be deferred until 

proceedings have been completed or the charges withdrawn. 

1.12 If a court has found an applicant guilty of an offence, that person cannot subsequently 

claim to the council that they did not commit the offence unless the matter is 

overturned on appeal. The applicant can, however, offer any mitigating circumstances 

relating to the offence that they wish the Council to consider. 

1.13 In all but the most serious cases, the disclosure of cautions, convictions or other 

information will not permanently debar individuals from gaining a licence. The 

council will however require applicants with a criminal record to remain free of 

conviction for the appropriate period set out in the policy and show adequate 

evidence of good character from the time of the conviction.  

1.14 In the sections that follow, guidance is given following the disclosure of various 

convictions, in terms of if and when a person with such convictions may be eligible for a 

licence. Compliance with the guidelines does not guarantee that a licence will be 

granted, particularly when there are aggravating factors, such as multiple offences or a 

pattern of offending 

1.15 In making its decision the Council will consider, amongst other matters, the 

nature/class of any offence, how long ago it occurred and the applicants’ age at  that 

time, the apparent seriousness as gauged by the penalty imposed, and any other 

factors which the Council may consider to be relevant. 

1.16 Motoring offences will generally not be considered relevant for Private Hire 

Operators. 

1.17 Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence is isolated and there are mitigating 

circumstances. Similarly, multiple offences or a series of offences over a  period of time 

are likely to give greater cause for concern and may demonstrate a pattern of 

inappropriate behaviour, which will be taken into account. 

1.18 As well as convictions, this policy will take into account other issues or intelligence 

received from other agencies which may be relevant to the “fit and proper” person  test. 

129



45 

 

1.19 In considering whether or not a person is fit and proper the council may also 

consider such matters as an applicant’s history as a licence holder not only with 

Dover District Council but with other licensing authorities; their complaint and 

compliance history, their co-operation with and attitude towards Licensing Officer’s 

requests, and any other reasonable matters. 

1.20 Any existing licence holder convicted of an offence during the period of their current 

licence will be subject to this policy relating to the relevance of convictions.  In 

circumstances where a new applicant would normally have their application refused, 

an existing licence holder would likely have their licence revoked. 

1.21 If the applicant has declared any other offences not specifically covered by this policy 

on the relevance of convictions, the application may still be referred to the Regulatory 

Committee for determination. 

 
1.22 A serious view will be taken where applicants or licence holders are found to have 

intentionally misled the council, lied or withheld information during the application 

process, particularly in relation to convictions and similar matters. In these 

circumstances, they may be referred to the licensing sub-committee for consideration 

as to whether they are a fit and proper person to hold a licence. Applications will 

normally be refused where an applicant has sought to conceal information during the 

application process. 

 
2. Crimes Resulting in Death 

2.1 Where an applicant or licence holder has been convicted of a crime resulting in 

death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of 

another person, they will not be licensed. 

 
3. Offences involving violence 

3.1 A licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence imposed. 

 
4. Exploitation 

4.1 Where an applicant or licence holder has been convicted of a crime involving or 

related to abuse or exploitation, regardless of whether the victims were adults or 

children, they will not be licensed. This includes, but is not limited to, slavery, child 

sexual exploitation, grooming, and psychological, emotional or financial abuse. 

 
5 Possession of a Weapon 

 

5.1 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other 

weapon related offences, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have 

elapsed since completion of any sentence imposed. 

 
 

130



46 

 

6 Sexual or Indecency Offences 

6.1 Drivers often carry unaccompanied passengers, children and other vulnerable 

persons. Operators may have contact with passengers and will decide which drivers 

to dispatch to bookings. For this reason, an extremely serious view is taken with 

regard to sexual offences. Applicants and licence holders with convictions involving 

or connected with illegal sexual activity or indecency will not   be licensed. 

6.2 Individuals on the sex offenders register or any “barred” list will not be licensed. 

 
7. Dishonesty 

7.1 Licence holders are expected to be trustworthy. It is comparatively easy for a 

dishonest driver to defraud the public by demanding more than the legal fare and  in 

other ways. 

7.2 Members of the public entrust themselves to the care of drivers for their own safety 

and for fair dealing. Drivers may be entrusted with delivering unaccompanied 

property and may also recover lost property from their vehicles. In certain situations, 

drivers and operators may know that a property is empty whilst occupants are on 

holiday following a booking to take them to the airport. 

7.3 For this reason, a serious view is taken of any convictions relating to dishonesty. 

Where an applicant or licence holder has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty 

they will not be licensed until 7 years has elapsed since the completion of any 

sentence imposed. 

 
8 Drugs 

8.1 Where an applicant or licence holder has a conviction related to the supply of drugs 

or possession with intent to supply, they will not be licensed until at least 10 years 

has elapsed since the completion of any sentence. 

8.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence related to the possession of 

drugs, they will not be licensed until at least 7 years have elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence imposed. An applicant may be required to undergo 

drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using 

controlled drugs. 

 
9 Discrimination 

 

9.1   Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in 

any form, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years has elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence imposed. 

 
10. Drunkenness (not in a motor vehicle) 

10.1 An isolated conviction for drunkenness shall not prevent an applicant from gaining  a 

licence. 

131



47 

 

10.2 A number of convictions for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem 

necessitating critical examination. If the applicant is found to be an alcoholic / 

alcohol dependent, a period of five years should elapse after treatment is 

complete before a further licence application is considered. 

 
11 Drink Driving / Driving under the influence of drugs 

11.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle 

whilst under the influence of alcohol or drugs. 

11.2 Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of 

drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the 

completion of any sentence or driving ban, whichever is the later. An applicant may 

be required to undergo testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not 

using controlled drugs. 

 
12. Driving whilst using a hand-held phone or other hand held device 

An applicant with a conviction for using a handheld mobile telephone or a hand held 

device whilst driving will not be granted a licence until at least 5 years have elapsed 

since the completion of any sentence or driving ban, whichever is the later. 

 
13. Other Motoring Offences 

13.1 Major traffic offences involving death, driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs 

or whilst using a phone are dealt with in preceding sections.  

13.2 Other major traffic offences are those involving injury to another person or property 

(including vehicles), driving whilst disqualified and driving without insurance (or 

other insurance related offences). Applicants with convictions for major traffic 

offences will not be licensed until at least 7 years has elapsed since the completion 

of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 

13.3 Minor Traffic Offences are those not dealt with in the sections above. A single minor 

traffic offence would not normally prevent a licence being granted or lead to   a licence 

being revoked. Subsequent convictions may indicate that a person does 

not take their professional responsibilities seriously and many not be a safe and 

suitable person to hold a licence. 

13.4 Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or 

similar offences, the application will be referred to Regulatory Committee for a 

decision. 

14 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Offences 

14.1 One of the main purposes of the licensing regime is to ensure the protection of the 

public. For this reason a serious view is taken of convictions for offences relating to 

hackney carriage and private hire activity (including illegally plying for hire) when 

deciding whether an applicant is to be treated as a fit and proper person to hold a 

licence. 

132



48 

 

14.2   Where an applicant has been convicted of any offence concerned with or connected 

to hackney carriage or private hire activity, a licence will not be granted until a period 

of at least 7 years has elapsed following completion of any sentence imposed. 

133



49 

 

APPENDIX D - HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS 
 
 
DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
BYELAWS 
 
WITH RESPECT TO HACKNEY CARRIAGES  
 
29 JULY 1987 
 
MADE UNDER SECTION 68 OF THE TOWN POLICE CLAUSES ACT 1847, AND SECTION 
171 OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1875, BY THE DISTRICT COUNCIL OF DOVER  WITH 
RESPECT TO HACKNEY CARRIAGES IN THE DOVER DISTRICT. 
 
INTERPRETATION 
 
1. Throughout these byelaws “the Council” means the District Council of Dover and “the District” 
means the Dover District. 
 
PROVISIONS REGULATING THE MANNER IN WHICH THE NUMBER OF EACH HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE CORRESPONDING WITH THE NUMBER OF ITS LICENCE, SHALL BE 
DISPLAYED. 
 
2. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence granted to 

him in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or marked on the outside and inside of 
the carriage, or on plates affixed thereto; 
 
(b) A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall- 
 
(i) not willfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed from public 
view while the carriage is standing or plying for hire; 

 
(ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting, 
marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 

 
PROVISIONS REGULATING HOW HACKNEY CARRIAGES ARE TO BE FURNISHED OR 
PROVIDED 
 
3.  The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:- 
 

(a) Provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with 
the driver; 
(b) Cause the roof or covering to be kept watertight; 
(c) Provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than 
one window on each side; 
(d) Cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 
(e) Cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat, or other suitable covering; 
(f) Cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well 
maintained and in every way fit for public service; 

134



50 

 

(g) Provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry 
luggage; 
(h) Provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be 
readily available for use; 
(i) Provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a 
separate means of ingress and egress for the driver. 

 
4.  The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the same to be provided with a 

taximeter so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the following 
requirements, that is to say - 

 
(a) The taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag, or other device the turning of which will 
bring the machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to appear 
on the face of the taximeter; 
(b) Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that 
the machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of 
the taximeter; 
(c) When the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face 
of the taximeter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the 
proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take for the hire of the carriage by distance 
in pursuance of the regulation in that behalf; 
(d) The word “FARE” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as 
clearly to apply to the fare recorded thereon; 
(e) The taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at 
all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose 
the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of 
hiring; 
(f) The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or 
other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except 
by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances. 

 
PROVISIONS REGULATING THE CONDUCT OF THE PROPRIETORS AND DRIVERS OF 
HACKNEY CARRIAGES PLYING WITHIN THE DISTRICT IN THEIR SEVERAL 
EMPLOYMENTS, AND DETERMINING WHETHER SUCH DRIVERS SHALL WEAR ANY AND 
WHAT BADGES 
 
5.  The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall:- 

(a) When standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance 
of the byelaw in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face 
of the taximeter; 
(b) Before beginning the journey, bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by 
moving the said key, flag or other device, so that the word “HIRED” is legible on the face 
of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the termination of 
the hiring; 
(c) Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a 
hiring which is during the hours of darkness, this being the time between half-an-hour 
after sunset to half-an-hour before sunrise, and also at any time at the request of the 
hirer.  

 

135



51 

 

6.  A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to 
tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or 
with the seals affixed thereto. 

 
7.  The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually 

hired:- 
 
(a) Proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands in the district if there be one; 
(b) If a stand, at the time of his arrival is occupied by the full number of carriages 
authorised to occupy it, proceed to another stand if there be one; 
(c) On arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised 
to occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the 
stand and so as to face in the same direction; 
(d) From time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved 
forward cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied 
by the carriage driven off or moved forward. 

 
8.  A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, shall not, by 

calling out or otherwise, importune any person to hire such carriage and shall not make 
use of the services of any other person for the purpose. 

 
9.  The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take 

all reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or 
alighting from the vehicle. 

 
10.  The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in 

attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or 
prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage at such 
appointed time and place. 

 
11.  A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in 

such carriage any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on 
the plate affixed to the outside of the carriage. 

 
12.  If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney 

carriage he shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in 
such position and manner as to be plainly visible. 

 
13.  The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when 

requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage:- 
(a) Convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
(b) Afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; 
(c) Afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building, 
station, or place at which he may take up or set down such person. 

 
PROVISIONS FIXING THE RATES OR FARES TO BE PAID FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES 
WITHIN THE DISTRICT, AND SECURING THE DUE PUBLICATION OF SUCH FARES. 
 
14.  The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the 

hire of the carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the table of fares from time to time fixed 

136



52 

 

by the Council, the rate or fare being calculated by distance and time unless the hirer 
expresses at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by time. 

 
Provided always that where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be hired 
by distance the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand and take a fare 
greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter, save for any extra charges 
authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record on the face of the 
taximeter. 

 
15. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the statement of the fares fixed by 

Council resolution to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and 
figures. 

 
(b) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in 
accordance with this byelaw shall not willfully or, negligently cause or suffer the letters or 
figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the 
carriage is plying or being used for hire.  

 
PROVISIONS SECURING THE SAFE CUSTODY AND RE-DELIVERY OF ANY PROPERTY 
ACCIDENTALLY LEFT IN HACKNEY CARRIAGES, AND FIXING THE CHARGES TO BE 
MADE IN RESPECT THEREOF 
 
16.  The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of 

any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any 
property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

 
17.   The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein 

by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or handed to 
him:- 

 
(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner claimed by 

or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district, and leave it in the custody 
of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it; and 

 
(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-delivered an 

amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value or the fare for the 
distance from the place of finding to the Police Station whichever be the greater 
subject to the payment not exceeding five pounds. 

 
PENALTIES 
 
18. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary 

conviction to a fine not exceeding one hundred pounds and in the case of a continuing 
offence to a further fine not exceeding five pounds for each day during which the offence 
continues after conviction therefor. 

 
REPEAL OF BYELAWS 
 
19.  The Byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by (1) the mayor, Alderman 

and Burgess of the Borough of Dover on the 31st day of March 1953, and the 11th day of 

137



53 

 

October 1973 and confirmed by one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State on 
the 12th day of may 1953, and the 13th day of February 1974, respectively, (2) the Mayor, 
Aldermen and Burgesses of the Borough of Deal on the 5th Day of October 1971, and 
confirmed by one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State on the 9th day of 
December 1971, and (3) the Dover District Council on the 7th day of February 1975 and 
confirmed by one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State on the 26th day of march 
1975, are hereby repealed. 

 
Dated this 29th day of July 1987 
 
THE COMMON SEAL of the 
DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Was hereunto affixed 
 
In the presence of: 
 
(Sgd. ) JOHN MOIR 
Chief Executive 
 
The foregoing byelaw is hereby confirmed by the Secretary of State and shall come into 
operation on the 1st day of February 1988. 
 
 
(Sgd.) H. FAWCETT 
 
An Assistant Secretary in the  
Department of Transport on 
behalf of the Secretary of  
State for Transport. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138



54 

 

APPENDIX E - PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER’S LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 
1.   Conduct of Driver 
 
1.1 The holder of a private hire driver’s licence (“the driver”) shall comply with the 

following conditions, which should be read in conjunction with the Code of Good 
Conduct set out in Appendix J . 

 
1.2 The driver shall comply with the dress code at all times as detailed in Appendix K. 
 
1.3 The driver shall at all times, when acting in accordance with the driver’s licence 

granted to them, wear such badge as supplied by the Authority in such position 
and manner as to be plainly and distinctly visible at all times. He shall not allow the 
badge to be used by any other person or cause or permit any other person to wear 
it and on termination or surrender of the driver’s licence, shall return the badge to 
the Authority immediately. 

 
1.4 The driver shall behave in a civil, polite and orderly manner at all times in the 

course of carrying out business and shall take all reasonable precautions to 
ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

 
1.5 The driver shall not wilfully or negligently cause or permit the vehicle licence plates 

to be concealed from public view.  
 
1.6 The driver who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance with the vehicle 

at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some 
sufficient cause, punctually attend with such vehicle at such appointed time and 
place. 

 
1.7 The driver when hired to drive to a particular destination shall, subject to any 

directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the shortest route. 
 
1.8 The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such vehicle any number 

of persons greater than the number of persons specified in the licence and also 
referred to on the vehicle licence plate. 

 
1.9 The driver shall convey a reasonable amount of luggage and provide reasonable 

assistance in loading and unloading luggage. 
 
1.10 The driver shall not solicit, by calling out or otherwise importune, any person to 

hire or be carried for hire, and shall not accept an offer for the hire of the vehicle 
except where that is first communicated to the driver by the operator. 

 
1.11  The vehicle shall be presented in a clean and tidy condition for each journey. 
 
1.12 The private hire vehicle shall only be driven by licensed private hire drivers who 

have the consent of the proprietor of the vehicle. 
 

139



55 

 

1.13 The driver shall not drink or eat in the vehicle whilst driving or when passengers 
are aboard, or, if requested to by the passenger, play any radio or sound 
equipment that is not connected with the operation of the business. 

 
1.14 The driver shall not operate the horn as a means of signalling that the vehicle has 

arrived for hire. 
 
1.15 The driver shall report any accidents or incidents affecting the safety or physical 

appearance of the vehicle to the operator/proprietor of the vehicle immediately (or 
as soon as practicable) to ensure that the proprietor can fulfil their obligations to 
report the matter to the Authority within the required 72 hour period.   

 
2.  Fares and journeys 
 
2.1 The operator of a Private Hire vehicle may make their own agreement with the 

hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 
 
2.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide a written receipt for the fare 

paid. Each receipt should show the date of journey, driver badge number and 
amount paid. 

 
2.3 If the private hire vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, then the driver of the vehicle 

shall unless the hirer expresses at the commencement of the journey his desire to 
engage by time, bring the meter into operation at the commencement of the 
journey; 

 
(i) bring the machinery of the taxi meter into action by moving the said key, 

flag or other device, so that the word ‘HIRED’ is legible on the face of the 
taximeter before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for 
distance and time, and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until 
the termination of the hiring; 

 
(ii) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout 

any part of a hiring which is during the hours of darkness as defined for the 
purposes of the Road Traffic Act 1972, and also at any other time at the 
request of the hirer; and 

 
(iii) not demand from any hirer of a Private Hire vehicle a fare in excess of any 

previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the 
vehicle is fitted with a fare meter, the fare shown on the face of the meter. 

 
3.   Duties of Licence Holder 
 
3.1 The driver’s licence must be made available for inspection, on request, by any 

authorised officer of the Authority or any Police Officer. 
 
3.2 The driver must notify the Authority, within 14 days of starting or terminating 

employment, as to the name and address of the operator and/or proprietor 
concerned, and the date when the employment either started or ended. 

 

140



56 

 

3.3 The private hire driver’s licence or copy thereof must be presented to the 
proprietor/operator at the beginning of an employment. 

 
3.4 All licences and badges issued remain the property of the Authority at all times. 

They must be returned forthwith when employment as a licensed driver ceases or 
if the licence expires and is not renewed or where the licence is suspended or 
revoked.  

 
3.5 The driver must notify the Authority in writing, within 14 days, of any change of 

name or address. 
 
3.6 The driver must notify the Authority, within a period of 14 days of any conviction for 

a criminal offence, motoring offence or receipt of a police caution or fixed penalty 
imposed whilst the licence is in force 

 
3.7 The driver shall report an accident in a private hire vehicle within 72 hours of the 

occurrence where damage materially affects the safety, performance and 
appearance of the licensed vehicle or the comfort or convenience of persons 
carried. 

 
3.8 The driver shall keep a copy of these driver conditions in the licensed vehicle 

being used by that driver. 
 
3.9 The driver shall inform the Authority, in writing, immediately, of any deterioration in 

health or injury that would affect the ability to drive a private hire vehicle.  
 
4.  Lost Property 
 
4.1 A driver shall after the termination of each hiring or as soon as practicable 

thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein, and endeavour to return it to the owner as soon as 
possible. 

 
5.  The Carriage of animals 
 
5.1 A driver shall not carry in a private hire vehicle any animal, which belongs to, or is 

being looked after by, themselves, the proprietor or operator of the vehicle.  
 
5.2 Animals in the custody of passengers may be carried, at the driver’s discretion, 

provided they are restrained in a safe manner. 
 
5.3 A driver shall, however, carry assistance dogs. Assistance dogs include guide 

dogs for the blind or partially sighted, hearing dogs for the hard of hearing, and 
other assistance dogs, which assist disabled people with a physical impairment. 

 
5.4 Any driver with a medical condition, which may be exacerbated by such dogs, may 

apply for exemption from the condition in paragraph 5.3 to the Authority. A 
certificate of exemption will be supplied on production of suitable medical 
evidence. 

 

141



57 

 

6.  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 
 
6.1  All drivers of wheelchair accessible vehicles must:- 
 

 be fully conversant with the correct method to operate ramps, lifts and 
wheelchair restraints that can be fitted to the vehicle; 

 ensure that all wheelchairs are firmly secured to the vehicle using an approved 
restraining system and that the brakes of the wheelchair have been applied 
prior to the vehicle setting off; and 

 ensure that any wheelchairs, equipment and passengers are carried in such a 
way that no danger is likely to be caused to any passenger in accordance with 
regulations detailed in section 100 of the Road Vehicles (Construction & Use) 
Regulations. 

                                                                                                                                                  
7 Fares and Taximeters 

7.1 The driver/operator of a private hire vehicle may make their own agreement with 
the hirer as to the fare for a particular journey. 

 

7.2 The driver shall, if requested by the hirer, provide him with a written receipt for the 
fare paid. Each receipt should show the date of journey, driver badge number and 
amount paid. 

7.3 The driver must not demand any fare in excess of that previously agreed between 
the hirer or operator, or if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, the fare shown on 
the face of the taximeter. 

7.4 If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, the driver must: 

 When standing, keep the flag or other device in such position in which no 

fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter. 

 Unless prior agreement has been made with the hirer to engage by time, to 

bring the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving, the key, flag or 

other device and keep the machinery in action until the termination of the 

hiring. 

 Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout 

any part of the hiring which is during the hours of darkness – this being the 

time between half an hour after sunset to half an hour before sunrise, and 

also at any other time as requested by the hirer. 

 Not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any taximeter, it fittings 

or seals. 

 

7.5 In the event of a journey commencing in, but ending outside the Dover District 
there may be charged, for the journey, such fare or rate (if any) as was agreed 
before the hiring was effected. If no such agreement was made then the fare to be 
charged should be no greater than that determined by the taximeter. 

8 Convictions 

8.1 The driver must within 48 hours, notify the council in writing of an arrest and 

release of any offence imposed on him. 

142



58 

 

8.2 Drivers must supply DBS certificates and maintain an online certificate through the 

DBS update facility as set out in Section 2.8 of this policy. 

 

9 Medical Examinations 

9.1 All new applicants for a joint hackney carriage and private hire drivers licence 

must have a medical examination to Group 2 standards as set out in this policy 

and produce the relevant medical certificate signed by a medical practitioner that 

the applicant is fit  to drive a private hire vehicle. 

 

9.2 Further medical examinations to group 2 standards will be required at the following  

frequency. 

 Up to 45 years of age – 5 yearly 

 Between 45 and 60 years of age - 3 yearly 

 Aged 60 years and over – annually 

 
9.3 The driver of a private hire vehicle must undergo a medical examination to group 2  

standards at other times where reasonably required by the Council. 
 
9.4 The driver shall disclose to the Council in writing, within five days, details of any 

serious illness or injury that may impair their ability to driver or affect the safety of 
passengers (for example, head injury, heart attack, stroke, broken limbs, diabetes) 

12. Miscellaneous 

12.1 The driver must notify the Authority, within 14 days of starting or terminating  

employment, as to the name and address of the operator and/or proprietor 

concerned, and the date when the employment either started or ended. 

12.2 A copy of the private hire driver’s licence must be presented to the 

proprietor/operator at the beginning of an employment. 

12.3 The driver shall notify the Council in writing of any change of address within 
14 days. 

 

12.4 The driver must produce his DVLA driving licence to the Council within seven 
days of a written request for production being made. 

12.5 The private hire driver’s licence must be made available for inspection, upon 
request, by any authorised officer of the Council or any police officer. 

 

12.6 Where a customer has, during the course of a hiring, cause to make a complaint, 
the driver must give enough information to enable him to identify the driver (badge 
number), vehicle details including the plate and/or registration number in the event 
that it is their wish to report the matter to the Council 

 
12.7 The Driver must ensure that information for customers concerning how to make a 

complaint to the Council is clearly displayed within the vehicle. 
 

143



59 

 

APPENDIX F - PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR’S LICENCE CONDITIONS 
 

 
1. Standards of Service 

 

1.1 The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of 

the public at all reasonable times and for this purpose, shall in particular: 

1.2 Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired that the driver attends at 

the appointed time and place punctually, unless delayed or prevented by sufficient 

cause 

1.3 Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator 

provides and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking 

or waiting. 

1.4 Ensure that any waiting area has adequate seating facilities 

1.5 The proprietor of a Private Hire Business shall not cause any advertisement in 

respect of his business or the vehicles used for that purpose to include the word 

“Taxi” or “Cab” whether in the singular or plural , or any word of similar meaning or 

appearance to either of those words, whether alone or as part of another word. 

 
2. Bookings and Booking/ Dispatch Staff 

2.1 Pursuant to s56 Local Government ( Miscellaneous Provisions ) Act 1976, The 

operator shall keep a record in a suitable book, folder or electronic log of, 

particulars for every booking of a private hire vehicle invited or accepted by him, 

whether direct from the hirer or by undertaking bookings at the request of another 

operator. 

 
2.2 Records must be made prior to the commencement of the journey and as a 

minimum, must include: 

 The time and the date of the booking 

 The name and contact details of the hirer 

 The time, date and place of pick up 

 The destination 

 The Name and licence number of the Driver 

 The vehicle registration number or plate number of the vehicle 

 Name of any individual that responded to the request 

 Name of the individual that dispatched the vehicle 

 The fare (if this was agreed at the time of booking.) 

 
2.3.    The operator shall keep the above records for a period of not less than 12 months 

following the date of entry. 

144



60 

 

2.4 The operator shall have sight of a Basic DBS check for all individuals that take 

bookings and / or dispatch vehicles. For new staff, this check should be done 

before they take bookings or dispatch vehicles. Where an individual leaves the 

employment of an operator but returns at a later date, a new DBS must be 

requested and checked. 

2.5 The operator shall put in place a documented policy concerning its approach to 

employment of staff with convictions. Such a policy shall ensure that staff to do not 

present a risk to the public. 

2.6 Operators must ensure that any operator to whom they sub contract bookings, has 

equivalent arrangements in place for checking DBS of individuals taking bookings 

or dispatching vehicles and employment of staff with convictions 

2.7 The operator shall maintain a register of all individuals who take bookings and/or 

dispatch vehicles. This must include: 

 Name and address 

 Start / end date of employment. 

 Date DBS Certificate checked and by who. 

2.8 The above records for individuals must be retained for 12 months from the date 

that the individual left employment of the operator. 

2.9 Records shall be produced on request by a licensing officer or police officer. 

2.10 The Operator shall produce his licence on request to any licensing officer or police 

officer. 

2.11 Operators must not dispatch Public Carrying Vehicle (PCV) drivers or Public 

Service Vehicles (PSV) without the informed consent of the person making the 

booking. The Operator must inform the Person making the booking that PCV 

drivers are subject to a different licensing system to Taxi / Private Hire Vehicle 

Drivers, and this does not include an Enhanced DBS Check. 

 

 
3. Drivers and Vehicles 

3.1 Operators must ensure that only drivers with a valid joint hackney carriage and 

private hire driver’s licence and vehicles with a valid private hire vehicle 

licence are utilised. Both Licences  must be issued by Dover District Council. 

 
3.2 The operator shall keep a copy of licences issued by the Authority, for private hire 

vehicles it operates. 

3.3 The operator shall keep a copy of licences issued by the Authority, for drivers it 
operates. 

145



 

 

61 

3.4 The operator shall keep records of the following:- 
• Driver call signs; 
• Date of when a new driver begins service; and 
• Date when a driver ceases service; 

 
3.5 These records must be made available to a licensing officer or police officer 

on request. 

 
4 Convictions / DBS checks 

4.1 The operator shall within 48 hours notify the council in writing, of an arrest 

and  release, of, any offence imposed on him, (or if the operator is a 

company or partnership, on any of the directors or partners). 

4.2 Operators must provide a Basic DBS Certificate to the licensing team every 

12 months. This will not apply to individuals who hold a current driver’s licence 

with Dover District Council and have maintained an online certificate through 

the DBS update service. Should an individual cease to be a licensed driver, a 

Basic DBS must be  provided immediately. 

 
5 Complaints 

 
5.1 The Operator shall maintain a record of complaints concerning the condition / 

cleanliness of a vehicle or any complaint concerning a driver. These records 

shall   be maintained for 6 months and be available to a licensing officer on 

request. Operators shall immediately upon receipt notify the council in writing 

of any complaints leading to the suspension or termination of a contract with a 

driver. 

 
5.2 Operators with premises accessed by the public shall display information 

about how they can contact the Council to make a complaint about a vehicle, 

driver or operator. 

 
6 Change of Address / Directors 

6.1 The operator shall notify the council in writing of any change of his address 

including any address from which he operates or otherwise conducts his 

business  as an operator) during the period of the licence, within seven days of 

such change taking place. 

6.2 Where the operator is a Limited Company or Partnership, it must 

immediately notify the council where the partner or directors change. 

 

146



 
 

 

62 

  
APPENDIX G  
 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE SPECIFICATION AND CONDITIONS OF LICENCE  
 
New Applications 
 
Only those vehicles which comply with the specification detailed below can be granted a new 
private hire vehicle licence by Dover District Council.  
 

Existing Licensed Vehicles  

 
Vehicles that are currently licensed as Private Hire Vehicles by Dover District Council will 
continue to be licensed on renewal, subject to an MOT Certificate, Compliance Certificate and 
proof of current road tax being in place and providing the application is made before expiry of 
licence, until the vehicle age limits in force at that time. All replacement vehicles (temporary 
and permanent) will have to comply with this specification from the date this policy becomes 
effective. Any vehicle over 3 years of age will be required to submit a further MOT and have 
an inspection by the Licensing Officer 6 months into the licence period. 
  

THE SPECIFICATION  

 
1 General 
 
1.1  All vehicles shall have an appropriate “type approval” which is either a European 

Community Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) or UK Low Volume Type 
Approval (UKLVTA). Vehicles shall not have been altered since that approval was 
granted. 

 
1.2 Vehicles presented for approval, and while in use, shall comply with the Road 

Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and any subsequent amendment 
or re-enactment thereof. 

 
1.3 No fittings, other than those approved, may be attached to, or carried on the inside 

or outside of the vehicle. 
 
1.4 Vehicles which could lead the public to believe that such a vehicle is a hackney 

carriage, shall not be licensed as a private hire vehicle 
 
2 Dimensions 
 
2.1 Maximum dimensions: 
 

Width: 2 metres 
Height: 2 metres 
Length: 5 metres 

147



 
 

 

63 

Weight: 3000 kgs 
 
3 Body 
 
3.1 The vehicle shall have no signs of previous significant accident damage.  
 
3.2 The paint work shall be of a professional finish and be one consistent colour over 

the whole of the vehicle’s bodywork. 
 
3.3 The bodywork shall have no significant signs of corrosion. Corrosion includes visible 

rust and signs of rust by virtue of the paintwork being blistered.  
 
3.4 Running boards shall only permitted where they are fitted by manufacturers. The 

board shall be a minimum 125mm in width, all of which shall be available as a step. 
 
3.5 Where the top tread of the entrance to the vehicle exceeds 460 mm and the vehicle 

is not fitted with approved running boards as described in paragraph 3.4, a 
moveable intermediate step shall be provided at each entrance into the passenger 
compartment.  The intermediate step shall be encased beneath the vehicle and be 
electrically or manually operated to extend outwards.  When not in use and 
whenever the vehicle is in motion, the step shall not extend outwards beyond the 
vertical line of the bodywork. 

 
3.6 The step shall be covered with a suitable non-slip surface with the edges of the step 

highlighted in a high visibility colour, which is different from the colour scheme of the 
vehicle. 

 
3.7  Electrically operated steps if fitted shall be operated from within the driver’s 

compartment and shall have a failsafe device linked to the handbrake mechanism to 
prevent the possibility of the vehicle being driven while the step is extended. 

 
4 Wheels 
 
4.1 The vehicle shall have four road wheels. 
 
4.2 Space-saver spare tyres, where fitted as standard equipment to the vehicle, will be 

accepted. Provision shall be made for a standard road wheel to be secured in the 
vehicle should a space saver tyre be used in an emergency. A vehicle presented for 
examination and test with a space saver spare tyre in use as a road wheel will fail 
the test. 

 
4.3 Any spare wheel shall conform to construction and use regulations. 
 
4.4      A wheel brace and jack to enable the effective change of a tyre and wheel shall be 

carried: except where para. 4.5 applies. 
 
4.5     Where an aerosol inflation and sealant device is supplied with the vehicle as 

standard by the manufacturer, a spare tyre need not be carried. 

148



 
 

 

64 

 
4.6  If a vehicle is fitted with ‘run flat’ tyres the vehicle shall be fitted with a tyre pressure 

sensor / warning device. 
 
5 Steering 
 
5.1 All vehicles, except Stretch Limousines as detailed in Appendix I, shall be right-hand 

drive and shall have been so since the date of first registration.  
 
6 Interior 
 
6.1 The minimum leg room available to any passenger shall be 200mm. The 

measurement will be taken from the base of the seat to the rear of the seat in front 
when the front seat is at its full, rearwards extension. If this measurement cannot be 
achieved, then 1500mm shall be allowed from the base of the rear seat to the front 
well.  Where there is no seat in front the measurement will be taken from the base of 
the seat to the nearest obstruction in front. 

 
6.2 The internal headroom from the seat cushion to the lowest part of the roof in a 

vertical line shall be a minimum of 920mm. 
 
7 Doors 
 
7.1 The vehicle shall have a minimum of 4 side opening doors which are easily 

accessible to passengers without the need to move or adjust any seats etc, to gain 
access to them.  

 
7.2 All vehicles shall have doors that open sufficiently wide to allow easy access in and 

egress from the vehicle. 
 
7.3 All doors shall be fitted with reflectors/reflective strips or lights, which are clearly 

visible from the rear of the vehicle when the door is open. 
 
7.4 All doors shall be capable of being readily opened from the inside and outside of the 

vehicle by one operation of the latch mechanism.    
 
7.5 The interior door handle shall be clearly visible and easily accessible to passengers 

when the door is in a fully open position. 
 

8 Seats 

 

8.1 Vehicles shall have a passenger seating capacity of not less than 4 persons and not 
more than 8 persons. 

 
8.2 Each seat shall be fitted with fully operational seat belts, compliant with British 

Standards, except where the law specifically provides an exemption. 
 

149



 
 

 

65 

8.3 Each seat shall not be less than 406mm in width. 
 
8.4 Where bench seats are provided, then the seat shall provide a minimum of 406mm 

seating space for each passenger i.e. a rear bench seat shall not be less than 1218 
mm in order to accommodate 3 passengers. 

 
8.5 Each row of seats made available shall have door access immediately adjacent to it 

unless access to rows of seats is by way of permanent passageway from such a 
door. 

 
8.6 If a seat is to be removed to comply with this requirement, it shall be removed from 

the nearside of the vehicle, from the row of seats, which are situated behind the front 
passenger seat. 

 
9 Windows 
 
9.1 Opening windows shall be provided in the rear of the vehicle capable of being 

opened by the rear seat passengers. 
 
9.2          Vehicle windows shall have visual transmission of light of not less than 75% in 

respect of windscreens and not less than 70% in respect of all other windows and 
rear windscreen. 

 
9.3 No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint the glass 

on any part of the vehicle. 
 
9.4      A serviceable device for demisting the rear window shall be fitted. 
 
10 Heating and ventilation 
 
10.1 Vehicles shall have an efficient heating and ventilation system. 
 
11 Wheelchair carrying facilities. 
 
11.1 Any vehicle that has the facility for the carriage of wheelchair and wheelchair 

passengers shall be fitted with:- 
 

 Approved anchorages that shall be either chassis or floor linked and capable of 
withstanding approved dynamic or static tests.  Restraints for wheelchair and 
passengers shall be independent of each other. Anchorages shall also be 
provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair, whether folded or otherwise, if 
carried within the passenger compartment.  All anchorages and restraints shall 
be so designed that they do not cause any danger to other passengers. 

 

 A ramp or ramps for the loading of a wheelchair and passenger shall be 
available at all times for use at the nearside rear passenger door.  An adequate 
locking device shall be fitted to ensure that the ramp(s) do not slip or tilt when 
in use.  Provision shall be made for the ramps to be stored safely in the vehicle 

150



 
 

 

66 

when not in use. 
 
11.2 The vehicle shall be equipped with a manufacturer’s user manual/guide on the safe 

loading and unloading and security of wheelchair passengers. 
 
11.3 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the 

vehicle shall have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER) during the 6 months 
prior to being first licensed and at each subsequent renewal and be so certified and 
produced to Authority approved testing stations. 

 
12  Fuel systems 
 
12.1  A device shall be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be 

immediately cut off.  A manually operated device shall have its location together with 
the means of operation and "off" position, clearly marked on the outside of the 
vehicle.  In the case of a vehicle fitted with an automatic inertia fuel cut off switch, no 
external switch or markings are required. 

 
12.2 Before commencing any gas fuel conversions it is essential that written approval is 

sought from the Authority. The guidelines set out below give indication of current 
requirements. 

 
12.3 All vehicles which are powered by Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) or Compressed 

Natural Gas (CNG) shall comply with all the relevant legislation set out in the Road 
Vehicles (Construction and Use)  Regulations 1986 (as amended). 

 
12.4 LPG conversions shall also comply with LP Gas Associations, Autogas Installations 

Code of Practice 11 and any later version of the COP. Conversion shall still comply 
with Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986. 

 
12.5 Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) - Vehicles shall comply with the Natural Gas 

Vehicle Design and Installation of Vehicle Fuel System Component Guidelines. 
Conversion shall still comply with Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations 1986 and certain additional safety features as required by the Authority. 

 
12.6 To operate a vehicle powered by CNG on the public highway, special authorisation 

has to be granted through the Department of the Environment, Transport and 
Regions, Vehicle and Standards Engineering Division, (Reference to C & U 
regulation 91 (2)). Authorisation shall be submitted to the Authority upon 
presentation of vehicle for licensing.  

 

 An appropriate certificate of installation shall be provided to the Authority at 
the time of inspection. 

 An annual exhaust emissions test certificate (issued by an approved vehicle 
inspectorate MOT testing station) shall be provided when the taxicab is 
presented for licensing. 

 An appropriate certificate of LPG / CNG Fuel Tank Integrity will be required, 

151



 
 

 

67 

as may an annual system inspection certificate. 
 
12.7 The Authority can consider allowing LPG / CNG vehicles to not carry a spare wheel. 

This would be subject to individual application and the provision that the driver of 
such a vehicle subscribes to a tyre repair /replacement or vehicle breakdown 
organisation. 

 
13 CCTV Systems 
 
13.1 CCTV surveillance systems to assist driver safety are permitted in vehicles. If such 

devices are fitted, adequate signage shall be displayed in the passenger 
compartment advising passengers that they are being monitored / recorded. Any 
such equipment shall be fitted overtly and in such a way so as not to present any 
danger or hazard to any passenger. It will be the driver/ proprietor’s responsibility to 
comply with all aspects of the law regarding such surveillance equipment. 

 
14 Trailers and Roof carriers 
 
14.1 The vehicle may tow a trailer but shall; 
 

 comply with the towing weights specified by the vehicles’ manufacturer 

 provide secure and weather proof storage for luggage  

 display the licence plate on to a platform kit at the rear  
 
14.2 If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods, in addition to normal luggage, it 

shall be of a type fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the 
manufacturer. 

 
15  Tyres 
 
15.1 All tyres, including the spare tyre, shall comply with the vehicle manufacturers 

specification. 
 
15.2 Re-cut tyres are not acceptable for M1 passenger vehicles and remould tyres shall 

only be acceptable if they carry a recognised approval marking (currently 
BSAU144e) and display the following information clearly displayed on each tyre: 

 Nominal size; 

 Construction type (e.g. radial ply); 

 Load capacity; and 

 Speed capability 
 
15.3 Tyres fitted to the vehicle shall have a minimum 1.6mm tread depth. 
 
16  Electrical equipment 
 
16.1  Any additional electrical installation to the original equipment shall be adequately 

insulated and be protected by suitable fuses. 

152



 
 

 

68 

 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
17           Examination and Test 
 
17.1 Before a licence is granted for the use of a vehicle as a private hire vehicle, the 

vehicle shall be examined and tested by an MOT approved vehicle testing station. 
 
17.2 Every vehicle is also to be presented to the Licensing Officer for inspection to 

ensure that it complies with the additional vehicle conditions. 
 

17.3     For vehicles over 3 years of age, a further MOT must be submitted and the vehicle 
presented to the Licensing Officer for inspection 6 months into the licence period. 

 
18            Licence Identification Plates 
 
18.1 The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall fix to the vehicle licence identification 

plates of size, colour, design and type supplied by the Authority. 

18.2 The proprietor shall ensure that the licence identification plate is fixed to the front 
and rear exterior of the private hire vehicle in the vicinity of the bumper in such a 
position as the vehicle registration plate is not obscured, with the particulars thereon 
facing outwards and in such a manner and place that the licence is clearly visible by 
daylight from the highway. It shall be fixed on a platform kit as supplied by the 
Authority in such a manner as to be easily removed by an authorised officer or a 
police constable. The platform kit shall be fixed by bolts or screws or other similar 
means. 

 
18.3 The proprietor shall ensure that no licence identification plate be displayed other 

than the plates issued by the council, and the said plate shall be displayed only on 
the vehicle to which it relates. 

 
18.4 The licence plates shall remain the property of the council and shall be returned to 

them within seven days after the service on the proprietor of an appropriate notice 
by the Authority in the event of the private hire vehicle licence ceasing to be in force 
in respect of the vehicle. 

 
19. Meters 
 
19.1       If the vehicle is fitted with a meter for recording the fare it shall display and maintain 

the statement of fares inside the vehicle in such a position as to be clearly visible at 
all times to the hirer. The statement of fares shall include the following information: 

 

 The minimum hire charge 

 The rate charged per mile 

 Any additional charges 
 
19.2          The meter shall :- 

153



 
 

 

69 

 

  Be checked and sealed by the Licensing Officer before it is used; 

  Not display a “For Hire” sign at any time;  

 Be fitted in such a position that its figures are clearly visible to passengers and 
that it is sufficiently illuminated; and 

 Be fitted to the vehicle with seals or other appliances, so as not to be 
practicable for any person to tamper with them by breaking, damaging or 
permanently displacing the seals or other appliances. 

 
19.3 If no meter is fitted, the fare charged shall not exceed that stated in the statement of 

fares as displayed in the vehicle unless a rate has been separately agreed between 
the hirer and the Licensed Private Hire Operator at the time of booking and prior to 
the journey. 

 
 
20.  Receipt book  
 
20.1 The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall ensure that a carbonated receipt book, 

or other suitable mechanism for producing receipts, is available in the vehicle at all 
times. A receipt will be given on request and each receipt shall show as a minimum 
the following particulars:- 

 

 Date of journey 

 Badge number of driver 

 Amount paid 
 
21. Luggage 
 
21.1 The proprietor shall at all times, provide facilities for the conveyance of luggage 

safely and protected from inclement weather. 
 
21.2 Where luggage is stored other than in a boot (e.g. in an MPV), it shall be properly 

secured. 
 
22 Property 
 
22.1 Any property left accidentally in the vehicle by passengers shall be returned to the 

passengers where possible, or returned to the operating address and the 
passengers contacted to advise that it is available for collection. 

 
23 Furnishing and maintenance of vehicle 
 
23.1 The proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle and all its fittings and equipment at all 

times when the vehicle is in use or available for private hire shall be kept in an 
efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements 
(including in particular those contained in Road Vehicles (Construction and Use 
Regulations 1986) shall be fully complied with. 

154



 
 

 

70 

 
23.2 Where a separate compartment is provided for passengers, the proprietor shall 

provide sufficient means by which any person in the compartment may communicate 
with the driver.  

 
23.3 The proprietor shall at all times, provide adequate lighting and heating for the interior 

of the vehicle. 
 
24 Signs, notices and advertisements 
 
24.1 Vehicles shall not be allowed to display any printed, written or other material on the 

windows of the vehicle except in respect of the following:- 
 

 No eating or drinking; 

 Public health and safety campaigns; 

 Permits for private ranks; 

 Trade organisation membership; 

 No smoking. 
 
24.2   Vehicle proprietors shall not display or allow to be displayed in or on their vehicle 

any signs, notices, advertisements, video or audio display etc either for the purpose 
of advertising or by way of identifying or personalising marks. However, the Authority 
will consider varying this prohibition on application from vehicle licence holders in 
accordance with the terms of these conditions. 

 
24.3     Applications for approval of advertisements must be made in writing on the 

approved form to the Licensing Manager. The form must be accompanied by a copy 
of the proposed advertisement in full colour. 

 
24.4 All advertisements must comply with the British Code Of Advertising Practice issued 

by the Advertising Standards Authority and must be legal, decent, honest and 
truthful. Each application will be considered on its own merits but advertisements will 
not be approved if they contain political, ethnic, religious, sexual or controversial 
texts; advertise tobacco products; display nude or semi nude figures; are likely to 
offend public taste; depict men or women as sex objects; depict direct and 
immediate violence to anyone shown in the advertisement or anyone looking at it; 
advertise any racist group or organisation which intends to promote the 
group/organisation and/or any of its activities. 

 
24.5 If the Licensing Manager is not satisfied as to the non-contentious nature or 

placement of an advertisement then any such application may be submitted to the 
Regulatory Committee. 

 
24.6     Permitted advertisements may be displayed in the interior of vehicles on the 

underside of tip-up seats and these must be encapsulated in clear non-flammable 
plastic or be manufactured of rigid plastic. 

 

155



 
 

 

71 

24.7 Proprietors or drivers of licensed vehicles found to be advertising unauthorised or 
prohibited advertisements shall be issued penalty points. 

 
25 Company signs 
 
25.1 Cars 

Company (Operator) signs shall be displayed on the two front doors (upper half 
panel in line with Authority signs). The maximum size shall be 770mm x 260mm.  
A sign may be displayed on the rear of the vehicle advertising the company but it 
shall not exceed 100mm in height and the telephone number should not exceed 
75mm in height. 
A copy of any proposed company sign shall be forwarded to the Licensing Section 
for approval. 

 
25.2 MPV’s  

Company (Operator) signs shall be displayed on the two front doors (upper half 
panel in line with Authority signs) of private hire vehicles. Signs may be displayed on 
the rear of the vehicle advertising the company (but not the window). A copy of any 
proposed company signage shall be forwarded to the Licensing Section who shall 
approve by vehicle make and model, signage parameters in proportion to the design 
of each vehicle. 

 
25.3 Other (Large) Vehicles 

The Authority shall approve, by vehicle make and model, signage parameters in 
proportion to the design of each vehicle. Company (Operator) signs shall be 
displayed on the two front doors (upper half panel in line with Council signs). 

 
25.4 All company signs shall be the same for each vehicle. 
 
26  Communication Devices  
 
26.1 Where apparatus for the operation of a two-way radio system is fitted to a vehicle, 

no part of the apparatus shall be fixed in the passenger compartment or in the rear 
boot compartment if LPG or CNG tanks or equipment are in use. It shall be currently 
approved by Ofcom. 

 
26.2 Any radio apparatus shall be so positioned and properly secured so as not to 

interfere with the safe operation of the vehicle. 
 
26.3  No other radio equipment, either in the driver or the passenger compartment, is 

permitted without the prior approval of the Authority. 
 
27  Auxiliary equipment  
 
27.1 Any auxiliary equipment that is fitted to a vehicle shall not impede the driver in any 

way, or hinder his/her view, or impede, or cause hazard to passengers or other road 
users. 

 

156



 
 

 

72 

28           Convictions 

28.1  The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall within 14 days of conviction disclose to 
the Authority in writing details of any convictions imposed on him during the currency 
of his licence. 

29           Change of Address  

29.1  The proprietor shall notify the Authority in writing of any change in his/her name or 
address within 14 days of such a change taking place. 

30 Production of Private Hire Vehicle Licence and Insurance Certificates 
 
30.1 The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall provide a copy of the current private hire 

vehicle licence issued by the Authority and current insurance certificate to the 
operator for which the vehicle is being used during the time it is so used for that 
operation. 

 
31 Fire Extinguisher & First Aid Kit 
 
31.1 All vehicles must carry a standard motorist’s first aid kit and an easily accessible and 

compliant fire extinguisher, both of which must be in a serviceable condition. 
 

157



 
 

 

73 

APPENDIX H – HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE SPECIFICATION AND CONDITIONS  
 
New Applications 
 
The Authority is not currently accepting applications for new Hackney Carriage Vehicle 
Licences, however, should an application be considered or the quantity restrictions be lifted 
whilst this policy is in force then all new applications for Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences 
will have to comply with the specification detailed below. 

Existing Licensed Vehicles  

 
Vehicles that are currently licensed as Hackney Carriage Vehicles by Dover District Council 
will continue to be licensed on renewal, subject to a satisfactory MOT and compliance 
inspection and evidence of current vehicle tax being in place, and providing the application is 
made before expiry of licence, until the vehicle age limits in force at that time. All replacement 
vehicles (temporary and permanent) will have to comply with this specification from the date 
this policy becomes effective. Any vehicle over 3 years of age will be required to submit a 
further MOT and have an inspection by the Licensing Officer 6 months into the licence period. 
 

THE SPECIFICATION  

 
1 General 
 
1.1 All vehicles shall have an appropriate “type approval” which is either a European 

Community Whole Vehicle Type Approval (ECWVTA) or UK Low Volume Type 
Approval (UKLVTA). Vehicles shall not have been altered since that approval was 
granted. 

 
1.2 Vehicles presented for approval, and while in use, shall comply with the Road 

Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 and any subsequent amendment 
or re-enactment thereof. 

 
1.3 No fittings, other than those approved, may be attached to, or carried on the inside 

or outside of the vehicle. 
 
1.4 To aid identification of hackney carriage vehicles by the public, licensed vehicles, 

shall display, on both sides of the vehicle the word "taxi".  The word “taxi” shall be 
permanently marked; in a colour contrasting with the colour scheme of the vehicle in 
letters not less than 100 mm high.  The wording shall be located in such a position 
that it is easily seen and may be repeated along the side of the vehicle. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

158



 
 

 

74 

2 Dimensions 
 
2.2 Maximum dimensions: 
 

Width: 2 metres 
Height: 2 metres 
Length: 5 metres 
Weight: 3000 kgs 

 
3 Body 
 
3.1 The vehicle shall have no signs of previous significant accident damage.  
 
3.2 The paint work shall be of a professional finish and be one consistent colour over 

the whole of the vehicle’s bodywork. 
 
3.3 The bodywork shall have no significant signs of corrosion. Corrosion includes visible 

rust and signs of rust by virtue of the paintwork being blistered.  
 
3.4 Running boards shall only permitted where they are fitted by manufacturers. The 

board shall be a minimum 125mm in width, all of which shall be available as a step. 
 
3.5 Where the top tread of the entrance to the vehicle exceeds 460 mm and the vehicle 

is not fitted with approved running boards as described in paragraph 3.4, a 
moveable intermediate step shall be provided at each entrance into the passenger 
compartment.  The intermediate step shall be encased beneath the vehicle and be 
electrically or manually operated to extend outwards.  When not in use and 
whenever the vehicle is in motion, the step shall not extend outwards beyond the 
vertical line of the bodywork. 

 
3.6 The step shall be covered with a suitable non-slip surface with the edges of the step 

highlighted in a high visibility colour, which is different from the colour scheme of the 
vehicle. 

 
3.7  Electrically operated steps if fitted shall be operated from within the driver’s 

compartment and shall have a failsafe device linked to the handbrake mechanism to 
prevent the possibility of the vehicle being driven while the step is extended. 

 
4 Wheels 
 
4.1 The vehicle shall have four road wheels. 
 
4.2 Space-saver spare tyres, where fitted as standard equipment to the vehicle, will be 

accepted. Provision shall be made for a standard road wheel to be secured in the 
vehicle should a space saver tyre be used in an emergency. A vehicle presented for 
examination and test with a space saver spare tyre in use as a road wheel will fail 
the test. 

 

159



 
 

 

75 

4.3 Any spare wheel shall conform to construction and use regulations. 
 
4.4 A wheel brace and jack to enable the effective change of a tyre and wheel shall be 

carried: except where para. 4.5 applies. 
 
4.5 Where an aerosol inflation and sealant device is supplied with the vehicle as 

standard by the manufacturer, a spare tyre need not be carried. 
 
4.6 If a vehicle is fitted with ‘run flat’ tyres the vehicle shall be fitted with a tyre pressure 

sensor / warning device. 
 
5 Steering 
 
5.1  All vehicles shall be right-hand drive and shall have been so since date of first 

registration 
 
6 Interior 
 
6.1 The minimum leg room available to any passenger shall be 200mm.The 

measurement will be taken from the base of the seat to the rear of the seat in front 
when the front seat is at its full, rearwards extension. If this measurement cannot be 
achieved, then 1500mm shall be allowed from the base of the rear seat to the front 
well.  Where there is no seat in front the measurement will be taken from the base of 
the seat to the nearest obstruction in front. 

 
6.2 The internal headroom from the seat cushion to the lowest part of the roof in a 

vertical line shall be a minimum of 920mm. 
 
7 Doors 
 
7.1 The vehicle shall have a minimum of 4 side opening doors which are easily 

accessible to passengers without the need to move or adjust any seats etc, to gain 
access to them.  

 
7.2 All vehicles shall have doors that open sufficiently wide to allow easy access in and 

egress from the vehicle. 
 
7.3 All doors shall be fitted with reflectors/reflective strips or lights, which are clearly 

visible from the rear of the vehicle when the door is open. 
 
7.4 All doors shall be capable of being readily opened from the inside and outside of the 

vehicle by one operation of the latch mechanism.    
 
7.5 The interior door handle shall be clearly visible and easily accessible to passengers 

when the door is in a fully open position. 
 

 

160



 
 

 

76 

 

8 Seats 

 

8.1 Vehicles shall have a passenger seating capacity of not less than 4 persons and not 
more than 8 persons. 

 
8.2 Each seat shall be fitted with fully operational seat belts, compliant with British 

Standards, except where the law specifically provides an exemption. 
 
8.3 Each seat shall not be less than 406mm in width. 
 
8.4 Where bench seats are provided, then the seat shall provide a minimum of 406mm 

seating space for each passenger i.e. a rear bench seat shall not be less than 1218 
mm in order to accommodate 3 passengers. 

 
8.5 Each row of seats made available shall have door access immediately adjacent to it 

unless access to rows of seats is by way of permanent passageway from such a 
door. 

 
8.6 If a seat is to be removed to comply with this requirement, it shall be removed from 

the nearside of the vehicle, from the row of seats, which are situated behind the front 
passenger seat. 

 
9 Windows 
 
9.1 Opening windows shall be provided in the rear of the vehicle capable of being 

opened by the rear seat passengers. 
 
9.2          Vehicle windows shall have visual transmission of light of not less than 75% in 

respect of windscreens and not less than 70% in respect of all other windows and 
rear windscreen. 

 
9.3      No vehicle shall be fitted with any form of additional film to darken or tint the glass   

on any part of the vehicle. 
 
9.4      A serviceable device for demisting the rear window shall be fitted. 
 
10 Heating and ventilation 
 
10.1 Vehicles shall have an efficient heating and ventilation system. 
 
11 Wheelchair carrying facilities. 
 
11.1 Any vehicle that has the facility for the carriage of wheelchair and wheelchair 

passengers shall be fitted with:- 
 

 Approved anchorages that shall be either chassis or floor linked and capable 

161



 
 

 

77 

of withstanding approved dynamic or static tests.  Restraints for wheelchair 
and passengers shall be independent of each other. Anchorages shall also 
be provided for the safe storage of a wheelchair, whether folded or 
otherwise, if carried within the passenger compartment.  All anchorages and 
restraints shall be so designed that they do not cause any danger to other 
passengers. 

 

       A ramp or ramps for the loading of a wheelchair and passenger shall be 
available at all times for use at the nearside rear passenger door.  An 
adequate locking device shall be fitted to ensure that the ramp(s) do not slip 
or tilt when in use.  Provision shall be made for the ramps to be stored safely 
in the vehicle when not in use. 

 
11.2 The vehicle shall be equipped with a manufacturer’s user manual/guide on the safe 

loading and unloading and security of wheelchair passengers. 
 
11.3 Any equipment fitted to the vehicle for the purpose of lifting a wheelchair into the 

vehicle shall have been tested in accordance with the requirements of the Lifting 
Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER) during the 6 months 
prior to being first licensed and at each subsequent renewal and be so certified and 
produced to the Authority. 

 
 
12  Fuel systems 
 
12.1  A device shall be provided whereby the supply of fuel to the engine may be 

immediately cut off.  A manually operated device shall have its location together with 
the means of operation and "off" position, clearly marked on the outside of the 
vehicle.  In the case of a vehicle fitted with an automatic inertia fuel cut off switch, no 
external switch or markings are required. 

 
12.2 Before commencing any gas fuel conversions it is essential that written approval is 

sought from the Authority. The guidelines set out below give indication of current 
requirements. 

 
12.3 All vehicles which are powered by Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) or Compressed 

Natural Gas (CNG) shall comply with all the relevant legislation set out in the Road 
Vehicles (Construction and Use)  Regulations 1986 (as amended). 

 
12.4 LPG conversions shall also comply with LP Gas Associations, Autogas Installations 

Code of Practice 11 and any later version of the COP. Conversion shall still comply 
with Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986. 

 
12.5 Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) - Vehicles shall comply with the Natural Gas 

Vehicle Design and Installation of Vehicle Fuel System Component Guidelines. 
Conversion shall still comply with Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations 1986 and certain additional safety features as required by the Authority. 

 

162



 
 

 

78 

12.6 To operate a vehicle powered by CNG on the public highway, special authorisation 
has to be granted through the Department of the Environment, Transport and 
Regions, Vehicle and Standards Engineering Division, (Reference to C & U 
regulation 91 (2)). Authorisation shall be submitted to the Authority upon 
presentation of vehicle for licensing.  

 

 An appropriate certificate of installation shall be provided to the Authority at 
the time of inspection. 
 

 An annual exhaust emissions test certificate (issued by an approved vehicle 
inspectorate MOT testing station) shall be provided when the taxicab is 
presented for licensing. 
 

         An appropriate certificate of LPG / CNG Fuel Tank Integrity will be 
required, as may an annual system inspection certificate. 

 
12.7 The Authority can consider allowing LPG / CNG vehicles to not carry a spare wheel. 

This would be subject to individual application and the provision that the driver of 
such a vehicle subscribes to a tyre repair /replacement or vehicle breakdown 
organisation. 

 
13 CCTV Systems 
 
13.1 CCTV surveillance systems to assist driver safety are permitted in vehicles. If such 

devices are fitted, adequate signage shall be displayed in the passenger 
compartment advising passengers that they are being monitored / recorded. Any 
such equipment shall be fitted overtly and in such a way so as not to present any 
danger or hazard to any passenger. It will be the driver/ proprietor’s responsibility to 
comply with all aspects of the law regarding such surveillance equipment. 

 
14 Trailers and Roof carriers 
 
14.1 The vehicle may tow a trailer but shall; 
 

 comply with the towing weights specified by the vehicles’ manufacturer 

 provide secure and weather proof storage for luggage  

 display the licence plate on to a platform kit at the rear  
 
14.2 If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods, in addition to normal luggage, it 

shall be of a type fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the 
manufacturer. 

 
15  Tyres 
 
15.1 All tyres, including the spare tyre, shall comply with the vehicle manufacturers 

specification. 
 
15.2 Re-cut tyres are not acceptable for M1 passenger vehicles and remould tyres shall 

163



 
 

 

79 

only be acceptable if they carry a recognised approval marking (currently 
BSAU144e) and display the following information clearly displayed on each tyre: 

 

 Nominal size; 

 Construction type (e.g. radial ply); 

 Load capacity; and 

 Speed capability 
 
15.3 Tyres fitted to the vehicle shall have a minimum 1.6mm tread depth. 
 
16  Electrical equipment 
 
16.1   Any additional electrical installation to the original equipment shall be adequately   

insulated and be protected by suitable fuses. 
 
CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
17           Examination and Test 
 
17.1 Before a licence is granted for the use of a vehicle as a Hackney Carriage vehicle, 

the vehicle shall be examined and tested by an MOT approved vehicle testing 
station. 

 
17.2 Every vehicle is also to be presented to the Licensing Officer for inspection to 

ensure that it complies with the additional vehicle conditions. 
 
18            Licence Identification Plates 
 
18.1 The proprietor of a hackney carriage vehicle shall fix to the vehicle licence 

identification plates of size, colour, design and type prescribed by the Authority. 

18.2 The proprietor shall ensure that the licence identification plate is fixed to the front 
and rear exterior of the hackney carriage vehicle either immediately above or 
immediately below the bumper in such a position as the vehicle registration plate is 
not obscured, with the particulars thereon facing outwards so that the licence is 
clearly visible by daylight from the highway at the rear of the vehicle. It shall be fixed 
on a platform kit supplied by the Authority in such a manner as to be easily removed 
by an authorised officer or a police constable.  The platform kit shall be fixed by bolts 
or screws or other similar means. 

 
18.3 The proprietor shall ensure that no licence identification plate be displayed other 

than the plates issued by the Authority, and the said plates shall be displayed only 
on the vehicle to which it relates. 

 
18.4 The licence plates shall remain the property of the Authority and shall be returned to 

it within seven days after the service on the proprietor of an appropriate notice by 
the Authority in the event of the hackney carriage licence ceasing to be in force in 
respect of that vehicle. 

164



 
 

 

80 

 
19 Taximeters 
 
19.1 The taximeter and fittings shall be fixed to the vehicle with seals or other appliances 

(where possible), so as not to be practicable for any person to tamper with them by 
breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the appliance. 

 
19.2 The taximeter shall be positioned so that all letters and figures on its face shall be at 

all times illuminated and plainly visible to any passenger. 
 
19.3     The taximeter when standing at a rank or plying for hire shall be kept locked in a 

position in which no fare is recorded on its face. 
 
19.4 When the taximeter is operating there shall be recorded on the face of the meter in 

clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the maximum fare that shall be charged 
for a journey. 

 
19.5 If the taximeter is sealed and has been altered for whatever reason, the proprietor of 

the vehicle shall forthwith make arrangements for resetting and resealing with the 
Licensing Officer. 

 
19.6  The vehicle taximeter shall be brought into operation at the commencement of all 

hires and the fare demanded by the driver shall not be greater than that shown on 
the meter and fixed by this Authority. In the event of a hire ending outside the town 
boundary there may be charged for the journey such fare or rate of fare, if any, as 
was agreed before the hiring was effected. If no such agreement was made at the 
start of the journey then the fare to be charged should be no greater than that which 
would have been shown on the taximeter. 

 
19.7 All Taximeters shall be operated in accordance with the Hackney Carriage Byelaws 

as detailed in Appendix D. 
 
 
20. Table of fares 
 
20.1 The proprietor shall ensure that the current table of fares fixed by the Authority is on 

display inside the vehicle at all times and is not concealed from view or rendered 
illegible. 

 
21.  Receipt book  
 
21.1 The proprietor of a private hire vehicle shall ensure that a carbonated receipt book, 

or other suitable mechanism for producing receipts, is available in the vehicle at all 
times. A receipt will be given on request and each receipt shall show as a minimum 
the following particulars:- 

 

 Date of journey 

 Badge number of driver 

165



 
 

 

81 

 Amount paid 
 
22. Luggage 
 
22.1 The proprietor shall at all times, provide facilities for the conveyance of luggage 

safely and protected from inclement weather. 
 
22.2 Where luggage is stored other than in a boot (e.g. in an MPV), it shall be properly 

secured. 
 
 
23 Property 
 
23.1 Every effort should be made to return any property left accidentally in the vehicle by 

passengers to the rightful owner.    
 
24 Furnishing and maintenance of vehicle 
 
24.1 The proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle and all its fittings and equipment at all 

times when the vehicle is in use or available for private hire shall be kept in an 
efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory requirements 
(including in particular those contained in Road Vehicles (Construction and Use 
Regulations 1986) shall be fully complied with. 

 
24.2 Where a separate compartment is provided for passengers, the proprietor shall 

provide sufficient means by which any person in the compartment may communicate 
with the driver.  

 
24.3 The proprietor shall at all times, provide adequate lighting and heating for the interior 

of the vehicle. 
 
25 Taxi signs 
 
25.1 The proprietor shall ensure that a roof sign of the approved type shall be illuminated 

at all times when (and only when) the vehicle is available for hire. 
 
 
26 Signs, notices and advertisements 
 
26.1 Vehicles shall not be allowed to display any printed, written or other material on the 

windows of the vehicle except in respect of the following:- 
 

 No eating or drinking; 

 Public health and safety campaigns; 

 Permits for private ranks; 

 Trade organisation membership; 

 No smoking; and 
 

166



 
 

 

82 

26.2   Vehicle proprietors shall not display or allow to be displayed in or on their vehicle 
any signs, notices, advertisements, video or audio display etc either for the purpose 
of advertising or by way of identifying or personalising marks. However, the Authority 
will consider varying this prohibition on application from vehicle licence holders in 
accordance with the terms of these conditions. 

 
26.3     Applications for approval of advertisements must be made in writing on the 

approved form to the Licensing Manager. The form must be accompanied by a copy 
of the proposed advertisement in full colour. 

 
26.4 All advertisements must comply with the British Code Of Advertising Practice issued 

by the Advertising Standards Authority and must be legal, decent, honest and 
truthful. Each application will be considered on its own merits but advertisements will 
not be approved if they contain political, ethnic, religious, sexual or controversial 
texts; advertise tobacco products; display nude or semi nude figures; are likely to 
offend public taste; depict men or women as sex objects; depict direct and 
immediate violence to anyone shown in the advertisement or anyone looking at it; 
advertise any racist group or organisation which intends to promote the 
group/organisation and/or any of its activities. 

 
26.5 If the Licensing Manager is not satisfied as to the non-contentious nature or 

placement of an advertisement then any such application may be submitted to the 
Regulatory Committee. 

 
26.6     Permitted advertisements may be displayed in the interior of vehicles on the 

underside of tip-up seats and these must be encapsulated in clear non-flammable 
plastic or be manufactured of rigid plastic. 

 
26.7 Proprietors or drivers of licensed vehicles found to be advertising unauthorised or 

prohibited advertisements shall be issued penalty points. 
 
27  Communication Devices  
 
27.1 Where apparatus for the operation of a two-way radio system is fitted to a vehicle, 

no part of the apparatus shall be fixed in the passenger compartment or in the rear 
boot compartment if LPG or CNG tanks or equipment are in use. It shall be of a type 
currently approved byOfcom. 

 
27.2 Any radio apparatus shall be so positioned and properly secured so as not to 

interfere with the safe operation of the vehicle. 
 
27.3  No other radio equipment, either in the driver or the passenger compartment, is 

permitted without the prior approval of the Authority. 
 
28  Auxiliary equipment  
 
28.1 Any auxiliary equipment that is fitted to a vehicle shall not impede the driver in any 

way, or hinder his/her view, or impede, or cause hazard to passengers or other road 

167



 
 

 

83 

users. 
 
29            Convictions 

29.1  Proprietors shall within 14 days of conviction disclose to the Authority, in writing, 
details of any convictions received during the period of licence. 

30            Change of Address 

30.1  The proprietor shall notify the Authority, in writing, of any change in name and 
address within 14 days of such a change taking place. 

31 Fire Extinguisher & First Aid Kit 

31.1 All vehicles must carry a standard motorist’s first aid kit and an easily accessible and 
compliant fire extinguisher, both of which must be in a serviceable condition. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

168



 
 

 

84 

APPENDIX I – STRETCH LIMOUSINES 
 
1.PRE-LICENSING REQUIREMENTS AND LICENSING CONDITIONS 
 

 
 

Issue Licence Condition Justification 

1 Left Hand Drive 
Vehicles 

Permit Left Hand Drive 
limousines to be licensed.   

The majority of stretch limousines 
are imported from the United States 
of America and are left hand drive. 
The Department for Transport has 
recommended that Authorities 
should not refuse to licence 
limousines simply because they 
have characteristics which 
contravene their existing policy, i.e. 
left hand drive. 

2 Sideways 
Seating 

Permit limousines with sideways 
facing seating to be considered 
for private hire vehicle licensing. 
But no seat must be positioned 
so that it permanently obstructs 
any door.  

A main characteristic of stretch 
limousines is their sideways facing 
bench seats. In line with the 
Department for Transport guidance 
the Authority will consider the 
suitability of limousines with 
sideways seating for licensing.  

3 Signage Provided that they have received 
written consent from the 
Authority, limousines may, in 
certain circumstances, not be 
required to display identification 
signs required by other private 
hire vehicles. 
 

Signage serves to distinguish 
private hire vehicles from ordinary 
saloon cars and to make them 
clearly identifiable to the public. 
However, the naturally distinctive 
appearance of stretched limousines 
means that they are very unlikely to 
be confused with a private road 
user’s vehicle or a hackney carriage 
vehicle. 

4 Tinted Glass No restriction to the level of tint 
for the glass windows in the 
passenger compartment. 
However, tinted glass in the 
windscreen and front doors shall 
be restricted to the requirements 
of the IVA Standards. 

It is recognised that the privacy 
provided by tinted glass in the 
passenger compartment is a central 
characteristic of a limousine.  
 

5 Fare 
Table/Taximeter 

Limousines are not required to 
display a fare table or contain a 
taximeter.  Any taximeter fitted 
must be a calendar controlled 
taximeter and any fare table in 
operation be forwarded to the 
Authority.  

Stretch limousines often do not 
operate under a fare system as 
journeys are generally pre-paid in 
advance based on the length of time 
they are hired for. 

6 Roadworthiness They shall hold a valid Individual The  IVA test comprises of a visual 

169



 
 

 

85 

Vehicle Approval (IVA) 
Certificate or equivalent. 

examination of a vehicle and 
certifies its safety and 
roadworthiness. 

 

7 Vehicle Age Stretch limousines to be licensed 
in accordance with the 
Authority’s current vehicle age 
policy.  

To ensure that the limousines 
licensed by the Authority are in a 
good and safe condition. 

 
 

Issue Licence Condition Justification 

8   Insurance An appropriate insurance policy 
must be in place, which covers 
use of the vehicle for hire and 
reward. 

The Authority has concerns that 
some limousines may be operating 
under insurance policies which do 
not cover use for hire and reward 
and take into account that the 
vehicle has been stretched. 

9 
 

Tyres The limousine must be fitted with 
tyres that meet both the size and 
weight specification.   

Given the increased weight of the 
vehicle, tyres of the correct weight 
and size rating must be used at all 
times. 

10 Vehicle Testing The limousine shall be examined 
twice a year to the appropriate 
Class MOT standard. 

To ensure that limousines licensed 
by the Authority are maintained to 
high standards and remain safe. 

11 Maximum  
Passengers 

The limousine’s seating capacity 
must be reduced where 
necessary to a maximum of 8 
passengers. 

Authorities can only licence vehicles 
with a maximum seating capacity of 
up to 8 passengers.  

Any seats in the driver’s 
compartment other than the 
driver’s seat shall not be used to 
carry passengers.   

This is to ensure that passengers 
are not carried in the front of the 
vehicle to improve driver and 
passenger safety. 

The vehicle must not carry more 
than 8 passengers at any time. 
age).   

This condition shall be enforced by 
Authority officers performing random 
inspections of licensed vehicles.  

In any advertisement publicising 
their limousine service, the 
operator must state that the 
vehicle is only licensed to carry 8 
passengers. 

To inform customers of the 
maximum carrying capacity of the 
vehicle. 

12 Seat Belts Seatbelts must be fitted to all 
forward and rear facing seats 
and must be worn at all times by 
passengers whilst the vehicle is 
in motion.  

In accordance with Road Vehicle 
(Construction and Use) Regulations. 
 

170



 
 

 

86 

13 Alcohol 
 

Alcoholic drinks provided in the 
vehicle shall be under the terms 
of an appropriate licence relating 
to the retail sale and supply of 
alcohol. 

To comply with alcohol licensing 
requirements and safeguard public 
safety. 

Alcohol shall only be served 
while the vehicle is stationary 
and afterwards, the bottle(s) shall 
be placed in a secure receptacle. 

 

If the occupants are below the 
age of 18 years, then no alcohol 
shall be permitted in the vehicle 
for consumption in the vehicle. 

 

 Issue Licence Condition Justification 

 Alcohol 
(continued) 
 

Any glassware in the vehicle 
must be made of strengthened 
glass. Polycarbonate vessels 
should be considered.  

 

14 Entertainment 
 

The driver shall not play or 
permit the performance of any 
media that, given its age 
classification or content, is 
unsuitable for the age of the 
passengers in the vehicle. 

To safeguard children and 
vulnerable adult passengers from 
viewing unsuitable material.   

The limousine operator shall 
ensure that a performing right 
licence is held (if appropriate).   

Many limousines have the capability 
of playing recorded media for the 
entertainment of customers and so 
the operator must ensure the 
appropriate royalties are paid. 

If the limousine parks to provide 
some form of entertainment to its 
passengers then a Premises 
licence must be in place in 
accordance with the Licensing 
Act 2003. 

Entertainment regulated under the 
Act includes recorded TV, video, 
video games, loudspeakers, or any 
other activity provided for the 
passenger’s enjoyment. 

15 Authority 
Notices 
 

The proprietor shall when 
directed by the Authority, display 
and maintain any notices in a 
conspicuous position. 

To convey information to 
passengers where appropriate.   

16 Advertisements  No other signs, notices or any 
other marking will be displayed 
on or in the vehicle without the 
written consent of the Authority.   

To ensure that any materials 
displayed in the limousine is suitable 
for public viewing 

17 Luggage Ensure that loose luggage is not 
carried within the passenger 
compartment of the vehicle.   

Passenger safety. 
 

18 Safety Hammer Vehicles must be supplied with a Passenger safety. 

171



 
 

 

87 

safety hammer, capable of being 
used to break the glass windows 
of the vehicle and shall be 
securely located in the driver’s 
compartment but in view and 
accessible to passengers in an 
emergency. 

19 Identification 
Badges 
 

The proprietor of the vehicle will 
be issued, by the Authority, with 
a disc showing the registration 
number of the vehicle that is 
licensed, and the expiry date and 
it must be displayed on the top 
left-hand corner of the front 
windscreen where it can be 
clearly seen from the outside of 
the vehicle.                                                                                                             

To  To ensure that the vehicle is licensed. 

 Issue Licence Condition Justification 

20 Identification 
Discs 
(continued) 

No identification disc shall be 
parted with, lent or used on any 
other vehicle and the loss or 
damage of the disc shall be 
reported to the Authority as soon 
as the proprietor is aware of the 
loss. 

 

In the event of ceasing to use the 
vehicle for private hire (special 
event) purposes the proprietor 
shall surrender the vehicle dics 
and licence to the Authority 
within seven days. 

 

21 CCTV It is not proposed that such 
measures such as CCTV should 
be required, as part of the 
licensing regime, as it is 
considered that they are best left 
to the judgement of the owners 
and drivers themselves. The 
trades are, however, encouraged 
to consider the installation of 
CCTV in their vehicles on a 
voluntary basis.  

Driver safety. 

22 Sun roof/Ceiling 
 
 

If fi     If fitted, any sun roof switch to be 
isolated so it cannot be operated 
by passengers. Any mirrored or 
glass ceiling or fixtures shall be 
made of strengthened glass. 

 

23 Interior Adequate illumination shall be Passenger safety. 

172



 
 

 

88 

provided in the passenger 
compartment. The roof and side 
panels shall be adequately 
trimmed. 

24 Doors All doors shall be capable of 
being opened from inside as well 
as from outside the vehicle. 

To enable safe access/egress.  

25 Communication A means of two way 
communication between the 
driver and passengers shall be 
installed to the satisfaction of the 
Authority. 

Passenger and driver safety. 

26 Fire 
Extinguisher & 
First Aid Kit 
 
 

All vehicles must carry a 
standard motorist’s first aid kit 
and an easily accessible and 
compliant fire extinguisher, both 
of which must be in a serviceable 
condition. 

Public safety 

 

173



 
 

 

89 

2 DRIVER AND OPERATOR LICENSING REQUIREMENTS FOR LIMOUSINES 
 
 
2.1 In addition to the limousine being licensed as a private hire vehicle with the Authority, the 

limousine operator is required to hold a private hire operators’ licence with the Authority. 
 
2.2 All bookings for a limousine licensed as a private hire vehicle must be booked through the 

licensed private hire operator. 
 
2.3 Once licensed as a private hire vehicle the limousine can only be driven by a person who 

holds a current combined driver’s licence issued by Dover District Council.  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

174



 
 

 

90 

APPENDIX J - CODE OF GOOD CONDUCT 
 
 
This Code should be read in conjunction with the other statutory and policy requirements set out 
in this document. 
 
1  Responsibility to the Trade 
 

Licence holders shall endeavour to promote the image of the hackney 
carriage and private hire trades by: 

 
(a) complying with this Code of Good Conduct; 

 
(b) complying with all the conditions of their licence, byelaws and the 

Authority’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy; 
 

(c) behaving in a civil, orderly and responsible manner at all times; and 
 

(d) sign to acknowledge the Code of Conduct. 
 
 
2  Responsibility to Clients 
 

Licence holders shall: 
 

(a) maintain their vehicles in a safe and satisfactory condition at all times; 
 

(b) keep their vehicles clean and suitable for hire to the public at all times; 
 

(c) attend punctually when undertaking pre-booked hires; 
 

(d) assist, where necessary, passengers into and out of vehicles; and 
 

(e) provide passengers reasonable assistance with luggage. 
 
 
3  Responsibility to Residents 
 

To avoid nuisance to residents when picking up or waiting for a fare, a driver shall: 
 

(a) not sound the vehicle’s horn after 11.30pm or from a stationary vehicle; 
 

(b) keep the volume of music media player and VHF radios to a minimum; 
 

(c) switch off the engine if required to wait; and 
 

(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to 
residents in the neighbourhood. 

(e) not double park or obstruct driveways and/or access points etc. 

175



 
 

 

91 

 
4  Responsibilities at Ranks and Offices 
 

Licence holders shall:- 
 

(a)   rank in an orderly manner and proceed along the rank in order and   promptly; 
 
(b)    remain in attendance of the vehicle; 
 
(c)   not allow their music media players or VHF radios to cause disturbance to 

residents of the neighbourhood; and 
 
(d) take whatever additional action is necessary to avoid disturbance to 

residents of the neighbourhood, which might arise from the conduct of their 
business. 

 
5                  General 
 
 Drivers shall:- 

 
 

(a) pay attention to personal hygiene and dress so as to present a professional 
image to the public; 

 
(b) be polite, helpful and fair to passengers; 

 
(c) drive with care and due consideration for other road users and pedestrians;  

 
(d) obey all Traffic Regulation Orders and directions at all time; 

 
(e) not consume alcohol immediately before or at any time whilst driving or 

being in charge of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle; 
 

(f) not drive while having misused legal or taken illegal drugs; 
 

(g) fulfil their responsibility to ensure compliance with legislation regarding the 
length of working hours;  

 
(h) not eat in the vehicle in the presence of customers; 
 
(i) not smoke in the vehicle at any time; and 
 
(j)      respect authorised officers at Authority offices and elsewhere during    their 

normal course of their duties. 
 
 
 
 

 

176



 
 

 

92 

6  Disciplinary Hearings 
 

Drivers should be aware of the powers the Authority has to take action, by way of 
suspension, revocation or refusal to renew a driver’s licences where:- 

 
(a)  the driver has been convicted , since the grant of the licence, of an 

offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence; 
 

(b) the driver has been convicted of an offence under the legislation or 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy relating to taxi and 
private hire regulation; and 

 
(c) there is a breach of condition or this code. 
 
(d) there is a breach of the maximum number of penalty points under the Dover 

District Council  penalty points system 
 
(e) any other reasonable cause 

 
Guidelines for dealing with offences committed by licence holders are detailed in 
Appendix C and the Council’s Licensing Enforcement Policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

177



 
 

 

93 

 
APPENDIX K - DRESS CODE 
 

The Authority is committed to encouraging the professional image of the trade and it 
considers that drivers should conform to a minimum standard of dress, as set out below, 
in order to raise and maintain the profile of the licensed trade. Whilst the Authority does 
not wish to impose such standards by way of conditions to any licence it expects, 
however, that such standards will be maintained at all times. 

 
Acceptable Standards of Dress within this code 

 
(1)   Tops 

 Shirts, blouses, T-shirts, or sweat tops should cover the shoulders and 
be capable of being worn inside trousers or shorts. 

 Shirts or blouses can be worn with a tie or open-necked. 
 

(2)   Trousers/Shorts/Skirts 

 Trousers may be either full length or shorts if tailored. 

 Female drivers should not wear short skirts. 

 Smart jeans type trousers permitted. 
 

(3)   Footwear 

 Footwear should fit around the heel of feet. 
 
 

Examples of Unacceptable Standards of Dress within this Code 
 

 Bare chests 

 Unclean or damaged clothing or footwear 

 Clothing with offensive words, logos or graphics 

 Sportswear promoting sports teams 

 Clothing with studs or sharp edges 

 Beach type footwear (e.g. Flip flops and mules) 

 Baseball caps or ‘hoodies’ 

 Tracksuits or Shellsuits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

178



 
 

 

94 

APPENDIX L - HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

 

1. Purpose of this policy 

 
1.1 Well directed enforcement activity benefits not only the public but responsible 

members of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade. 
 

1.2 The Council has a responsibility to ensure that all licensed drivers, owners and 
operators of vehicles adhere to basic minimum standards. These standards are 
set out in legislation, byelaws and the Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire licensing Policy. 

 
1.3 The purpose of this policy is to help ensure that enforcement action is fair, 

proportionate, consistent, and in accordance with the principles of the Regulator’s 
Code. 

 
1.4 Authorised officers will follow this policy when making enforcement decisions. 

Departures from this policy will be exceptions and must be justified. 

 
 

2 General Approach to Enforcement 
 

2.1 Enforcement decisions will primarily be based on the seriousness of the breach 
and the possible consequences arising from that breach. Enforcement therefore 
will not constitute a punitive response to minor technical contraventions of 
legislation. 

 
2.2 When taking enforcement decisions, the following factors will be considered 

 The seriousness of the breach 

 Driver or operator’s past history 

 The effectiveness of the enforcement action 

 Danger to the public 

 
3 Enforcement Options 

 

3.1 Having considered all relevant information and evidence, the choices for action 
available to a licensing authority are:- 
 

 take no action;

 take informal action;

 issue penalty points (see Appendix M)

179



 
 

 

95 

 use statutory notices;

 suspend a licence;

 revoke a licence;

 use simple cautions;

 prosecute

 other action as deemed necessary, e.g. completion of a driving assessment.

 a combination of any of the above

 
4 Appearance before a Regulatory Committee 

4.1 Authorised Officers have delegation to make decisions concerning grant and renewal 
of licences and enforcement decisions concerning convictions, allegations or 
breaches of relevant legislation and policy concerning existing licence holders. 

 

 

4.2 Authorised Officers  may decide to take one or more of the following actions:- 

 no action;

 a written warning;

 require the production of driving licences or other specified 
documentation at the Council’s Office;

 suspend a licence ( with immediate effect or after 21 days notice);

 revoke a licence ( with immediate effect of after 21 days notice);

 Refuse to renew a licence

 recommend prosecution action

 other appropriate action as deemed necessary

 a combination of the above
 

4.3 in addition to the above, a Licence Holder may be asked to appear before a 
Regulatory Committee following report of a conviction, breaches of relevant 
legislation or conditions attached to licences or a contravention of this policy or 
accumulation of   penalty points. 



 
5 Take No Action 

 
5.1 No action would be taken if there is no evidence of breach of policy or legislation. 

6. Informal Action 
 

6.1 Informal action to secure compliance with legislation includes offering advice, verbal 
and written warnings and requests for action and the use of letters. 

 
6.2 Such informal enforcement action may be appropriate in any of the following 

circumstances: 

180



 
 

 

96 

 The nature of the breach is not serious enough to warrant more formal action 

  From the individual driver or operator’s past history it can be reasonably   
expected that informal action will achieve compliance 

 Confidence in the operator’s management is high 

 The consequences of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to the 
safety of the public 

7. Penalty Points 
 

7.1 This Authority has a penalty point scheme which is set out in Appendix M. 
 

7.2 Licence Holders found to be in breach of licence conditions, this policy or legislation 
are likely to be issued with penalty points for the transgression. Licence Holders 
accumulating 12 points during a rolling 24 month period can expect to have their 
licence reviewed by a Regulatory Committee (without prejudice to other 
enforcement options) 

 

8. Statutory Notices (S68 Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1974) 
 

8.1 An authorised officer may serve written notice for a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle or the taximeter affixed to such vehicle to be presented for inspection and/or 
testing at the Council’s appointed garage or by an authorised officer at a time 
specified in the notice. This notice may be used where there are concerns regarding 
the fitness of the vehicle or reasonable grounds to suspect the accuracy of the 
taximeter. Case Law confirms that fitness of the vehicle may include non-compliance 
with policy requirements, not just mechanical condition/ roadworthiness. This may 
include for example, where evidence has not been provided that the vehicle has 
suitable insurance cover. 

 

8.2 Under this section, an authorised officer may, in addition to requiring the vehicle to be 
tested, immediately suspend the vehicle licence until such time as he is satisfied with 
the condition of the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle. This action will only be 
taken when he has reasonable grounds to suspect that the condition of the vehicle is 
an immediate danger to passenger and/or other road users. 

 
8.3 If the Authorised Officer who issued notice is not satisfied that the appropriate action 

has been taken so as to withdraw the notice within a period of two months from the 
date of   issue, the vehicle licence shall be deemed to be revoked. 

 

9 Suspension / revocation of Licences 
 

9.1 Where a licence is suspended or revoked. The licence holder will be notified in writing, 
with the reasons for doing so, within 14 days of the decision to suspend/revoke being 
made. 

 

9.2 Vehicle Licences 

181



 
 

 

97 

9.2.1 In addition to section 68 above, S60 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 enables the council to suspend or revoke a vehicle licence 

on the following grounds: 

 the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle is unfit for use as a hackney carriage 

or private hire vehicle; 

 any offence under, or non-compliance with, the provisions of the Act of 1847 or of  

Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976  by the 

operator or driver 

 any other reasonable cause. 

9.2.2 Suspensions and revocations under this section come into effect 21 days from the 

date of the notice or until any appeal has been determined. 

9.3 Operator Licences 

9.3.1 S62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 enables the 

council to suspend or revoke an operator’s licence on the following grounds 

 any offence under, or non-compliance with, the provisions of this Part of this Act; 

 any conduct on the part of the operator which appears to the district council to 

render him unfit to hold an operator’s licence; 

 any material change since the licence was granted in any of the circumstances of 

the operator on the basis of which the licence was granted; 

 the operator has since the grant of the licence been convicted of an immigration 

offence or required to pay an immigration penalty 

 any other reasonable cause. 

 
9.4 Drivers’ licences 

 

9.4.1 S61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 enables the 

council to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence if: 

he has since the grant of the licence— 

 been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency or violence 

 been convicted of an offence under or has failed to comply with the provisions of 

the Act of 1847 or of this Part of this Act; 

 been convicted of an immigration offence or required to pay an immigration 

penalty 

or any other reasonable cause. 

182



 
 

 

98 

9.4.2   Suspensions and revocations under this section will normally take effect after 

21 days from the date of the notice or after any appeal has been determined. 

 
9.5 Immediate Suspension/ revocation of Driver Licenses 

9.5.1 A council may suspend or revoke a driver’s licence with immediate effect, where 

this is in the interest of public safety. Immediate suspensions continue to remain in 

force whilst any appeal against the suspension is heard. 

Immediate suspensions therefore give additional protection to the public but may 

have an impact on the livelihood of the licence holder. Decisions to impose 

immediate suspensions or revocations must therefore not be taken lightly. 

However, a licence should be immediately suspended or revoked where this is 

appropriate.  

9.5.2 Immediate suspension / revocation of a driver may be considered where they 

 have committed a serious offence 

 are alleged to have committed a serious offence 

 are in breach of the requirements placed upon that type of licence within 

primary legislation 

 are in conflict with a significant part of the council’s policy or 

 where there is reliable intelligence provided which raises a significant concern 

and it is necessary to immediately remove that potential risk 

 there is concern about a driver’s medical fitness 

9.5.3 The council has a policy on its approach to convictions and cautions when 

assessing applications for drivers licences (Appendix C). Regard should be had 

to this policy when assessing whether an allegation, offence or complaint warrants 

immediate suspension /revocation. 

9.5.4 Each case will be judged on its merits taking into account the circumstances and 
facts of the case, any admissions or denials made and any other relevant 
information. 

 
10. Refusal to Renew a Licence 

 

10.1 As an alternative to revocation/Suspension, a decision may be taken not to renew 
a licence, particularly where the licence is due to expire shortly. 

183



 
 

 

99 

11. Prosecution 
 

11.1 The decision to prosecute is a very significant one. Prosecution will, in general, be 
restricted to those circumstances where the law is blatantly disregarded, legitimate 
instructions of the Authority are not followed and/or the public is put at serious risk. 

 

11.2 The following factors are to be taken into account when deciding whether to 
prosecute: 

 

 Whether there is sufficient evidence such that there is a realistic 
prospect of conviction 

 The seriousness of the alleged offence; 

 The risk to the public 

 Whether there were victims and the effect on them 

 Failure to respond to previous warnings. 

 The previous record of the licence holder / party concerned 

 Disregard of safety or the licensing regime for financial benefit 

 Whether there was failure to comply with a statutory notice 

 The ability of any important witness and their willingness to co-operate; 

     The public interest  of a prosecution and the importance of the case in  
establishing a precedent; 

     Whether other action, such as issuing a simple caution or notice would be 
more   appropriate or effective. 

 
12 Simple Cautions 

 
12.1 There may be circumstances where evidence exists for a successful prosecution, but 

where mitigating circumstances are such that nothing is likely to be gained from such 
action. In such circumstances we will consider the offer of a simple caution as an 
alternative to prosecution. Circumstances where a caution may be considered are: 

 
 the contravention is low level or a first offence; 

 the contravention, although serious, has been speedily dealt with and steps 
taken to prevent a recurrence; 

 The offender has not been cautioned or convicted for a similar offence within 
the last 2 years. 

 

12.2 The following criteria must be met: 

 There is sufficient evidence of the offence such that there is realistic 
prospect of conviction if the case went to court; 

 The offender admits the offence; 

 The offender agrees to accept a caution; and 

 The offender is able to give informed consent to the caution and 
understands its  significance. 

12.3 The decision to offer a caution will be taken by the Licensing Manager or the Head of 
Regulatory Services in conjunction with Legal Services Team after consideration of a 
report from the  investigating officer. 

184



 
 

 

100 

12.4 If the offer of a formal caution is declined, further enforcement action will be 
considered. This will usually be prosecution. 

13. Appeals 

13.1 Where the licensing authority decide to refuse to grant or renew a licence or it 
suspends or  revokes a licence or add conditions to a licence, there is a right of 
appeal to the Magistrates Court. 

 

13.2 Where applicable, any notification of enforcement action will include written 
information on how to lodge an appeal, including relevant time limits. 

 

13.3 It will also explain whether the suspension / revocation will remain in effect pending 
the outcome of an appeal. 

 
 
 
 

185



 
 

 

101 

APPENDIX M – PENALTY POINTS SCHEME 
 

1 Points will be issued by authorised officers of the Authority to licence holders who 
are found to be in breach of legislation, byelaws or licence conditions. 

 

2 The imposition of penalty points against a driver who is an employee will not 

necessarily result in additional imposition of points to his/her employer or operator. 

However the Council retains the discretion to issue penalty points to drivers, 

driver/proprietors and operators for a single contravention if the circumstances 

warrant it i.e. the breach is one against all these licences and it is considered joint 

responsibility is held. 

3 The number of penalty points issued will be in accordance with the tables below. 

4 It is possible that an incident gives rise to more than one breach and therefore 
result in more than one set of points being issued. However a maximum of 12 
penalty points will be issued on any one occasion. 

 
5 The issue of penalty points will be confirmed in writing to the licence holder. 

 
6 If a licence holder disagrees with a decision to issue penalty points , then they 

make appeal to the Licensing Manager within 21 days of the date of the notice 
that points have been issued. The appeal must, state the reasons why the  points 
should not be awarded. If the matter is not resolved, it will be brought to a hearing 
by the Regulatory Committee who will consider whether the points should be 
imposed. Where the committee agree that points should be issued, they have 
discretion to increase or decrease the number of points imposed where they   
consider  it appropriate. 

7 When issued, the penalty points will remain “live” for a period of two years from 

the date they are imposed so that only points accumulated in a rolling twenty four 

months period will be taken into account. 

8 If a licence holder accumulates 12 penalty points in any 24 month period, then 

they may be asked to attend a hearing of the Regulatory Committee to consider 

appropriate action in respect of their licence. Such action could include 

suspension or revocation of a licence or a written warning as regards future 

conduct. 

9 When considering appropriate action the Regulatory Committee may take into 

account whether the licence holder has previously been brought to committee 

for exceeding the 12 point limit in the last 3 years. 

10 If an accumulation of points result in suspension or revocation of a licence, then 

the points will be removed. If a written warning is given, the points remain live. 

11 The penalty points system will operate without prejudice to the Council’s ability to 

take other action under appropriate legislation or as provided for by this Policy. 

 

186



 
 

 

102 

12. Penalty Points Tables 
 
 

 Town Police Clauses Act 1847  

Section Offence Points 

40 Giving false information on a hackney carriage licence 
application 

12 

44 Failure to notify change of address of a hackney carriage 

licence holder 

2 

45 Plying for hire without a hackney carriage licence 12 

47 Driving a hackney carriage without a hackney carriage driver’s 
licence 

12 

47 Lending or parting with a hackney carriage driver’s licence 12 

47 Proprietor employing an unlicensed hackney carriage driver 12 

48 Failure of a vehicle proprietor to keep licence of hackney 
carriage driver permitted or employed to use vehicle 

6 

52 Failure to display a hackney carriage plate 4 

53 Refusal to take a fare without a reasonable excuse 8 

54 Charging more than the agreed fare 12 

55 Obtaining more than the legal fare (including failure to refund) 12 

56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare 12 

57 Failure to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid 12 

58 Charging more than the legal fare 12 

59 Carrying persons other than the hirer without the hirer’s 
consent 

8 

60 Driving a hackney carriage without the proprietor’s consent 6 

60 Allowing a person to drive a hackney carriage without the 
proprietor’s consent 

4 

62 Driver leaving a hackney carriage unattended 2 

64 Hackney carriage driver obstructing other hackney carriages 3 
 
 

Section Local Government ( Miscellaneous Provisions ) Act 1976 Points 
 Offence  

46(1)a Using an unlicensed private hire vehicle 12 

46(1)b Driving a private hire vehicle without a private hire drivers’ 
Licence 

12 

46(1)c Proprietor of a private hire vehicle using an unlicensed driver 12 

46(1)d Operating a private hire vehicle without a private hire 
operator’s licence 

12 

46(1) e Operating a vehicle as a private hire vehicle when the vehicle 
is not licensed as a private hire vehicle 

12 

46(1)e Operating a private hire vehicle when the driver is not licensed 
as a private hire driver 

12 

48(6) Failure to display a private hire vehicle plate 4 

49 Failure to notify the transfer of a vehicle within 14 days 3 

187



 
 

 

103 

50(1) Failure to present a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle for 
inspection upon request 

8 

50(2) Failure to inform the Council where a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle is stored, if requested 

3 

50(3) Failure to report to the council within seventy two (72) hours an 
accident causing damage. 

6 

50(4) Failure to produce the vehicle licence and/or insurance on 
request 

4 

53(3) Failure to produce a driver’s licence upon request 4 

54(2) Failure to wear a private hire driver’s badge 4 

56(2) Failure of a private hire operator to keep proper records of all 
bookings, or failure to produce them on request of an 
Authorised Officer of the Council or a Police Officer (also 
breach of conditions attached to licence – see below) 

6 

56(3) Failure of a private hire operator to keep records of all private 
hire vehicles, or failure to produce them on request of an 
Authorised Officer of the Council or a Police Officer (also 
breach of conditions attached to licence – see below) 

6 

56(4) Failure of a private hire operator to produce his licence on 
request 

4 

57 Making a false statement or withholding information to obtain a 
hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence 

12 

58(2) Failure to return a plate after notice has been given following 
expiry, revocation, or suspension of a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle licence 

6 

61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 
revocation, or refusal to renew 

6 

64 Permitting any vehicle other than a hackney carriage to wait on 
a hackney carriage rank 

6 

66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending outside 
the District, without prior agreement 

12 

67 Charging more than the meter fare when hackney carriage is 
used as a private hire vehicle 

12 

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey 12 

71 Interfering with a taximeter with intent to mislead 12 

73(1)a Obstruction of an Authorised Officer of the Council or a Police 
Officer 

12 

73(1)b Failure to comply with a requirement of an Authorised Officer 
or Police Officer 

12 

73(1)c Failure to give information or assistance to an Authorised 
Officer or Police Officer 

12 

188



 
 

 

104 

 

 
Section Equality Act 2010 Points 

165 Driver of a Designated Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle failing to 
comply with duty to assist passengers in wheelchairs 

12 

168 Driver refusing to accept passenger with assistance dog 
and/or making extra charge for carrying passenger with 
assistance dog 

12 

170(1) 
and (2) 

Operator refusing to take booking on grounds that passenger 
will be accompanied by assistance dogs or making extra 
charge for carrying passenger with assistance dog 

12 

170(3) Private Hire Driver refusing to carry out a  booking made 
through the Operator,  on grounds that passenger will be 
accompanied by assistance dog 

12 

 
 
 

 Breach of Policy Requirement Points 
 Failure to adhere to dress code 3 
 Failure to wear a driver’s badge 4 
 Failure to behave in a civil and orderly manner 6 
 Failure to ensure the safety of passengers 6 
 Concealing or defacing a vehicle licence plate 4 
 Failure to attend on time for a pre-arranged booking without 

reasonable cause 
3 

 Conveying a greater number of passengers than permitted 6 
 Failure to give reasonable assistance with passenger’s 

Luggage 
3 

 Private hire vehicle soliciting for hire or accepting a fare that is 
not pre-booked 

12 

 Operating a vehicle that is not clean and tidy 2 
 Carrying an animal other than belonging to a bona fide 

passenger. 
2 

 Driving without consent of the proprietor 5 
 Smoking in a licensed vehicle at any time 6 
 Operating the horn as a means of signalling that a vehicle has 

Arrived 
3 

 Using a non-hands free mobile telephone whilst driving 4 
 Failure to advise of a relevant medical condition within 5 days 8 

 Failure to provide a receipt for a fare when requested 2 
 Failure to operate the meter from the commencement of the 

journey and/or charging more than the fixed charge for hire of 
hackney carriages 

12 

 Failure to notify the Council of any amendment to the details of 
a licence within fourteen days 

3 

 Failure of a driver to maintain an online certificate with the DBS 
update service. 

6 

189



 
 

 

105 

 Failure to notify within 14 days of starting or terminating 
employment, the name and address of the proprietor and term 
of employment 

3 

 Failure to show a private hire driver’s licence to the private hire 
operator at the commencement of employment 

2 

 Failure to surrender a driver’s licence, badge or plate upon 
Request 

6 

 Failure of a licence holder to disclose arrests 
in writing to the Council within 48 hours 

12 

 Failure of a licence holder to disclose convictions in writing to 
the Council within 14 days 

12 

 Failure to check vehicle for lost property or to report lost 
property in accordance with policy 

3 

 Failure to report an accident within seventy two hours 6 
 Failure to comply with the requirements for the safe carrying of 

a wheelchair 
6 

 Operating a vehicle that does not comply with the Council’s 
licensing policy where such a breach of policy requirements is 
not otherwise specified herein 

6 

 Failure to carry an approved fire extinguisher 3 
 Operating a vehicle which is not maintained in a clean and/or 

safe condition internally or externally 
3 

 Modifying a vehicle without the consent of the Council 3 
 Failure to display in the prescribed manner or maintain external 

licence plate or door stickers 
4 

 Failure to display complaint reporting information within a 
vehicle 

4 

 Hackney carriage vehicle signage not in accordance with the 
Council’s requirements 

4 

 Affixing or displaying a roof sign on a private hire vehicle 4 
 Displaying a sign or advertisement on a licensed vehicle 

contrary to the Policy requirements or which has not been 
approved by the Council 

4 

 Taximeter does not conform to the Council’s requirements 6 
 Operating or driving a vehicle which does not comply with the 

Council’s Policy requirements 
6 

 Driving with no insurance or inadequate insurance for the 
vehicle 

12 

 Allowing a vehicle to be used for hire by a person who does not 
hold a current driver’s licence. 

12 

 Operating a vehicle which does not comply with the Council’s 
requirements in relation to tinted windows 

4 

 Permitting the vehicle to be used for any illegal or immoral 
purposes 

12 

 Failure of a private hire operator to provide a prompt, efficient 
and reliable service 

3 

190



 

 

106 

 Failure to ensure that premises provided for the purpose of 
booking or waiting are kept clean and are adequately lit, 
heated and ventilated 

3 

 Failure to display information within Operator’s premises 
(provided for public waiting /booking) on how to report 
concerns/ complaints to the Council. 

4 

 Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that vehicles attend 
bookings punctually 

4 

 Failure to act properly upon the receipt of a complaint or to 
notify immediately the Licensing Officer 

4 

 Failure to notify the Council of any changes, including change 
of address from where the business operates within 14 days 

3 

 Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that all vehicles 
operated by him are adequately insured 

6 

 Failure to disclose in writing within 48 hours details of any 
conviction, arrest or charge or imposed on him to the licensing 
section 

12 

 Failure to notify the Council of any vehicle used by the 
Operator which is involved in an accident within 72 hours 

6 

 Failure to maintain or produce records of private hire bookings, 
vehicles, drivers or other documents required to be kept or 
produced in accordance with s.56(2) &(3) of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

6 

 Failure to maintain or produce records of individuals employed 
to take bookings or dispatch vehicles 

6 

 Failure to carry out or keep record of check Basic DBS of 
individuals employed to take bookings or dispatch vehicles. 

6 

 Failure of a private hire operator to have valid public liability 
insurance for the operating premises if the public are allowed 
Access 

8 

 Failure of a private hire operator to ensure that every driver 
employed by him has a private hire licence and badge 

4 

 Failure to make the Operator’s licence available for inspection, 
in accordance with s.56 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

4 

 Any other contravention of the Policy not covered above 2-12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

191



 
 

 

107 

APPENDIX N – HACKNEY CARRIAGE STANDS 
 
 
Currently seeking to move the disapply the Market Square, Dover rank and adopt 
stands at St James’ and Fishmonger Lane (policy to be updated prior to print once  
details secured. 
 

Market Square Dover  
Pencester Road Dover  
Biggin Street Dover  
Worthington Street Dover  
South Street Deal  
Park Street Deal  
New Street Sandwich  
 
 
 
A private stand is provided at Dover Railway Station and at the Port of Dover. 

192



From:
To: DDC Licensing
Subject: Some points that need to change.
Date: 12 November 2021 17:00:49

Morning,  I’m make this quick….. one being driving test needs to go as if you can pass a normal car test then
it’s no different driving a taxi tbh……… and age of cars limit as second hand vehicles with the age limit are
crazy money let alone new vehicles……. Needs to get beck to old days to go forward when drivers wasn’t a
problem as the cost was reasonable if u wanted part time work or full……. If it can happen for lorry drivers to
enter the business then we ge points above should be looked out as will benefit all of us.

Sent from my iPhone

193



From:
To: DDC Licensing
Subject: Re: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy Changes
Date: 22 November 2021 16:09:12

Would like consideration given to change the age of a vehicle allowed on as a taxi
Would also like all despatchers/ controllers undergoing the same tax checks as drivers
And finally  some sort of monitors of abandoned vehicles on the rank. It’s at the point now
that taxis are left Willy nilly on the rank unattended whilst drivers pop to the high street or
over tho their office for coffee break.  It’s bad enough customers walking upto an
unattended vehicle but it’s more frustrating having to numb your car over the high kerbs
forming the island adjacent to the rank 

Sent from my iPhone

On 18 Nov 2021, at 14:02, DDC Licensing <licensing@dover.gov.uk> wrote:


Dear All,
 
You were recently sent a link to view the Dover District Council Hackney Carriage
and Private Hire Licensing Policy. The policy has been rewritten due to the
implementation of the Department for Transport Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards. In addition to this, changes were necessary to address other
issues that have arisen since the policy was previously reviewed. It is therefore a
completely new document, but a summary of the main changes to the policy are as
follows:

Drivers required to subscribe to the update service for DBS
clearance. 

Operators will be required to have sight of a basis DBS for all staff
involved in taking bookings or the dispatch of drivers.

Vehicle proprietors will be required to submit a basic DBS check.

Ages for medicals to be changed - a new medical assessment is
required every 5 years for drivers aged up to 45, every 3 years for
drivers aged up to 60. Drivers aged 60 or over are required to
undergo a medical assessment annually.

More stringent approach on previous convictions.

To give an extension to the number of years that a fully
electric/hybrid vehicle can remain working as a licensed vehicle.
General vehicles are not able to renew once they exceed 8 years, but
for wheelchair accessible vehicles this is 12 years. The policy extends
this to include fully electric/hybrid vehicles as an incentive.

The licensing authority will maintain a list of designated wheelchair
accessible vehicles in accordance with s167 of the Equality Act 2010.

Drivers and operators will be required to show evidence of tax
registration prior to renewal applications being processed.

194



Lead Officer:-  Rebecca Pordage 

Decision Maker(s):-  Cabinet 

Name and Type of 
decision:- 

 
e.g. Policy, contract, service 
delivery change. 

 
2022 – 27 HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 

Date of decision 
 
When will the final decision 
be taken? 

 
 
 17 January 2022 

Aims of the decision 
 

 Objectives 

 Intended outcomes 

 Key actions 

 Who and how many will 
be affected 

 
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY – the policy 
must be reviewed every 5 years.  
 
Review the policy and adopt the DFT standards and government 
legislation in relation to tax certification. 
 
The travelling public, service users, licence holders and member of the 
taxi trade will be affected. 
 
The policy has been revised to enhance safety for passengers, protect 
licence holders and ensure fair and consistent treatment of licence 
holders, complainants and the travelling public. 
 
The policy promotes safety and equality for service users and licence 
holders. 
 

Information and Research 
 

 Summarise research and 
information that you used 
to prepare your proposals 
/ preferred options 

 What data did you use to 
research your proposals 

 List anything you found 
that will affect people with 
protected characteristics. 

 
 
The policy was reviewed to reflect any legislative changes, and adopt 
the DFT standards. In addition to this, any issues arising since the 
previous policy has been in force have been addressed. 
 
 
 
 

195



Consultation 
 

 Has there been any 
specific consultation 
done 

 What were the 
consultation results 

 Did the consultation 
analysis show any 
difference for people with 
protected characteristics. 

 What conclusions did you 
draw from the 
consultation 

 
 
  Public consultation took place from 11 November – 9 December 2021  
 
 
  Two responses received from members of the taxi trade 
 
 No 
 
 
 
  No amendments to the proposed policy 

Assessing if the decision is likely to be relevant to the three aims of the Equality Duty. 

Aim Relevance 
Yes / No 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation Yes 

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not. 

Yes 

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

Yes 

 
 

 

If you have decided that this decision is relevant to the three aims of the Equality Duty, use the 
section below to show how it is relevant and what the impact will be. 

Protected Characteristic Relevance 
High/Medium/Low 

Impact of the decision 
Positive / Negative 

Age Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
those due to their age, they will receive the same 
treatment. 

Disability Medium Positive 
The policy aims to enhance accessibility for those 
service users who have a disability and require 
assistance e.g., wheelchair users and passengers 
with assistance/guide dogs. 

Gender reassignment Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone having had gender reassignment, they will 
receive the same treatment. 

Gender Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone due to their gender, they will receive the 
same treatment. 

  

196



Marriage and Civil Partnership Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone due to their martial/relationship status, they 
will receive the same treatment. 

Pregnancy and Maternity Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone who is pregnant, has a child or children, 
they will receive the same treatment. 

Race Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone on the grounds of race, they will receive the 
same treatment. 

Religion, Belief or Lack of Belief Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone due to their religion, belief or lack of belief, 
they will receive the same treatment. 

Sexual Orientation Low Neutral 
The policy does not discriminate or disadvantage 
anyone due to their sexual orientation, they will 
receive the same treatment. 

 

 
 

 

If you have found negative 
impact, outline the measures you 
intend to take to mitigate it. 

197



Representations received during consultation period 

 

 
1 

 
Morning,  I’m make this quick….. one being driving test needs to go as if you 
can pass a normal car test then it’s no different driving a taxi tbh……… and 
age of cars limit as second hand vehicles with the age limit are crazy money let 
alone new vehicles……. Needs to get beck to old days to go forward when 
drivers wasn’t a problem as the cost was reasonable if u wanted part time work 
or full……. If it can happen for lorry drivers to enter the business then we ge 
points above should be looked out as will benefit all of us. 
 

 
The authority find the practical driving test to be a useful tool in ensuring 
that all licensed drivers are experienced and proficient in passenger 
carrying. Any driver who can demonstrate passenger carrying experience 
can apply to the Licensing Manager to be exempt from this test. 
 
The vehicle age limits imposed on licensed vehicles within the Dover 
District are considered to be appropriate as they stand. Any vehicle 
proprietor who has their vehicle refused is entitled to challenge this and 
ask to be referred to Regulatory Committee for a decision. 
 

 
2 

 
Would like consideration given to change the age of a vehicle allowed on as a 
taxi. Would also like all despatchers/ controllers undergoing the same tax 
checks as drivers. And finally  some sort of monitors of abandoned vehicles on 
the rank. It’s at the point now that taxis are left Willy nilly on the rank 
unattended whilst drivers pop to the high street or over tho their office for 
coffee break.  It’s bad enough customers walking upto an unattended vehicle 
but it’s more frustrating having to numb your car over the high kerbs forming 
the island adjacent to the rank  

 
The vehicle age limits imposed on licensed vehicles within the Dover 
District are considered to be appropriate as they stand. Any vehicle 
proprietor who has their vehicle refused is entitled to challenge this and 
ask to be referred to Regulatory Committee for a decision. 
 
The government have introduced the tax checks for licensed 
drivers/proprietors and operators. If they decide in the future to introduce 
them for other job roles relating to the taxi trade, further amendments to 
the policy will be made.  
 
The monitoring of hackney carriage ranks with regards to unlawful use is 
dealt with by Parking Services so not a consideration of this policy. 
 

 

198



 DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 NON-KEY DECISION EXECUTIVE 
 
 CABINET – 17 JANUARY 2022 
 
 
 
 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 Recommendation 
 
 That, in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 

Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000, the public be 
excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraph of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Act set out below: 

 
Item Report Paragraph 

Exempt 
 

Reason 

Award of 3-Year Contract for Cleaning                    
of Dover District Council’s Offices, 
Whitfield 
 
Award of 3-Year Contract for Cleaning 
and Routine Maintenance of Public 
Conveniences and Locking/Unlocking of 
Other Council Assets 

            3 
 
 
 
            3 

Information relating to 
the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person 
(including the authority 
holding that 
information) 

 
 

  

   
   
   
   
   
   

 

199

Agenda Item No 6



Document is Restricted

200

Agenda Item No 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

203

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

204

Agenda Item No 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

208

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Record of Decisions
	Minutes

	4 Fees and Charges 2022/2023
	Appendix 1
	Combined Appendices 2 to 5-1
	Appendix 2
	2.1
	2.2
	2.3
	2.4
	2.5
	2.6
	2.7
	2.8
	2.9
	2.10
	2.11
	2.12
	2.13
	2.14

	Appendix 3.1 Licensing
	Appendix3.1M Davis Licensing
	Appendix3.2 M Davis Licensing

	Appendix 4 Regulatory Services
	Appendix4.1 M Davis Regul (2
	Appendix4.2 M Davis Regul

	Appendix 5.1 Planning
	Appendix 5.1 Planning Com


	Appendix 5.2
	Appendix 5.3 Pre Planning Application Fees
	Appendix 5.4 Section 106 Monitoring Fees

	5 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2022-2027
	Appendix A - HCPH Policy 2022-27 for consultation
	Appendix B pdf
	a richardson
	l elms

	Appendix C - Equality Assessment
	Appendix D - Representations received during consultation period

	6 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	7 Award of 3-Year Contract for Cleaning of Dover District Council's Offices, Whitfield
	Contract for Cleaning Council Offices - Appendix A

	8 Award of 3-Year Contract for Cleaning and Routine Maintenance of Public Conveniences and Locking/Unlocking of Other Council Assets
	Contract for Cleaning Toilets - Appendix A




